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In this first issue of 2012, all of us here at 

the Journal want to wish our readers a happy 

and healthy year, and we hope that in this year's 

Journal there will be many articles that will 

capture your interest. 

As in nearly all of our issues, articles come 

to us in a variety of manners. Tim Huebner 

and I are always on the lookout for what our 

colleagues in the field of constitutional history 

are doing, and over the years we are pleased to 

note that when we attend scholarly meetings 

people come up to us to see if we would be 

interested in something they are working on. 

Tim and I were at the Atlanta meeting of the 

American Society for Legal History this past 

November, and the fruits of our conversations 

there will be appearing in the Journal over the 

next few years. 

The first article, by my old friend Jim Ely, 

grew out of such a conversation. Jim is now 

emeritus professor at Vanderbilt University 

Law School, and still an active scholar. His 

specialty is property and property rights, and 

he will be one of the speakers in the Society's 

2012 Silverman Lecture Series. The article on 

Justice Rufus Peckham grew out of a sympo-

V 

sium on "forgotten" justices who, although we 

do not pay much attention to them these days, 

nonetheless had an impact on the law in their 

times. Peckham, of course, was the author of 

the majority opinion in Lochner v. New York 

(1905), and Ely's article is part of the current 

interest in re-evaluating that case. 

Ever since the Judge's Bill of 1925 the 

Supreme Court docket has been devoted pri­

marily to matters of constitutional law and 

statutory interpretation. Prior to that act, how­

ever, the Court decided dozens, even hundreds, 

of cases annually that came to it on a writ of 

error by grace of earlier jurisdictional laws. If 

one spends even a few hours browsing through 

a volume or two of US. Reports in those years, 

one will be amazed at the large number of cases 

dealing with what we would now consider mi­

nor matters for local courts. 

Sometimes, however, one of these cases 

would carry a larger import, not so much for 

the constitutional or legal principles involved, 

but because it touched on issues that mattered 

to the public on an emotional level. Today, we 

are so familiar with Arlington National Ceme­

tery as a monument to the nation's war dead 
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that we forget that it was once the home of 
Robert E. Lee, and the national government 
seized it during the Civil War. The Lee fam­
ily began legal proceedings after the war to get 
compensation for the property seized, and Pro­
fessor Anthony J. Gaughan of Drake Univer­
sity School of Law guides us through the legal 
and political labyrinth that led to the Supreme 
Court finally deciding the matter.

The career of Bessie Margolin, a La­
bor Department lawyer who argued numerous 
cases before the Supreme Court interpreting 
the Fair Labor Standards Act, was remarkable. 
That she succeeded in an environment that was 
not always welcoming to women was inspira­
tional to many other women lawyers. Marlene 
Trestman, a special assistant to the Attorney 
General of Maryland, is working on a full- 
scale biography of Margolin.

It is now almost sixty years since the 
Supreme Court handed down its landmark de­

cision in Brown v. Board of Education (1954). 
Readers of this journal know that we have 
dealt with that case several times, and, in fact, 
the Society published a collection of essays to 
mark the fiftieth anniversary—Black, White, 
and Brown. The case continues to attract atten­
tion, and each year a new facet is uncovered.

In this issue, we get to learn more 
about Dwight Eisenhower’s Attorney General, 
Herbert Brownell, Jr., and his role not only 
in the selection of Earl Warren as Chief Jus­
tice, but the government’s role in Brown. Many 
scholars have given Eisenhower poor marks 
for his seeming failure of leadership on civil 
rights matters, but Albert Lawrence, associate 
professor of criminal justice at Empire State 
College, shows that Brownell played an im­
portant role, especially regarding the govern­
ment’s briefs in the case.

As usual, a varied menu, and we hope you 
enjoy.
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Se ve nte e n y e ars afte r the Co nfe de rate ge ne ral Ro be r t E. Le e s u r re nde re d at Ap p o m atto x, 

his e lde s t s o n wo n a s we e p ing victo ry o ve r the fe de ral go ve rnm e nt in the United States Supreme 

Court. On December 4, 1882, the Supreme Court upheld a federal trial court’s ruling that the 

United States government’s claim of title to Arlington National Cemetery rested on an invalid 

tax sale. The Justices thus affirmed the lower court’s verdict that George Washington Custis 

Lee (“ Custis Lee” ), eldest son of Mary and Robert E. Lee, held legal title to Arlington. The 

Supreme Court also upheld the lower court’s decision to permit Custis Lee to bring suit against 

the government officers who occupied Arlington. On the latter point, the Justices split 5 to 4, 

with a majority ruling for Custis Lee. The outcome of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ite d S ta te s v . L e e , commonly known 

as the Arlington case, made it clear that the Lee family, and not the United States government,

owned Arlington.

The Arlington case arose from a fascinat­

ing historical background. Prior to the Civil  

War, Arlington was a slave plantation owned 

by Mary Lee, the wife of  Robert E. Lee and the 

great-granddaughter of Martha Washington. 

The Lee family home—known as Arlington 

House—stood atop a sprawling, 1100-acre 

hillside estate along the Virginia side of the 

Potomac River. Arlington’s location provided 

its residents with a spectacular view of the na­

tion’s capital. But the qualities that made the 

Lee estate so attractive also posed a threat to 

the City of  Washington. Arlington House stood 

just over two miles from the White House

and three and a half miles from the Capitol 

building; the estate property near the Potomac 

was even closer. If  the Confederates had oc­

cupied Arlington, they could have rained ar­

tillery shells on the White House and other 

government buildings. Federal control of Ar­

lington was thus essential to the security of  the 

nation’s capital.1

As the Civil War began, the Lee family 

home at Arlington stood in the line of fire 

between North and South. For three decades 

before the war, Robert E. Lee served as a ca­

reer United States army officer. But after the 

Confederate attack on Fort Sumter in April
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M ary Lee , the  w ife  o f R obert E . Lee and the grea t-g randdaugh te r o f M artha W ash ing ton , inhe rited A rling ton  

H ouse , a s lave p lan ta tion tha t s tood a top a sp raw ling , 1 ,100 -acre h ills ide esta te a long the V irg in ia s ide o f 

the P otom ac R ive r. R obert E . Lee ’s bedroom  is p ic tu red above .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

1861, Lee resigned from the U.S. Army and 

accepted a commission as a general officer 

in the Confederate Army. Lee’s decision to 

side with his home state of Virginia and the 

Confederacy sealed Arlington’s fate. On the 

night of May 24, 1861, 10,000 Union soldiers 

commanded by General Charles W. Sandford 

crossed the Potomac River from Washington 

D.C. and occupied the Lee estate at Arlington. 

When the Union troops arrived at Arlington 

House, they discovered that the Lees had al­

ready departed to Richmond. Only the family ’s 

servants remained behind to be awakened by 

the soldiers.2

There was no question that the army had 

a legal right to seize the Arlington estate. The 

courts have long recognized that the President 

and the military have the authority to seize 

private property during wartime emergencies.

In the 1851 case of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM itc h e l l v. H a rm o n y , 

the Supreme Court held, “ There are, with­

out doubt, occasions in which private prop­

erty may lawfully be taken possession of or 

destroyed to prevent it from falling into the 

hands of the public enemy.” 3

At  the same time, however, the Court also 

emphasized that the Takings Clause of the 

Fifth Amendment remained in effect during 

wartime. However, as the Justices noted in 

their ruling in M itc h e l l , “ Unquestionably, in 

such cases, the government is bound to make 

full compensation to the owner”  of property 

seized by the military.4 Nevertheless, for more 

than twenty years after Arlington’s seizure, 

Congress refused to pay compensation to Mary 

Lee, Arlington’s legal owner, or her son and 

heir, Custis Lee. In the government’s view, 

the Fifth Amendment did not apply to the



TH E  A R LIN G TO N  C E M E TE R Y  C A S EKJIHGFEDCBA 3ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

W hen 10 ,000 U n ion so ld ie rs com m anded by G enera l C harles W . S and fo rd crossed the P otom ac R ive r from  

W ash ing ton , D .C . on M ay 24 , 1861 , they d iscove red tha t the Lees had a lready departed to R ichm ond . T he  

U n ion  troops occup ied the  esta te , w h ich posed a  th rea t to  the  c ity  o f W ash ing ton .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Ar lingto n cas e be cau s e the War De p ar tm e nt 

had as s e r te d title to the e s tate thro u gh a tax 

s ale rathe r than thro u gh e m ine nt do m ain.

The bas is o f the go ve rnm e nt’s claim to 

Ar lingto n was highly u nu s u al. Du r ing the  

Civil War, Co ngre s s e nacte d a land tax in 

the Co nfe de rate s tate s . Se n. Jam e s Do o lit­

tle of Wisconsin authored the act in or­

der to punish leading Confederates and raise 

revenue for the Union war effort. As the es­

tate’s legal owner, Mary Lee owed ninety dol­

lars and seven cents for Arlington’s assess­

ment. When Phillip Fendall—a first cousin of 

Robert E. Lee and a prominent Washington 

D.C. attorney—attempted to pay the tax on 

Mary Lee’s behalf in late December 1863, 

the commissioners refused to accept payment. 

They insisted that Mary Lee cross Union and 

Confederate lines and appear in person to pay 

the tax. Under the commissioners’ interpreta­

tion of the law, no friend, relative, or agent 

could pay on the owner’s behalf. When Mary 

Lee failed to appear, the Treasury Department

auctioned the property to the War Depart­

ment. The government’s claim to Arlington 

thus hinged on the legality of the commission­

ers’ unprecedented “ payment in person”  pol­

icy, a requirement they imposed without any 

authorization in the Doolittle Act.

In 1863, the government converted a por­

tion of the Lee estate into a refugee camp 

for runaway slaves and in 1864, the army es­

tablished a cemetery at Arlington. The cre­

ation of Arlington cemetery resulted directly 

from battlefield developments. In the spring 

of 1864, General Ulysses S. Grant and the 

Army of the Potomac launched a massive of­

fensive against Lee’s Army of Northern Vir ­

ginia. The month of May alone saw the Union 

army suffer 44,000 casualties and the Con­

federates 25,000. President Lincoln lamented 

that the war had “ carried mourning to al­

most every home, until it can almost be said 

that ‘ the heavens are hung in black.’ ”  As Lee 

and Grant fought their way across Virginia, 

the City of Washington faced a public health
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D uring the C iv il W ar, C ongress enacted a land tax  

in the  C on fede ra te s ta tes know n as the D oo little A ct 

a fte r its au tho r, S en . Jam es D oo little o f W iscons in  

(p ic tu red ). T he  a im  w as to  pun ish lead ing  C on fede r­

a tes and ra ise revenue fo r the  U n ion  w ar e ffo rt.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

cr is is o f the fir s t o rde r . The s u rge o f cas u al­

ties required the transportation of thousands 

of wounded soldiers to Washington hospitals 

each week. When the wounded died, the army 

buried them in the Soldiers’ Home cemetery. 

By early 1864, so many hospitalized soldiers 

had died that the Soldiers’ Home cemetery 

was completely filled. The army needed a new 

burial site in the Washington area.5

On June 15, 1864, Quartermaster General 

Montgomery Meigs recommended to Secre­

tary of War Edwin Stanton that the army begin 

interments at Arlington. “ The grounds about 

the mansion,” Meigs noted, “ are admirably 

adapted to such a use.”  Stanton agreed. Later 

that same day he issued an order declaring that 

“ [t]he Arlington Mansion and the grounds im­

mediately surrounding it are appropriated for 

a Military  Cemetery.” 6

The swiftness with which Stanton acted 

suggests that the secretary and Meigs dis­

cussed the idea beforehand. It appears that 

Meigs first proposed the idea of converting 

Arlington into a cemetery while touring the 

grounds with President Lincoln in early May. 

The idea of building a magnificent military

A s the  esta te ’s lega l ow ner, M ary Lee (p ic tu red ) w as  

to ld she ow ed n ine ty do lla rs and seven cen ts fo r A r­

ling ton’s assessm en t. W hen P h illip F enda ll— a firs t 

cous in o f R obert E . Lee and a prom inen t W ash ing ­

ton D .C . a tto rney— a ttem p ted to  pay the  tax  on M ary  

Lee 's beha lf in la te D ecem ber 1863 , the com m is ­

s ione rs  re fused  to  accep t paym en t. T hey ins is ted  tha t 

M ary Lee cross U n ion and C on fede ra te lines and  ap ­

pear in person to  pay  the  tax .

cemetery on the heights above Washington 

captured the quartermaster general’s imagi­

nation. According to Meigs family tradition, 

Montgomery Meigs pointed out to the Pres­

ident that the “ ancients filled their enemies 

fields with salt and made them useless forever, 

but we are a Christian nation, why not make it 

a field of honor?”  Stanton later revealed that 

one of his motivations in converting Arlington 

into a cemetery was “ to prevent the Lee family 

from ever returning to the place.” 7

Arlington was not the first national 

military cemetery established during the war. 

In July 1862, two years before the creation of 

Arlington cemetery, Congress authorized the 

president “ to purchase cemetery grounds ... to 

be used as a National Cemetery for soldiers 

who shall have died in the service of the 

country.”  In response, the Lincoln administra­

tion established five national battlefield
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O n June 15 , 1864 , Q uarte rm aste r G enera l M ontgom ery M eigs (le ft) recom m ended to  S ecre ta ry o f W ar E dw in  

S tan ton (righ t) tha t they beg in in te rm en ts on the A rling ton H ouse grounds and conve rt it to a cem ete ry . 

S tan ton acted qu ick ly on th is idea , la te r revea ling tha t one o f h is m otiva tions in conve rting A rling ton in to  a  

cem ete ry w as “ to  preven t the Lee  fam ily  from  eve r re tu rn ing to  the p lace .”

cemeteries: Antietam, Chattanooga,

Gettysburg, Knoxville, and Stone’s River. 

The creation of the national cemetery system 

marked a turning point in the government’s 

relationship to its dead soldiers. As the 

historian Drew Gilpin Faust has observed, 

the federal government’s role in creating the 

cemetery system “ acknowledged a new public 

importance for the dead. No longer simply the 

responsibility of their families, they, and their 

loss, now belonged to the nation.” 8

Unlike the other cemeteries in the new na­

tional system, Arlington did not enter under the

National Cemetery Act. Compensation was 

the sticking point. The act directed the “ pur­

chase”  of privately owned land for use as na­

tional cemeteries and it authorized the admin­

istration to pay southerner landowners, as well 

as northern, for their property. In fact, three 

of the first five cemeteries established under 

the act were located on property purchased 

by the government from Tennessee landown­

ers. But buying land from an obscure southern 

property owner was one thing; buying land 

from the wife of the most famous Confed­

erate general was quite another. The Lincoln
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adm inis tratio n did no t vie w the ide a o f p ay­

ing Mary Lee for her estate’s conversion into 

a cemetery for soldiers killed fighting her 

husband’s army as a politically viable option. 

Consequently, Arlington entered the national 

cemetery system as a separate and unique 

property of the War Department.9

Following the Confederacy’s defeat in 

1865, the Lee family moved to Lexington, 

Virginia, where Robert E. Lee served as pres­

ident of Washington College. He died in 

October 1870. Even after Lee’s death, the 

prospect of compensating his family for Ar­

lington raised northern ire. In December 1870, 

a Kentucky senator proposed that the govern­

ment pay financial compensation to Mary Lee 

for the loss of Arlington. The proposal set off  

a storm of protest. Senator Oliver Morton of 

Indiana spoke for most of his northern peers 

when he declared it  beneath the dignity of the 

Senate to devote any time to “ the rights of  the 

widow of the arch-rebel of the most wicked 

rebellion in history.”  The Senate defeated the 

proposal to compensate Mary Lee by a vote of 

54 to 4.10

Mary Lee never brought suit to assert her 

claim to Arlington. She died in 1873. Upon 

Mary’s death, the Lees’ eldest son, George 

Washington Custis Lee, inherited title to the 

estate. The timing was propitious for Custis 

Lee. In the years following Appomattox, the 

Supreme Court handed down two decisions 

that would prove highly favorable to Lee’s case. 

In 1869, the Supreme Court heard the case 

of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e n n e tt v . H u n te r , a controversy that orig­

inated under circumstances exactly like those 

of the Arlington case. A Confederate officer 

named B. W. Hunter owned a tract of land 

in Alexandria County, Virginia, not far from 

Arlington House. During the war, the Union 

Army seized Hunter’s property and assessed a 

tax on it pursuant to the Doolittle Act. Before 

the government auctioned the property, one 

of  Hunter’s tenants attempted to pay the tax on 

Hunter’s behalf. The commissioners refused to 

accept the tenant’s money on the grounds that 

the law required the owner to pay the tax in

person. The commissioners subsequently auc­

tioned Hunter’s land to a man named Bennett. 

After Hunter’s death, his son brought an eject­

ment action in Virginia state court in an ef­

fort to win back the family ’s land. Both the 

trial court and the Virginia Supreme Court 

of Appeals ruled in favor of Hunter’s son. 

Bennett appealed to the Supreme Court of the 

United States.11

The government recognized the impor­

tance of  the H u n te r case. If  the Supreme Court 

were to rule that the commissioners had acted 

unlawfully in H u n te r , then all tax sales under 

Doolittle’s act— including the sale of the Lee 

property—were in legal jeopardy. In a sign of 

how seriously the government took the matter, 

the Attorney General of  the United States sub­

mitted an amicus brief on behalf of Bennett, 

and sent a well-respected government attorney 

named Westel Willoughby to argue the case.12

The central issue of B e n n e tt v . H u n te r 

was simple: Under Doolittle’s act, could the 

commissioners lawfully auction a tax de­

faulter’s land even though a third party had 

attempted to pay on the owner’s behalf? De­

spite Willoughby’s impassioned efforts, the 

Justices rejected the government’s arguments. 

The Supreme Court unanimously ruled that 

the commissioners could not lawfully auction 

land if  a third party had attempted to pay on 

the owner’s behalf. As the Justices explained 

in their ruling, the commissioners were legally 

obligated to accept payment when tendered, re­

gardless of the identity of the person attempt­

ing to pay the tax. Writing for the majority, 

Chief Justice Salmon P. Chase observed that 

“ it seems unreasonable to give to the act, con­

sidered as a revenue measure, a construction 

which would defeat the right of the owner to 

pay the amount assessed and relieve his hands 

from the lien.”  Most important of all, Chase 

stressed that nowhere in the act did it  expressly 

state that the owner must pay in person. “ [T]o  

whom did the right to make this payment be­

long?”  the Chief Justice asked. “ The obvious 

answer is, to the owner, either acting in person 

or through some friend or agent, compensated
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C ustis Lee (le ft), e ldes t son o f G enera l Lee (righ t), sued the U n ited S ta tes gove rnm en t, c la im ing tha t its  title  

to  A rling ton N ationa l C em ete ry res ted on  an inva lid  tax  sa le .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o r u nco m p e ns ate d. The te rm s o f the act are 

that the o wne r o r o wne rs m ay pay; and it is 

familiar law that acts done by one in behalf of 

another are valid if  ratified either expressly or 

by implication, and that such ratification will  

be presumed in furtherance of  justice.” 13

Indeed, Doolittle’s act said not a word 

about the owner being required to pay in 

person. Never before had taxpayers been re­

quired to pay in person, and nothing in the 

Doolittle Act suggested a change in that long­

standing custom and practice. Consequently, 

the Supreme Court concluded that the tax com­

missioners had unlawfully exceeded their au­

thority. The Supreme Court’s unanimous rul­

ing in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH u n te r invalidated all tax sales that 

occurred after payment was attempted by a 

friend, relative, or agent of the landowner.14

Four years later in the case of T a c e y v. 

I rw in , the Supreme Court not only reaffirmed 

its ruling in H u n te r , it eliminated the require­

ment to offer to pay the tax. Like H u n te r , the 

I rw in  case originated in Alexandria, Virginia, a 

short distance from the Lee estate. The facts of 

I rw in  were identical to H u n te r with one cru­

cial exception. When the government seized 

the plaintiff Irwin ’s property, a relative of 

Irwin ’s went to the tax commissioners’ of­

fice in Alexandria to pay the tax. There the 

commissioners informed the relative that they 

would accept no payment except from the 

owner himself. After learning of the com­

missioners’ policy, Irwin ’s relative left with­

out ever having offered to pay the tax. This 

was precisely what the government claimed 

happened when Philip Fendall met with the 

Alexandria commissioners on behalf of Mary 

Lee.15

The central issue in I rw in  was whether an 

agent’s formal offer to pay the tax was neces­

sary to render the subsequent tax sale invalid. 

The defendants—and the Justice Department’s 

lawyers, acting as an amicus party—argued 

that, unless the owner or a third party actually 

presented money for payment of the tax, the 

commissioners had legal authority to declare 

the property in default and auction it to the 

highest bidder.

The Supreme Court, however, disagreed. 

In what amounted to a fatal blow to the
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Do o little Act, the Ju s tice s u nanim o u s ly ru le d 

that a fo rm al o ffe r to p ay was u nne ce s s ary . 

No ting that this “ case is not distinguishable 

in principle from that of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e n n e tt v. H u n te r ," 

Justice David Davis observed, “ It is difficult  

to see how, upon the case as found here, the 

sale can be sustained.”  Writing for the ma­

jority, Davis declared, “ The law does not re­

quire the doing of a nugatory act, as would 

have been a formal tender of payment, after 

the action of the commissioners, declining to 

receive the taxes from any person in behalf of 

the owner.”  According to the Supreme Court, 

when the commissioners announced the fact 

that it was pointless for the owners’ agents to 

attempt payment, the commissioners rendered 

the Doolittle Act void and unenforceable. “ The 

friends and agents of absent owners,”  Justice 

Davis noted, “ were informed that it was use­

less to interpose in their behalf, and that unless 

the owner appeared in person and discharged 

the tax, the property would be sold.” 16 The 

tax commissioners, however, had no legal au­

thority for discriminating against agents of  the 

owners. “ While the law gave the owner the 

privilege of paying by the hands of another, 

the commissioners confined the privilege to a 

payment by the owner himself,”  the justice ex­

plained. “ This was wrong, and was a denial of 

the opportunity to pay accorded to the owner 

by the act, and the lands were, therefore, not 

delinquent when they were sold.” 17

Justice Davis ruled that the logic used 

by the court in H u n te r was equally applica­

ble to I rw in . “ If  an offer [by an agent of the 

owner] in a particular case to pay the tax be­

fore sale... renders a subsequent sale by the 

commissioners void, surely a general rule an­

nounced by the commissioners, that in all cases 

such an offer would be refused, must produce 

the same effect,” he reasoned. “ Such a rule 

of necessity dispenses with a regular tender 

in any case.” 18 Davis concluded that the over­

whelming weight of  legal precedent demanded 

the invalidation of all tax sales made under 

Doolittle’s act. “ In the absence of any proof to 

the contrary, it is a legal presumption that the

tax in this case, though not actually offered, 

would have been offered and paid before sale 

but for the known refusal of the commission­

ers to accept any offer when not made by the 

owner in person.” 19

The one-two punch of the H u n te r and 

I rw in rulings effectively struck down the 

Doolittle Act. The Court issued its ruling in 

H u n te r in 1869 and in I rw in  in 1873, several 

years before the Arlington case began. The de­

cisions represented a daunting obstacle to the 

government’s lawyers in U n ite d S ta te s v. L e e .

The most pertinent fact for Custis Lee was 

that the H u n te r and I rw in  cases exactly par­

alleled the Arlington case. If  those tax sales 

did not pass legal muster, the same was cer­

tainly true of  the tax sale in the Arlington case. 

Custis’s lawyers made clear to him the tremen­

dous significance of  the H u n te r and I rw in  rul­

ings. As Senator John W. Johnston of Virginia 

advised his fellow senators, “ Mr. Lee has been 

advised that his claim could be enforced in the 

courts.” 20

The H u n te r and I rw in  rulings combined 

to create seemingly irresistible momentum be­

hind Custis Lee’s case. The overwhelming 

weight of case law indicated that the govern­

ment had never taken lawful ownership of the 

estate. On the merits, therefore, Custis Lee 

seemed certain to prevail.

In 1877, Custis Lee finally brought suit 

to vindicate the family ’s claim to the estate. 

His lawsuit alleged that the government’s offi ­

cers had violated the Fifth Amendment’s due 

process clause by claiming title to Arlington 

on the basis of an invalid tax sale. In addi­

tion, Custis Lee contended that the govern­

ment’s officers had violated the amendment’s 

takings clause by failing to compensate Mary 

Lee for the estate. At  no point did Lee ever seek 

physical possession of Arlington. The pres­

ence of  the national cemetery made the estate’s 

return to the Lees impossible. What Custis 

Lee sought instead was formal legal recogni­

tion of his ownership of Arlington. He hoped 

that a victory in the courts would persuade 

Congress to finally  pay compensation to him in
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acco rdance with the go ve rnm e nt’s co ns titu­

tional obligations.21

Although Lee filed his lawsuit in Virginia 

state court, the Justice Department removed 

the case to federal court. The government con­

tested Lee’s suit on two principal grounds. 

First, the Justice Department’s lawyers con­

tended that Arlington’s tax sale complied with 

the law, and thus divested the Lees of owner­

ship of the estate. In the alternative, the gov­

ernment’s attorneys declared that, even if  the 

tax sale were invalid, the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity barred Custis Lee from seeking a 

judicial remedy for his claim. Never before 

had the Justice Department argued for such a 

sweeping expansion of the government’s im­

munity from suit. When the government’s ju­

risdictional motion failed, a jury heard the case 

on the merits and ruled in Custis Lee’s favor on 

both the title and just compensation issues.22

Undaunted by its defeat in the trial 

court, the Justice Department appealed to the 

Supreme Court. The case of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ite d S ta te s v. 

L e e reached the Supreme Court in the spring 

of 1882. When the government’s lawyers ap­

pealed the L e e case to the Supreme Court, they 

knew they had virtually no chance of prevail­

ing on the title issue. The evidence introduced 

at trial demonstrated that Phillip Fendall had 

attempted to pay Arlington’s property tax, but 

had been turned away by the tax commission­

ers. The government produced no evidence to 

the contrary. Most important of all, through 

its rulings in the H u n te r and I rw in  cases, the 

Supreme Court had already declared illegal 

all tax sales that resulted from the payment-in- 

person policy.23

But the fundamental issue posed by 

U n ite d S ta te s v. L e e was not who owned 

Arlington in a legal sense. For all practical 

purposes, that issue was already resolved in 

Custis Lee’s favor long before the case reached 

the Supreme Court. Rather, the issue at stake 

in L e e was whether Custis Lee could bring 

his suit in the first place. The Justice Depart­

ment contended that the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity prohibited private citizens from su­

ing government officers without congressional 

consent. In the government’s view, it  was irrel­

evant whether Lee owned Arlington. The only 

issue that mattered was whether, absent con­

gressional consent, the courts could exercise 

jurisdiction over the government’s officers.24

The Justice Department’s argument was 

novel. The basic idea of sovereign immunity 

is that private citizens cannot sue the govern­

ment without the government’s consent. The 

doctrine emerged in medieval England and 

arose from the concept that the king—as cre­

ator of the courts— is above the law. After the 

American Revolution, the federal and state 

governments in the United States gradually 

developed their own versions of sovereign im­

munity. However, American courts routinely 

allowed private plaintiffs in Fifth Amendment 

takings cases to get around sovereign immu­

nity by naming as defendants the government 

officers in possession of wrongfully seized 

property, even if  Congress did not consent 

to the suit. This was known as the “ officer 

suit”  exception to sovereign immunity. Custis 

Lee’s lawyers took full  advantage of  it  by nam­

ing as defendants the army officers occupying 

Arlington, rather than the United States gov­

ernment itself. Accordingly, the Arlington case 

was originally the case of  L e e v . K a u fm a n a n d 

S tro n g ', Kaufman and Strong were the army 

officers in charge of  the cemetery and estate at 

Arlington. Custis Lee did not name the United 

States government as a defendant in the case 

because he knew sovereign immunity barred a 

direct legal attack on the government without 

its consent, which Congress was not about to 

give to the son of  Robert E. Lee. The Arlington 

case only became the case of U n ite d S ta te s v. 

L e e when the Justice Department intervened 

in the case in order to raise the sovereign im­

munity issue.25

The Justice Department had an audacious 

goal in the L e e case. It sought to deny the 

courts’  jurisdiction over Fifth Amendment tak­

ings cases that lacked congressional consent. 

The government’s lawyers insisted that the task 

of providing a remedy for aggrieved parties
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u nde r the Fifth Am e ndm e nt s ho u ld be le ft 

“ to the discretion of congress and not to the 

courts.”  With no American case law available 

to support their provocative position, the gov­

ernment’s lawyers relied on precedents from 

English courts. They noted that in England 

“ the moment the court becomes informed that 

its action may operate adversely to the interests 

of the crown without its consent, [the court] 

invariably suspends all further proceedings.”  

The Justice Department’s lawyers contended 

that, like English judges, American judges 

should recognize that “ the domain of  sovereign 

power is forbidden ground”  to the courts and 

that “ judicial authority”  must never “ trespass 

upon the prerogatives, property, instrumental­

ities, or operations of this sovereign power.” 26

Lingering animosity from the Civil War 

years undoubtedly contributed to the Justice 

Department’s aggressive approach to the case. 

The government and the Lee family had a 

singular relationship. At the war’s outset, the 

Lincoln Administration had offered command 

of  the Union Army to Robert E. Lee but he de­

clined. Most northerners believed that, if  Lee 

had accepted Lincoln’s offer of command, the 

war would have ended much sooner and with 

far fewer lives lost. The national bitterness en­

gendered by the war’s devastation made the 

government loath to reconcile with the Lees 

or take any step that could be interpreted as 

forgiveness. Robert E. Lee himself anticipated 

that his decision to side with the Confederacy 

would provoke retribution. In a letter to his 

wife in July 1861, Lee warned, “ In reference 

to the action of the U.S. Govt, you had better 

make up your mind to expect all the injury they 

can do us. They look upon us as their most bit­

ter enemies &  will  treat us as such to the extent 

of  their power.” 27

But other considerations also informed 

the government’s aggressive approach to the 

case. By challenging the government’s title 

to Arlington, Custis Lee’s suit raised issues 

that were fundamental to the Civil War’s le­

gal and constitutional legacy. Sovereign im­

munity constitutes more than a procedural and

jurisdictional doctrine. It concerns the scope 

and nature of the government’s power and au­

thority. In a political and legal sense, the term 

“ sovereignty”  means the “ supreme dominion”  

and the “ supreme political authority of  an inde­

pendent state.” 28 The Civil  War posed a ques­

tion fundamental to American sovereignty: did 

the states have a sovereign right to secede 

from the Union? As the legal scholar Daniel 

Farber has observed, “ When Americans de­

bated sovereignty before the Civil War, they 

were debating the ultimate locus of political 

authority.” 29

The Civil War represented the pre­

eminent test of sovereign power in the 

United States. On battlefields stretching from 

Gettysburg, Pennsylvania to Port Hudson, 

Louisiana, the issue was resolved decisively in 

favor of  the federal government. The war’s out­

come made clear that the doctrine of secession 

was dead. Yet, in the years immediately follow ­

ing Appomattox, the long-term resilience of 

the Union appeared uncertain. During Recon­

struction, many northerners feared that the ex- 

Confederate South sought to achieve through 

political and legal ends what it had failed 

to achieve on the battlefield. In the view of 

Attorney General Charles Devens, Custis 

Lee’s suit represented a direct attack on the au­

thority of the federal government. In its briefs 

and at oral argument, the Justice Department 

warned that the argument espoused by Custis 

Lee’s attorneys “ dwarfs the spirit of patrio­

tism”  by seeking to “ limit  the capacity of our 

government”  to carry out its duties. The gov­

ernment’s lawyers reminded the court that, in 

the 1860s, southerners had “ regarded it as an 

invasion for the United States to place her sol­

diers within the borders of our sacred soil.”  

What Confederates failed to understand, the 

Justice Department contended, was that “ Vir ­

ginia is not a sovereign state in the full  sense of 

a sovereign power.”  The Justice Department’s 

lawyers asked the court to make clear that 

the “ United States exists as a nation, supreme 

within its sphere,”  by extending the doctrine of 

sovereign immunity to government officials.30
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A p o litical cr is is info rm e d the Hay e s 

adm inis tratio n’s ap p ro ach to the cas e . 

Ru the r fo rd B. Hay e s , an Ohio Re p u blican, 

e nte re d the White Ho u s e in March 1877 

promising to advance the cause of sectional 

reconciliation. But shortly after his inaugu­

ration, the Republican Reconstruction gov­

ernments in South Carolina and Louisiana 

collapsed amidst a ferocious onslaught by 

southern Democrats. It soon became clear that 

the President’s policy of sectional reconcili­

ation offered no benefits for the Republican 

Party or for its African-American support­

ers in the South. As they had for more than 

a decade, southern Democrats continued to 

wage a campaign of terrorism and violence 

against southern Republicans. Appalled by the 

abandonment of  the southern wing of  the party, 

a Republican revolt against Hayes took shape 

shortly after he took office. Republican sen­

ators as diverse as James Blaine from Maine 

and Benjamin Wade of Ohio lambasted the 

administration for abandoning southern Re­

publicans. Just weeks into Hayes’s term, as the 

historian Stanley Hirshson has observed, the 

“ administration’s supporters were few.” 31

Custis Lee filed his lawsuit in April  1877. 

Following so soon on the heels of Recon­

struction’s ignominious end, Custis Lee’s law­

suit struck the Justice Department as an effort 

to further embarrass and harass the govern­

ment. The prospect of an ex-Confederate offi ­

cer seeking refuge in the same constitutional 

protections that white supremacist state gov­

ernments in the South systematically denied to 

African Americans appalled the Hayes admin­

istration. The Justice Department likely  hoped 

that, by expanding the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity, it would acquire a new tool for 

blocking southern encroachments on federal 

authority.

The Justice Department’s intervention in 

the Arlington case thus forced a high stakes 

showdown in the Supreme Court. When the 

Court first heard the case in the spring of 

1882, the Justices split down the middle: four 

ruled in favor of Custis Lee, and four in favorZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

W hen the C ourt firs t heard the case in the sp ring  

o f 1882 , the Justices sp lit dow n the m idd le : fou r 

ru led in favo r o f C ustis Lee , and fou r in favo r o f the  

gove rnm en t. N orm a lly tha t w ou ld have m ean t v ic ­

to ry fo r C ustis Lee , because he had preva iled in the  

low er cou rt proceed ing . B ut C h ie f Justice  M orrison R . 

W aite orde red the m atte r he ld ove r fo r re -a rgum en t 

during  the  fa ll T erm , w hen  P res iden t C heste r A rthu r’s  

appo in tm en t to  fill the  cou rt vacancy , S am ue l B la tch - 

fo rd (p ic tu red ) o f N ew  Y ork , w ou ld break  the  tie .

of the government. Normally, that would have 

meant victory for Custis Lee because he had 

prevailed in the lower court proceeding. How­

ever, Chief Justice Morrison Waite ordered the 

matter held over for re-argument during the fall 

Term, when President Arthur’s appointment to 

fill  the court vacancy, Samuel Blatchford of 

New York, would break the tie.32

After oral argument in the fall  of 1882, the 

Supreme Court ruled in favor of Custis Lee on 

both the jurisdictional and title issues. It  was a 

complete victory for Lee. Writing for the ma­

jority, Justice Samuel F. Miller  identified the 

two questions addressed by the Court’s ruling: 

Did sovereign immunity bar Custis Lee’s suit? 

Was the commissioners’ sale of  Arlington law­

ful? The Justices agreed that Arlington’s sale 

was illegal. “ [N]o division of opinion exists 

among the members of this court,” Miller
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de clare d, “ on the proposition that the rulings 

of law under which the latter question [the ti­

tle issue] was submitted by the court to the 

jury was sound,”  and that the “ jury was autho­

rized to find”  that “ the tax certificate and the 

sale... did not divest the plaintiff of his title 

to the property.”  The evidence, the Court de­

cided, was “ uncontradicted”  that “ Mr. Fendall 

appeared before the commissioners in due time 

and offered on the part of Mrs. Lee, in whom 

the title then was, to pay the taxes, interest, 

and costs, and was told that the commission­

ers could receive the money from no one but 

the owner of  the land in person.”  The commis­

sioners’ payment-in-person policy, the Justice 

observed, had no foundation in the law, and 

“ deprived the owner of the land of an impor­

tant right,”  the right to pay by agent, a “ right 

which has in no instance known to us, or cited 

by counsel, been refused to a tax-payer.” 33

The two key Supreme Court rulings on the 

payment-in-person rule—ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB e n n e tt v . H u n te r 

and T a c e y v. I rw in — factored prominently in 

the majority’s decision. “ This court,” Miller  

emphasized, “ has in a series of cases estab­

lished the proposition that where the commis­

sioners refused to receive” payment by the 

owner’s agent, “ their action in thus prevent­

ing payment was the equivalent of payment 

in its effect upon the certificate of sale.” If  

the government denied a citizen the oppor­

tunity to pay the tax, it could not later use 

that rejection of payment against the citizen. 

The Justices concluded that a tax “ sale made 

under such circumstances is invalid, as much 

so as if  the tax had been actually paid or 

tendered.” 34

But on the critical question of whether 

Lee could bring suit in the first place, the Jus­

tices sharply disagreed. Only a narrow 5^4 

majority held in favor of Lee on the jurisdic­

tional issue. Writing for the majority, Justice 

Miller observed that, although the Supreme 

Court agreed with the Justice Department that 

a plaintiff  could not sue the United States di­

rectly, the Court rejected the contention that a 

plaintiff  could not sue government officials.35

The outcome of  the case, Miller  explained, 

depended “ on what principle the exemption of 

the United States from a suit by one of its citi­

zens is founded, and what limitations surround 

this exemption.” In anticipation of Horace 

Gray’s dissenting opinion, which relied heav­

ily  on English case law, Miller  began by distin­

guishing the English tradition of sovereign im­

munity from the legal and political traditions 

of  the United States. Although both the Amer­

ican and the English doctrine of sovereign im­

munity were “ derived from the laws and prac­

tices of  our English ancestors,”  he emphasized 

that English subjects could avail themselves 

of the petition of right, which provided an in­

direct means of resolving grievances against 

the crown. American citizens, he wrote, did 

not have a comparable avenue of adjudication. 

“ There is in this country, however, no such 

thing as the petition of right,” he observed, 

“ as there is no such thing as a kingly head 

to the nation, or to any of the states which 

compose it.” 36

The lack of a monarch was fatal to ef­

forts to analogize the English judicial system 

with the American. “ As we have no person in 

this government who exercises supreme exec­

utive power or performs the public duties of 

a sovereign,”  Miller  explained, “ it is difficult  

to see on what solid foundation of principle 

the exemption from liability  to suit rests.”  He 

concluded that the “ vast difference in the es­

sential character of  the two governments as re­

gards the source and the depositaries of  power”  

was simply too great for the English version of 

sovereign immunity to act as a guide for Amer­

ican courts. In England “ the monarch is looked 

upon with too much reverence to be subjected 

to the demands of the law as ordinary per­

sons are, and the king-loving nation would be 

shocked at the spectacle of their queen being 

turned out of her pleasure garden by a writ of 

ejectment against the gardener.”  The Ameri­

can President, in contrast, lacked monarchical 

pretensions, and the executive branch routinely 

appeared in the federal courts through the of­

fices of  the Attorney General and the Solicitor
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Ge ne ral. In the United States, Miller  stressed, 

it  cannot “ be said that the dignity of  the govern­

ment is degraded by appearing as a defendant 

in the courts of its own creation, because it is 

constantly appearing as a party in such courts, 

and submitting its rights as against the citizens 

to their judgment.” 37

The source of American sovereignty also 

differed. “ Under our system the people, who 

are there called subjects, are the sovereign,”  

Miller  observed. “ Their rights, whether col­

lective or individual, are not bound to give 

way to a sentiment of loyalty to the person 

of the monarch.”  When an American citizen 

“ has established his right to property, there is 

no reason why deference to any person, natural 

or artificial, not even the United States, should 

prevent him from using the means which the 

law gives him for the protection and enforce­

ment of that right.”  The actions of every gov­

ernment officer, including the President, are 

subject to judicial review. The “ citizen here 

knows no person, however near to those in 

power, or however powerful himself, to whom 

he need yield the rights which the law secures 

to him when it is well administered.” 38

Having rejected the Justice Department’s 

efforts to invoke English law, Miller  turned to 

the question of how American courts viewed 

sovereign immunity. He noted that “ the doc­

trine met with a doubtful reception in the early 

history of this court.” In the 1793 case of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C h ish o lm v . S ta te o f G e o rg ia , the Supreme 

Court rejected efforts to introduce a broad 

version of sovereign immunity to the United 

States. Although in the 1821 case of C o h e n s 

v . V irg in ia the Court accepted the principle 

that the government cannot be sued without 

its consent, Miller  maintained that never in the 

history of the Supreme Court was the doc­

trine “ permitted to interfere with the judicial 

enforcement of  the established rights of  plain­

tiffs when the United States is not a defendant 

or a necessary party to a suit.” 39

The 1809 case of U n ite d S ta te s v . J u d g e 

P e te rs was the first case in which the Supreme 

Court discussed at length the doctrine of

sovereign immunity. P e te rs involved a British 

ship that was seized on the high seas during 

the Revolutionary War. Two American naval 

vessels participated in the capture, one owned 

by the state of Pennsylvania and one by a pri­

vateer. A  dispute arose over how the proceeds 

should be distributed. The prolonged and com­

plicated controversy took thirty years to reach 

the Supreme Court. In its ruling in P e te rs , the 

Supreme Court upheld the principle that the 

government could not be sued directly without 

its consent. At the same time, however, Chief 

Justice John Marshall observed that “ it cer­

tainly can never be alleged that a mere sugges­

tion of title in a state to property in possession 

of an individual must arrest the proceedings 

of the court, and prevent their looking into 

the suggestion and examining the validity of 

the title.”  The Supreme Court in P e te rs thus 

held that sovereign immunity did not deny the 

courts’ jurisdiction to investigate the validity 

of  the government’s claim of  title to property.40

Miller  applied the P e te rs rule to the Ar­

lington case. The Justice Department had no 

basis for contending that the mere “ sugges­

tion”  that it owned Arlington was enough to 

“ forbid the court below to proceed further, and 

to reverse and set aside what it has done.”  He 

viewed the Justice Department’s demand as an 

assault on judicial independence. To accept the 

government’s argument, Miller warned, was 

tantamount to refusing “ to perform the duty 

of deciding suits properly brought before us 

by citizens of the United States.” 41

The majority placed special weight on 

the fact that in four previous Supreme Court 

cases—M e ig s v. M ’ C lu n g’s L e sse e , O sb o rn v. 

B a n k o f th e U n ite d S ta te s , W ilc o x v . J a c k so n , 

and G r isa r v. M c D o w e ll— the Court heard and 

decided claims brought against government 

officers. In none of those cases did any of 

the Justices challenge the jurisdictional ba­

sis of the plaintiff ’s claim. Miller  concluded 

that those cases stood for the proposition that 

the officer suit exception clearly permit­

ted plaintiffs to challenge government land 

titles.42
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A ce ntral the m e o f the Ju s tice De p ar t­

ment’s case was the notion that private suits 

against government officers undermined the 

sovereign authority of the federal govern­

ment. Miller  found such arguments completely 

unpersuasive. “ Hypothetical cases of great 

evils may be suggested by a particularly fruit­

ful imagination in regard to almost every law 

upon which depends the rights of the individ­

ual or of the government,”  he noted. Yet, “ if  

the existence of laws is to depend upon their 

capacity to withstand such criticism, the whole 

fabric of the law must fail.” 43

The real danger according to Miller  lay in 

the Justice Department’s argument, not Custis 

Lee’s. Referring to the government’s position, 

Miller  warned, “ If  such be the law of  this coun­

try, it sanctions a tyranny which has no ex­

istence in the monarchies of Europe, nor in 

any other government which has a just claim 

to well-regulated liberty and the protection 

of personal rights.”  The Justice Department’s 

blithe disregard for the takings and due pro­

cess clauses disturbed Miller. If  government 

officers could invoke sovereign immunity as a 

blanket defense, the Fifth Amendment would 

become unenforceable. Every American citi­

zen, he stressed, has a fundamental “ right to 

recover that which has been taken from him 

by force and violence, and detained by the 

strong hand” of the government. After all, 

if  citizens cannot turn to the courts to pro­

tect their constitutional rights, where could 

they turn? “ In such cases there is no safety 

for the citizen,”  the Justice concluded, “ except 

in the protection of the judicial tribunals, for 

rights which have been invaded by the offi ­

cers of the government, professing to act in its 

name.” 44

Justice Miller  placed a portion of  blame on 

President Lincoln himself: “ It  is not pretended, 

as the case now stands, that the president had 

any lawful authority to do this, or that the leg­

islative body could give him any such authority 

except upon payment of just compensation.”  

The government’s case, therefore, boiled down 

to a single argument: “ The defense stands here

solely upon the absolute immunity from judi­

cial inquiry of every one who asserts authority 

from the executive branch of  the government.”  

Yet, he warned, “ the executive possessed no 

such power.”  In asking the Court for absolute 

sovereign immunity, the government claimed 

a power it did not have under the Constitu­

tion, and it sought that power to protect itself 

against the legal implications of  its unconstitu­

tional actions. This was an absurd argument in 

Miller ’s view, one he and a majority of  the Jus­

tices would not permit to stand. In seizing Ar­

lington, the government took an action that “ is 

absolutely prohibited,”  the majority declared, 

“ both to the executive and the legislative,”  and 

that is “ to deprive any one of life, liberty, or 

property without due process of law, or to take 

private property without just compensation.” 45

One last question remained. Did the 

officer-suit exception pose a long-term threat 

to the orderly conduct of the government’s op­

erations? Miller insisted that it did not. The 

United States, he pointed out, endured “a great 

civil  war, such as the world has seldom known, 

which strained the powers of  the national gov­

ernment to their utmost tension. In the course 

of  this war persons hostile to the Union did not 

hesitate to invoke the powers of the courts for 

their protection as citizens in order to cripple 

the exercise of the authority necessary to put 

down the rebellion, yet no improper interfer­

ence with the exercise of that authority was 

permitted or attempted by the courts.”  Indeed, 

officers occupying land of  disputed title could 

avail themselves of the federal courts, which 

by their very nature would be sympathetic to 

the government’s interests. “ From such a tri­

bunal,” Miller concluded, “ no well-founded 

fear can be entertained of injustice to the gov­

ernment or purpose to obstruct or diminish its 

just authority.” 46

Miller  ended on an eloquent note:

No man in this country is so high 

that he is above the law.... No offi ­

cer of the law may set that law at de­

fiance with impunity. All  the officers
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o f the go ve rnm e nt, fro m the highe s t 

to the lo we s t, are cre atu re s o f the law 

and are bo u nd to o be y it. It is the 

o nly s u p re m e p o we r in o u r s y s te m 

o f go ve rnm e nt, and e ve ry m an who 

by acce p ting o ffice p ar ticip ate s in its 

fu nctio ns is o nly the m o re s tro ngly 

bo u nd to s u bm it to that s u p re m acy , 

and to o bs e rve the lim itatio ns which 

it im p o s e s u p o n the e xe rcis e o f the 

au tho r ity which it give s .47

Nevertheless, the majority’s reasoning 

failed to persuade Chief Justice Morrison 

Waite, Horace Gray, Joseph Bradley, and 

William  Woods. The four dissenting Justices 

endorsed the broad scope of sovereign immu­

nity asked for by the government. Writing on 

behalf of his fellow dissenters, Horace Gray 

proclaimed that the Arlington “ case so deeply 

affects the sovereignty of the United States, 

and its relations to the citizen, that it is fit  to 

announce the grounds of our dissent.” 48

The dissenters believed it  was a mistake to 

apply the officer suit exception to challenges 

to facially valid government titles. Gray con­

ceded that if  the army had “ violently and sud­

denly wrested”  Arlington from Mary Lee, and 

if  the army had acted without executive orders 

and without “ color of title” in the property, 

then the officer suit exception might apply. 

But he maintained that, in the Arlington case, 

where the army seized property on the Pres­

ident’s orders, the courts had jurisdiction to 

investigate only whether the government pos­

sessed a facially valid title to the land and 

whether it devoted the property to public 

uses.49

In the Arlington case, Gray pointed out 

that the Justice Department had established 

that the army possessed the estate, devoted it 

to public uses, and held it  under a facially valid 

title. In Gray’s view, that was sufficient to bring 

the government’s officers under the umbrella 

of sovereign immunity. However, with little  

support for their position in American case 

law, the dissenters found themselves forced

to rely on general endorsements of sovereign 

immunity, such as Chief Justice John Mar­

shall’s assertion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC o h e n s v . V irg in ia  that the 

“ universally-received opinion is that no suit 

can be commenced or prosecuted against the 

United States.”  The dissent also approved of 

Justice David Davis’s holding in N ic h o ls v . 

U n ite d S ta te s , in which he declared that every 

“ government has an inherent right to protect it­

self against suits.”  For more specific support, 

the dissenters— like the Justice Department 

before them— turned to English precedent. 

The list of authorities cited in the dissenting 

opinion included the Magna Carta, the me­

dieval legal scholar Bracton, Staunford’s Ex­

position of the King ’s Prerogative, and the 

works of English judges such as Lord Coke 

and Lord Hale. “ The English authorities from 

the earliest to the latest times show that no ac­

tion can be maintained to recover the title or 

possession of land held by the crown by its of­

ficers or servants,”  Gray asserted, “ and leave 

no doubt that in a case like the one before us 

the proceedings would be stayed at the sug­

gestion of  the attorney general in behalf of the 

crown.” 50

Although Gray conceded the inherent dif­

ference between republican and monarchical 

forms of government, he insisted that both 

forms of government had a common interest 

in sovereign immunity. The need for sovereign 

immunity “ is not limited to a monarchy, but 

is of equal force in a republic,”  he announced. 

Both in a republic and a monarchy “ it  is essen­

tial to the common defense and general wel­

fare, that the sovereign should not, without its 

consent, be dispossessed by judicial process 

of forts, arsenals, military posts, and ships of 

war necessary to guard the national existence 

against insurrection and invasion.” 51

Lee’s suit, of course, posed no threat to 

the government’s possession of  Arlington. The 

Justices disagreed, however, on the implica­

tions of that fact. The majority saw it as 

evidence that suits like Lee’s should be al­

lowed to go forward since they would not 

disrupt the government’s operations. But the
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D issen te rs C h ie f Jus tice W aite , H orace G ray, Joseph  

P . B rad ley , and W illiam  W oods endorsed the broad  

scope  o f sove re ign im m un ity  asked  fo r by the  gove rn ­

m en t. W riting  on beha lf o f h is  fe llow  d issen te rs , G ray  

(p ic tu red ) proc la im ed tha t the A rling ton “case so  

deep ly a ffec ts the sove re ign ty o f the U n ited S ta tes , 

and its re la tions to the c itizen , tha t it is fit to an ­

nounce  the  grounds o f ou r d issen t.”tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

m ino r ity vie we d it as e vide nce o f the fu tility 

o f le tting Le e’s s u it be he ard. Gray co nte nde d 

that “ in ejectment [actions], as in other actions 

at law, a court has no authority to render a 

judgment on which it has no power to issue 

execution.” If  the Supreme Court could not 

order the United States government to return 

Arlington to Custis Lee, then why was it hear­

ing the case in the first place? On the other 

hand, if  the court had the authority to evict 

the army from Arlington, then Lee’s suit rep­

resented a threat to the government’s interests. 

Either way, Gray concluded, the courts had no 

business intervening in the case.52

The dissenters insisted, therefore, that 

a petition to Congress represented the only 

legally authorized recourse available to Lee. 

“ If  it is proper that the United States should 

allow themselves to be sued in such a case as 

this,” Gray reasoned, “ public policy requires

that it should rest with congress to define the 

mode of proceeding, the conditions on which 

it may be maintained, and the manner in which 

the decision shall be enforced—none of  which 

can be done if  the citizen has an absolute right 

to maintain the action.” He emphasized the 

fact that Congress had never endorsed the of­

ficer suit exception. “ No act of Congress,”  he 

observed, “ has conferred upon”  the courts of 

the United States “ general jurisdiction of suits 

against the United States to recover possession 

of real property, or to redress a tort.” 53

In closing, Gray and his fellow dissenters 

declined to address the title issue. Since “ the 

question of  the validity of  the title, under which 

the United States, through their offices and 

agents, hold the land, cannot be tried and deter­

mined in this action,”  the dissenters explained, 

“ we of course express no opinion upon that 

branch of the case.”  Thus, even in defeat, the 

minority used sovereign immunity as justifi­

cation for avoiding a public admission that the 

government unlawfully held Arlington. But, 

as Miller  had stressed in the majority opinion, 

“ no division of  opinion exists among the mem­

bers of  this court”  that the jury was justified in 

ruling that the tax auction “ did not divest the 

plaintiff of his title to the property.”  Indeed, 

the Supreme Court in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH u n te r and I rw in  had 

long since concluded that the commissioners’ 

payment-in-person policy was illegal.54

Justices Blatchford, Miller, Field, Harlan, 

and Matthews refused to agree to the enor­

mous expansion of sovereign immunity that 

the dissenters advocated. By a narrow major­

ity, therefore, the Supreme Court in L e e af­

firmed the principle that no officer was above 

the law or beyond the reach of  justice.

The Court’s ruling closed an important 

chapter in Civil  War history. When the govern­

ment seized Arlington in May 1861, it acted 

to protect the capital during a grave wartime 

crisis. Yet, as the historian James G. Randall 

once observed, actions taken in the name of 

military necessity “ are a matter of degree, 

of discretion, and of means chosen. Penalties 

and severity should be part and parcel of the
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e m e rge ncy . The y s ho u ld no t p as s be y o nd what 

the s itu atio n actu ally de m ands .”  By refusing to 

pay compensation to the Lees, and by adopting 

disingenuous tax rules to dispossess them and 

other southerners of their property, the gov­

ernment went far beyond what the crisis de­

manded.55

In rejecting the Justice Department’s ar­

gument, the Supreme Court reaffirmed the na­

tion’s commitment to the rule of law. During 

the war, President Lincoln himself advised that 

disloyal citizens should not “ be punished with­

out regular trials in our duly constituted courts 

under the forms and all the substantial provi­

sions of law and of  the Constitution.”  The fun­

damental lesson of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ite d S ta te s v. L e e was 

that, in the American legal system, the rule 

of law constrains the actions of every gov­

ernment officer, including the President. As 

Justice Miller  explained, “ All  the officers of 

the government are creatures of the law and 

are bound to obey it.” The case also stood 

for a simple but critical principle espoused by 

Judge Robert Hughes, who presided over the

Arlington trial: “ The courts are open to the 

humblest citizen, and there is no personage 

known to our laws, however exalted in station, 

who by mere suggestion to a court can close 

its doors against him.” 56

The Court’s ruling was a major public em­

barrassment for the federal government. The 

day after the Supreme Court announced its de­

cision in U n ite d S ta te s v. L e e , Senator George 

Edmunds of Vermont introduced a resolution 

in the Senate directing the Judiciary Commit­

tee to investigate “ whether any further legis­

lation is necessary to secure the title of the 

United States to the national soldiers’ ceme­

tery at Arlington.”  The Vermont senator ex­

plained that the investigation was “ made nec­

essary by the recent decision of the Supreme 

Court in relation to the rights of General 

Lee.” The Senate unanimously approved the 

resolution. On February 7, 1883, Custis Lee 

agreed to the committee’s proposal to purchase 
Arlington for $150,OOO.57

One week later, Senator Edmunds re­

leased the Judiciary Committee’s report. The
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co m m itte e e m p has ize d Ar lingto n’s “ sacred 

public use,” and it noted that Custis Lee 

had approached the settlement in an “ entirely 

proper spirit.”  The Senate and House agreed, 

and the Appropriations Committee added the 

$150,000 settlement with Custis to its annual 

appropriations bill.  The provision passed with­

out debate. On May 15, 1883, the Secretary 

of the Treasury issued a check for $125,000 

to Custis Lee, with $25,000 to follow after 

Custis paid the interest that had accrued on the 

unpaid tax. Arlington was finally  and unques­

tionably the legal property of  the United States 

government.58

The ramifications of the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL e e decision ex­

tended beyond the courtroom. When Custis 

Lee first filed suit in 1877, the case appeared 

certain to antagonize sectional resentments. 

By pitting the United States government 

against the family of the leading Confederate 

general, many observers expected the Arling ­

ton case to stir bitter memories of the Civil  

War. The case’s ultimate legacy, however, was 

quite different. The L e e ruling contributed to 

a spirit of sectional reconciliation that was al­

ready blossoming in the early 1880s. The sym­

bolism of the nation’s highest court ruling in 

favor of  the most prominent Confederate fam­

ily  in a lawsuit vigorously contested by the 

Attorney General of the United States was un­

mistakable. T h e A tla n ta C o n s ti tu t io n spoke for 

many when it described the Court’s ruling in 

the Arlington case as a “ triumph of justice 

over war prejudices.”  The notion that the rule 

of law had prevailed over sectional prejudices 

resonated widely. As the W a sh in g to n P o s t de­

clared, the Court’s ruling offered a powerful 

testament to “ the rights [of] the citizens of a 

country where the law alone is supreme.” 59

But the rule of law had distinct limits in 

a society marked by deep racial inequities. 

The spirit of sectional reconciliation that in­

formed the public’s response to the Arlington 

case did not extend to racial reconciliation. 

If  anything, the two had an inverse relation­

ship. As the historian David Blight has as­

serted, “ In the half century after the war, as

the sections reconciled, by and large, the races 

divided.”  No institution in American life  illus­

trated that fact more bluntly than the Supreme 

Court. One year after the L e e decision, the 

Supreme Court in the C iv i l  R ig h ts C a se s held 

that the Fourteenth Amendment did not pro­

hibit private parties from racially segregating 

public accommodations, such as restaurants, 

trains, and theaters. The court’s ruling in the 

C iv i l  R ig h ts C a se s cleared the way for the im­

position of Jim Crow segregation across the 

South.60

The contrasting outcomes of L e e and the 

C iv i l  R ig h ts C a se s demonstrated the stark re­

ality that white men alone reaped the full  ben­

efits of the “ rule of law” in late nineteenth 

century America. The son of the most impor­

tant Confederate general found a more sym­

pathetic hearing before the nation’s high court 

than did millions of African Americans in the 

South, virtually none of whom had ever taken 

up arms against the United States government. 

Not until the 1950s would the federal courts 

begin to defend vigorously the constitutional 

rights of African Americans. But the principle 

of judicial review that Lee benefited from in 

the Arlington case would eventually facilitate 

the success of the Civil Rights Movement in 

the twentieth century.61

The Arlington case’s most significant le­

gal legacy lies in its eloquent defense of the 

rule of law. The majority ruling in U n ite d 

S ta te s v. L e e endorsed the principle that the 

rule of  law applies equally to ordinary citizens 

and high government officials. To that end, L e e 

forcefully affirmed the doctrine of  judicial re­

view. In the American system of government, 

which rests upon a separation of powers, the 

judiciary has emerged as the ultimate safe­

guard of the people’s liberty. The legislature 

enacts laws and the executive branch enforces 

them, but, in modern America, only the courts 

have the critical task of interpreting the law. 

As Chief Justice John Marshall observed in 

M a rb u ry v . M a d iso n , “ It is emphatically the 

province and duty of the judicial department 

to say what the law is.” 62
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In the Ar lingto n cas e , the Su p re m e Co u r t 

did e xactly that. The o u tco m e o f ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU n ite d S ta te s 

v. L e e m ade cle ar that the Co ns titu tio n is no t 

s u s p e nde d in war tim e . At all tim e s , le gal and 

co ns titu tio nal lim its go ve rn the e xe rcis e o f o f­

ficial power. As Justice Miller explained in 

L e e , “ All  the officers of the government, from 

the highest to the lowest, are creatures of the 

law, and are bound to obey it.”  The law, Miller  

emphasized, “ is the only supreme power in our 

system of government.” 63

The Civil  War posed the most severe test 

the American system of law and government 

has ever faced. The vast conflict transformed 

the country and gave rise to a modern na­

tion. But, as the outcome of U n ite d S ta te s v. 

L e e demonstrated, the cornerstone idea that 

the government is accountable to the people 

survived the war intact. In the end, therefore, 

the Arlington case stands for the principle that

we have a “ government of laws and not of
«64men.

Editor’s Note: This article is adapted from 

T h e L a s t B a t t le  o f  t h e C iv i l  W a r :  U n i te d  

States versus Lee, 1861-1883 (Baton Rouge: 

Louisiana State University Press, 2011) by 

Anthony J. Gaughan. The copyright to this 

material is held by Louisiana State University 

Press. Mr. Gaughan is an assistant professor 

of law at Drake University Law School in Des 

Moines, Iowa.
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R ufus W . P eckham  and  the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

P ursu it of E conom ic Freedom KJIHGFEDCBA

J A M E S  W .  E L Y ,  J R .* tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

It is s tr iking that Ru fu s W. Pe ckham has re ce ive d s o little s cho lar ly atte ntio n and re m ains 

witho u t a bio grap hy . He was , o f co u rs e , the au tho r o f ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o c h n e r v . N e w Y o rk (1905),' one of the 

most famous and contested decisions in the history of the Supreme Court. Moreover, Peckham 

wrote important opinions dealing with contractual freedom, anti-trust law, eminent domain, 

dormant commerce power, and the Eleventh Amendment. Indeed, Owen M. Fiss maintains that 

Peckham and David J. Brewer were intellectual leaders of  the Fuller Court, “ influential within the 

dominant coalition and the source of  the ideas that gave the Court its sweep and direction.”  Even 

when they did not prevail, Fiss observed, Peckham and Brewer “ set the terms for the debate.” 2

Why has such an influential jurist been 

so conspicuously overlooked in the historical 

literature? One might be tempted to explain 

this neglect in terms of the disdain that many 

scholars feel toward the jurisprudence of the 

Gilded Age, with its emphasis on economic 

liberty and limited government. It is an old 

adage that winners write history. Scholars who 

view the work of the Supreme Court through 

the lens of the Progressive and New Deal 

mind-set would likely have little sympathy 

for Peckham.3 After all, he was skeptical 

about much of the legislation associated with 

the Progressive movement and strenuously 

rejected the emerging statist liberalism.

While, no doubt, this is a partial expla­

nation, it is not ultimately persuasive. Other 

leading jurists of  the late nineteenth century—

Stephen J. Field,4 Melville  W. Fuller,5 Brewer,6 

Thomas M. Cooley7—have received consider­

able scholarly attention. Even the controversial 

L o c h n e r decision has been the subject of revi­

sionist and more sympathetic accounts in re­

cent years.8 So we are left with an unresolved 

question as to why Justice Peckham lingers 

in relative obscurity. I propose in this article 

to take a fresh look at Peckham’s career and 

assess his signature issue, a commitment to 

liberty of contract.

B ackground

Born in 1838 in Albany, New York, Peckham 

was part of a family of prominent lawyers and 

judges. Indeed, in many respects Peckham’s
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e ar ly care e r fo llo we d in the fo o ts te p s o f his 

fathe r . The e lde r Pe ckham was a dis tr ict atto r­

ney, a member of  Congress, and served on both 

the New York Supreme Court and the Court of 

Appeals. Rufus Peckham was educated locally 

and studied law in his father’s office. He was 

admitted to the New York bar in 1859. Joining 

the family firm, Peckham built a successful 

practice representing the Albany and Susque­

hanna Railroad, a local bank, and real estate 

interests.

Peckham was very active in Democratic 

party affairs and in 1868 he was elected dis trict 

attorney for Albany County, a post that he held 

for three years. From 1881 to 1883 he was cor­

poration counsel for the City of Albany. Par­

ticipating regularly in Democratic party con­

ventions at both the national and state level, 

Peckham emerged as a leading spokesman for 

upstate Democrats in their struggle to prevent 

domination of the party by Tammany Hall, 

a New York City-based political group. He 

formed a close friendship with Grover Cleve­

land, and actively supported Cleveland’s rise in

New York political life. In 1883 Peckham was 

elected to the New York Supreme Court. Three 

years later, then-President Cleveland helped to 

engineer Peckham’s election to the New York 

Court of Appeals.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C ourt o f A ppea ls

During his nearly ten years on the appellate 

bench, Peckham proved to be an able judge 

who avoided partisanship. He authored more 

than 300 opinions for the Court on a wide va­

riety of private law topics, including property, 

torts, contracts, and wills. Peckham wrote only 

eight dissenting opinions, but dissented more 

than 80 times without opinion. For our pur­

poses, however, Peckham’s opinions raising 

constitutional issues are of special interest. He 

demonstrated skepticism about governmental 

regulation of  the economy, an aversion to class 

legislation, and a disposition to define liberty 

as encompassing economic freedom. Since 

Peckham carried these views with him to the

B orn in  A lbany in 1838 , R ufus P eckham  s tud ied law  a t h is  fa the r’s firm  fo r tw o  yea rs be fo re pass ing  the  bar 

in 1859 . H e becam e a lead ing c itizen o f the A lbany com m un ity and a ttrac ted such no tab le c lien ts as the  

A lbany and S usquehanna R a ilroad .
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P eckham  w as invo lved in  po litics in  the  upsta te  w ing  

o f the D em ocra tic party o f N ew Y ork . H e becam e  

friends w ith G rove r C leve land (above ), the fo rm er 

m ayor o f B uffa lo , w ho w ou ld becom e P res iden t in  

1885 a fte r a s tin t as gove rno r o f the s ta te . C leve ­

land  eng inee red P eckham 's e lec tion  to  the N ew  Y ork  

C ourt o f A ppea ls in 1886 .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

U.S. Supreme Court, his work on the Court of 

Appeals warrants careful consideration.

Peckham’s opinion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP e o p le v . G il lso n 

(1888) is especially revealing.9 At issue was 

the act of  the defendant in giving away a teacup 

and saucer to the purchaser of two pounds of 

coffee as part of a promotional scheme. The 

state alleged that this transaction violated a 

section of the penal code that banned the dis­

tribution of  a gift  or prize with the sale of  food. 

It argued that the measure was a valid exercise 

of the police power to prohibit lotteries and 

prevent the sale of unwholesome food. Speak­

ing for a unanimous bench, Peckham found 

that the statute amounted to a deprivation of 

both liberty and property without due process 

of law as guaranteed by the New York Consti­

tution. Emphasizing that liberty encompassed 

the right “ to earn his livelihood in any law­

ful calling and to pursue any lawful trade or

avocation,”  he pictured the statute as an anti­

competitive regulation. It was, Peckham com­

plained, “ of that kind which has been so fre­

quent of late, a kind which is meant to pro­

tect some class in the community against the 

fair, free and full competition of some other 

class...” 10 He insisted that the statute in­

fringed upon the liberty of the owner to pur­

sue a lawful calling and deprived the owner of 

property by curtailing the power of sale. After 

considering at length the state’s police power 

argument, Peckham concluded that there was 

no element of chance here and hence no lot­

tery. Conceding that the legislature could ban 

lotteries and prevent sale of adultered food, he 

declared that the statute did not accomplish 

either purpose.

Peckham’s G il lso n opinion anticipates 

much of his reasoning in L o c h n e r . He broadly 

defined liberty to include economic activi­

ties and required the state to demonstrate that 

its exercise of regulatory authority was “ rea­

sonably necessary for the common welfare.”  

Peckham did not accept the state’s ostensible 

purpose at face value. Instead, he undertook 

an extensive economic analysis of the regula­

tion and independently weighed the evidence, 

finding that the measure had no relationship 

to its alleged purpose. Thus, Peckham persua­

sively ruled that, on the facts presented, the 

state failed to justify its interference with lib ­

erty and property. Moreover, the G il lso n opin­

ion underscores Peckham’s intellectual debt to 

Jacksonian Democracy, with its stress on equal 

rights and distrust of class legislation. The 

Jacksonian distaste for granting special eco­

nomic privilege and preference for competi­

tion had a significant impact on constitutional 

thought in the Gilded Age."

It bears emphasis that Peckham’s solici­

tude for economic liberty was not confined to 

business enterprise. He championed the right 

to pursue ordinary trades, a right seemingly 

threatened by the rise of occupational licens­

ing in the late nineteenth century. Accord­

ingly, Peckham viewed occupational licens­

ing with deep skepticism. In N e c h a m e u s v.
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W a rd e n o f th e C ity P r iso ntsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA (1895) the court 

majority upheld a state law that required 

master plumbers— those who employed other 

plumbers to work for them— to pass an exam­

ination and obtain a license from a board of 

plumbers.12 The act did not apply to persons 

just working as plumbers. The majority rea­

soned that the statute, although coming “ pretty 

close”  to the borderline of legitimate police 

power, related to public health and welfare. In 

a vigorous dissent, however, Peckham blasted 

the licensure scheme as a deprivation of the 

liberty to follow  an ordinary trade. Finding no 

health or safety rationale for the act, he de­

clared:

... it would seem quite apparent that 

its purpose is to enable the employing 

plumbers to create a sort of guild or 

body among themselves, into which 

none is to be permitted to enter ex­

cepting as he may pass an examina­

tion, the requisites are not stated...

Peckham added that the license requirement 

was “ vicious in its purpose and that it tends 

directly to the creation and fostering of a 

monopoly.” 13

S uprem e C ourt A ppoin tm ent

Peckham’s path to the Supreme Court provides 

a glimpse into Gilded Age patronage politics. 

President Cleveland and Senator David B. 

Hill  were locked in a struggle over control 

of the New York Democratic party. In 1894, 

Cleveland nominated William B. Hornblower, 

a leading New York City attorney, to fill  a 

vacancy on the Supreme Court. Hornblower 

had conducted an investigation into judicial 

election irregularities, and, in so doing, antag­

onized then Governor Hill.  In retaliation, Hill  

successfully urged the Senate to reject Horn- 

blower’s nomination. Cleveland then turned to 

Wheeler H. Peckham, the brother of Rufus. 

A prominent advocate of legal reform, 

Wheeler Peckham practiced in New York City 

and was not politically active. Nonetheless,

Senator Hill  perceived a threat, and again in­

voked senatorial courtesy in persuading the 

Senate to vote against confirmation.14 At this 

time, however, Hill  praised Rufus Peckham as 

one who “ would make a magnificent mem­

ber of  the Supreme Court.” 15 Frustrated by his 

failure to find an acceptable New York nomi­

nee, President Cleveland named Edward Dou­

glass White, a senator from Louisiana, who 

was readily confirmed. A  year later there was 

another vacancy on the Supreme Court. Hav­

ing at last mended relations with Senator Hill,  

Cleveland named his close friend Rufus Peck­

ham as his final appointee to the Supreme 

Court in December of 1895. The nomination 

was enthusiastically received. T h e N e w Y o rk 

T im e s declared that Peckham “ is admirably 

qualified for the place by integrity, by learn­

ing, by judicial temperament, and by judicial 

experience.” 16 Hill  endorsed the nomination, 

and Peckham was confirmed only a few days 

later with no recorded opposition. Peckham 

took his seat on the Court on January 6, 1896, 

and served for fourteen years.

The Fuller C ourt

The Framers of the Constitution and Bill  of 

Rights believed that respect for private prop­

erty was closely linked to political liberty. 

Echoing this view, the federal courts had 

long been concerned with safeguarding prop­

erty and contractual rights against legislative 

abridgement.17 In the late nineteenth century, 

the Supreme Court, under the leadership of 

Chief Justice Melville  W. Fuller (1888-1910), 

afforded heightened scrutiny to the rights of 

property owners in the face of  the nascent reg­

ulatory state.18

Thus, before Peckham’s appointment, the 

Fuller Court had invoked a substantive reading 

of due process to establish judicial review of 

state rate regulations,19 strengthened the po­

sition of property owners under the takings 

clause of  the Fifth Amendment,20 struck down 

state laws that interfered with trade among the 

states,21 invalidated the 1894 income tax as an
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U nder the leade rsh ip o f C h ie f Justice M elv ille W . F u lle r (1888 -1910), the S uprem e C ourt a ffo rded he igh t­

ened scru tiny to the righ ts o f prope rty ow ners in the face o f the nascen t regu la to ry s ta te . O n the C ourt, 

P eckham  (s tand ing  a t le ft) pa id  cons ide rab le a tten tion to  the righ t to  con trac t.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

u nco ns titu tio nal “ direct tax,” 22 and limited the 

reach of the Sherman Act of 1890.23

In many respects, therefore, Peckham 

joined a Supreme Court on which the dominant 

outlook was congenial to his own convictions. 

He helped to cement trends already evident 

on the Fuller Court, and, at the same time, 

he moved the Court in some new directions. 

Peckham wrote more than 300 majority 

opinions, but only seven dissents. However, 

he dissented without opinion in 139 cases, 

and compiled a dissent rate of 4.9 percent.24 

Although Peckham was one of the more 

prolific dissenters on the Fuller Court, his 

dissent rate is quite low when compared to 

current dissent behavior.

L ibe rty o f C on trac t

Peckham is closely associated with the emerg­

ing liberty-of-contract doctrine, and indeed 

he played a key role in the Court’s some­

what cautious endorsement of this principle.

Americans of the nineteenth century assigned 

a high value to contractual rights. The law gen­

erally left parties free to promote their own 

interests through contractual arrangements. 

The origin of the liberty-of-contract doctrine, 

which can be traced to several sources, is be­

yond the scope of this paper.25 Suffice it to 

say that, by the late nineteenth century, state 

courts began to strike down some workplace 

regulations as an infringement of the constitu­

tional right to enter agreements.26 In fact, the 

Supreme Court was relatively slow to adopt 

the liberty-of-contract norm. That started to 

change with Peckham’s landmark opinion in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
A llg e y e r v. L o u is ia n a (1897).27

In A llg e y e r , Peckham, speaking for a 

unanimous Court, gave a broad reading to 

the scope of “ liberty”  protected by the Due 

Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

and, for the first time, embraced freedom of 

contract as a constitutional principle. At is­

sue in A llg e y e r was a state law that pro­

hibited an individual within Louisiana from
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P eckham ’s landm ark op in ion in  Allgeyer conce rned a s ta te law  tha t proh ib ited an ind iv idua l w ith in Lou is iana  

from en te ring in to an insu rance con trac t w ith an ou t-o f-s ta te com pany no t qua lified to do bus iness in  

Lou is iana . A llgeye r, a Lou is iana res iden t, had been conv ic ted o f no tify ing a N ew  Y ork insu rance com pany  

o f a sh ipm en t o f co tton cove red by a m arine insu rance po licy ob ta ined in N ew  Y ork . A bove is the C otton  

E xchange bu ild ing in N ew  O rleans.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

e nte r ing into an ins u rance co ntract with an o u t- 

o f-s tate co m p any no t qualified to do business 

in Louisiana. Allgeyer, a Louisiana resident, 

was convicted of notifying a New York insur­

ance company of a shipment of cotton cov­

ered by a marine insurance policy obtained in

New York. Peckham reversed the conviction 

and vigorously declared:

The liberty mentioned in that amend­

ment means not only the right of 

the citizen to be free from the mere
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p hy s ical re s traint o f his p e rs o n, as by 

incarce ratio n, bu t the te rm is de e m e d 

to e m brace the r ight o f the citize n 

to be fre e in the e njo y m e nt o f all 

his faculties; to be free to use them 

in all lawful ways; to live and work 

where he will;  to earn his livelihood 

by any lawful calling; to pursue any 

livelihood or avocation, and for that 

purpose to enter into all contracts 

which may be proper, necessary and 

essential to his carrying out to a 

successful conclusion the purposes 

above mentioned.

He then linked the freedom of contract to “ the 

privilege of pursuing an ordinary calling or 

trade and of acquiring, holding and selling 

property.” 28

Several comments are in order with re­

spect to the outcome of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA llg e y e r . Peckham 

certainly did not bar any role for the states in 

governing contractual freedom. He remarked 

that, pursuant to state police power, contracts 

could be “ regulated and sometimes prohib­

ited”  when they conflicted with state policy 

articulated in a statute.29 The A llg e y e r hold­

ing was also complicated by the fact that the 

challenged statute had direct implications for 

business activity across state lines.30 Peckham 

pointedly noted that state power did not ex­

tend to prohibiting contracts made outside the 

jurisdiction.31 The Supreme Court had long 

sought to guard the national market from state 

interference, and A llg e y e r must be partially 

seen in this light. Finally, the A llg e y e r case 

contradicts the misleading hypothesis fash­

ioned by the Progressives that the Supreme 

Court adopted the freedom-of-contract princi­

ple to aid the propertied and business interests. 

“ The distributional effect of the decision,”  as 

Kermit L. Hall and Peter Karsten have pointed 

out, “ was hardly to protect the rich from the 

poor, because the measure opened to citizens 

of  the state the opportunity to engage an effec­

tive competitor to insurance companies within 

the state.” 32

In any event, most of Peckham’s col­

leagues did not share his devotion to liberty 

of contract. Despite the potentially sweeping 

reach of the freedom-of-contract doctrine, the 

Supreme Court did not apply this principle 

again for a number of years. In a series of 

cases, the justices rejected the contention that 

state laws regulating the terms and conditions 

of employment abridged contractual liberty. 

Thus, the Court upheld a state law limiting  em­

ployment in mines to eight hours a day;33 sus­

tained a state law requiring employers to pay 

workers in money, not script;34 and validated a 

statute limiting  hours of  work on state and mu­

nicipal projects.35 So intense was Peckham’s 

commitment to liberty of contract that he dis­

sented, albeit without opinion, in each of  these 

cases. The Court was similarly reluctant to ap­

ply the liberty-of-contract doctrine in cases in­

volving regulation of business enterprise. For 

example, it  brushed aside a liberty-of-contract 

argument and sustained a state mechanics’ lien 

law.36 The Justices also held that states could 

require grain elevators and warehouses on rail­

road lines to obtain a license to do business.37 

Peckham evidently had no quarrel with these 

outcomes and did not dissent.

By 1905, it appeared at first blush that 

Peckham’s dogged efforts to fashion constitu­

tional protection for contractual freedom un­

der due process had produced a meager re­

sult. The idea of  a constitutional right to make 

contracts free of state oversight seemingly re­

ceived little more than lip service from the 

Fuller Court. Still, the Justices increasingly 

treated liberty of contract as a constitutional 

baseline, and expected the states to justify leg­

islative restrictions on this right. The freedom 

to make agreements could only be curtailed to 

advance the health, safety, and morals of the 

community.

Peckham’s dedication to the liberty of 

contract eventually bore fruit with his famous 

and much-maligned decision in L o c h n e r v . 

N e w Y o rk (1905).38 The case has been treated 

extensively elsewhere and will receive just 

brief attention here. It involved a challenge
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to a s tate law that lim ite d wo rk in bake r ie s to 

te n ho u rs a day o r s ixty ho u rs a we e k. Writ­

ing for a 5^1 majority of the Court, Peckham 

struck down the measure as an infringement 

of contractual freedom. He maintained: “ The 

general right to make a contract in relation to 

his business is part of the liberty of the in­

dividual protected by the Fourteenth Amend­

ment of the Federal Constitution.” 39 Peckham 

conceded that a state could impose “ reason­

able conditions”  on the enjoyment of  both lib ­

erty and property. He further agreed that the 

state could inspect bakeries and enact mea­

sures to improve workplace conditions. Peck­

ham drew the line, however, at regulations gov­

erning working hours. He was not persuaded 

that baking was an unhealthy trade, and he 

could see no relationship between hours of 

work and the health of bakers. Consequently, 

Peckham asserted that the “ real object and pur­

pose”  of  the law was to regulate labor relations, 

not to achieve the purported goal of  safeguard­

ing either public or employee health. In other 

words, he viewed the hours limitation as pro­

moting a class interest rather than a traditional 

police power concern with health and safety. 

“ It  is impossible for us to shut our eyes,”  Peck­

ham lectured, “ to the fact that many of  the laws 

of this character, while passed under what is 

claimed to be the police power for the pur­

pose of  protecting the public health or welfare, 

are, in reality, passed from other motives.” 40 

Declaring that bakers were capable of look­

ing out for their own interests, he character­

ized maximum-hours statutes as “ mere med­

dlesome interferences with the rights of the 

individual.” 41

At first, the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o c h n e r decision aroused lit ­

tle public interest.42 Prominent figures in the 

Progressive Movement of the early twentieth 

century, however, came to see the ruling as 

a barrier to their agenda of legislative reform 

of working and social conditions. So notori­

ous did the decision eventually become that 

scholars have coined the misleading phrase 

“ L o c h n e r era”  to characterize an entire period 

of Supreme Court history.

Among other problems, the notion of a 

L o c h n e r era conveys an erroneous impres­

sion of the Supreme Court’s adherence to the 

liberty-of-contract doctrine.43 Judges of the 

supposed L o c h n e r era, we are still frequently 

told, sought to impose their laissez-faire ide­

ology on the polity. Revisionist scholarship 

has destroyed much of this once conventional 

story. Many of  the stock criticisms of  L o c h n e r 

are quite wide of the mark.44 It bears empha­

sis, moreover, that the L o c h n e r decision was 

atypical and was never steadily followed by 

the Supreme Court.45 Instead, the Court infre­

quently invoked the freedom-of-contract prin­

ciple and found that most regulatory legisla­

tion passed constitutional muster. Gregory S. 

Alexander has cogently pointed out that “ even 

during the period between 1885 and 1930, 

the supposed height of laissez-faire constitu­

tionalism, the courts, federal and state, did 

not uniformly sustain the liberty-of-contract 

principle.” 46

In fact, the Fuller Court only invoked 

the liberty of contract doctrine in one other 

case while Peckham was on the Bench. In 

A d a ir v. U n ite d S ta te s (1908), Justice John 

Marshall Harlan, writing for the majority, in­

validated a congressional statute that banned 

so-called yellow dog contracts on railroads.47 

Such contracts made it a condition of  employ­

ment that workers not join a labor union. In­

voking L o c h n e r , Harlan affirmed “ the general 

proposition that there is a liberty of contract 

which cannot be unreasonably interfered with 

by legislation.”

In other respects, however, the Justices be­

gan almost immediately to move away from 

L o c h n e r . In M u lle r  v . O re g o n (1908), for in­

stance, they upheld a state law restricting the 

number of  working hours for women in facto­

ries and laundries in an opinion that reflected 

paternalist assumptions about the place of 

women in society.48 Peckham must have found 

this analysis persuasive, for he joined in the 

M u lle r opinion. A year later, the Court in 

M c L e a n v . A rk a n sa s (1909) brushed aside 

a freedom-of-contract objection and upheld
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a co al-we ighing s tatu te requiring that min­

ers’ wages be calculated by the weight of 

coal mined before screening.49 Analogizing 

the measure to laws preventing fraud, the 

Court noted that statutes mandating honest 

weights “ have frequently been sustained in the 

courts, although in compelling certain modes 

of dealing they interfere with the freedom of 

contract.”  This case, the last that raised is­

sues of  contractual freedom during Peckham’s 

tenure, found him once again dissenting with­

out opinion.

It is evident that Peckham was more 

committed to liberty of contract than most 

of his colleagues even on the property­

conscious Fuller Court. Not only did Peck­

ham stand out in his dedication to contrac­

tual freedom, but the Supreme Court, both 

during his life and subsequently, wielded 

the doctrine sparingly. Eventually, of course, 

the Court rejected liberty of contract as a 

constitutional norm.50 This repudiation has 

done much to cloud Peckham’s historical 

reputation.

Yet Peckham and ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o c h n e r cannot be ban­

ished so easily from our constitutional history. 

L o c h n e r , to be sure, is regularly cast as a bogey 

by scholars from a wide range of ideological 

perspectives, although for different reasons. 

But its enduring significance lies elsewhere. 

Peckham’s decision in L o c h n e r remains at the 

heart of  a continuing dialogue about the role of 

the judiciary in American life. To what extent 

are courts free to review legislative determina­

tions? To what extent are they bound to defer to 

the political branches of  government? In short, 

L o c h n e r is at the center of the endless dis­

cussion over judicial activism. No matter how 

much some scholars may revile L o c h n e r—  

and much of this criticism is exaggerated in 

my view— they cannot escape dealing with 

its contested legacy. Indeed, an ocean of ink 

has been spilt by scholars attempting to dif­

ferentiate judicial activism in support of civil  

rights and civil  liberties following World War 

II  with earlier judicial solicitude for economic

rights.51 One may well question whether there 

is a principled distinction, but that is a topic 

for another day.

Takings Jurisprudence

During the tenure of Chief Justice Fuller, the 

Supreme Court, for the first time, came to grips 

in a sustained way with the takings issue. In 

this area, Peckham invariably voted with the 

majority and authored several important opin­

ions. It should be noted that, in this era, the 

Court sometimes conflated taking of  property 

with deprivation of property without due pro­

cess of law under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

With the notable exception of the just com­

pensation norm,52 the Fuller Court declined to 

extend the guarantees of the Bill  of Rights to 

the states. As a result, Peckham and his col­

leagues analyzed some cases under the due 

process framework that today would likely  be 

treated as a takings issue.

Peckham wrote three opinions that bear 

on the contested meaning of “ public use”  for 

the exercise of eminent domain power. Since 

these decisions have figured prominently in 

the current debate over the “ public use” re­

quirement, they deserve careful attention.53 At 

issue in U n ite d S ta te s v . G e tty sb u rg E le c tr ic 

R a ilw a y C o m p a n y (1896) was the authority of 

the federal government to acquire by eminent 

domain parcels of land in order to preserve 

the Gettysburg battlefield as a park.54 Oppos­

ing counsel primarily argued that the powers of 

the national government did not encompass the 

preservation of historic sites. Peckham, speak­

ing for a unanimous Court, had no difficulty  in 

concluding that the proposed use of land was 

of national importance and therefore within 

the powers of Congress. Of course, the his­

toric park would be open to the public and 

would satisfy the most stringent definition of 

“ public use.”  Nonetheless, Peckham offered 

some brief comments about the exercise of 

eminent domain. Pointing out that “ the full
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valu e o f the p ro p e r ty take n”  must be paid by 

the public through taxation, he optimistically 

asserted that there was little danger of gov­

ernmental abuse of  this power. Peckham, how­

ever, adopted a more cautious approach when 

eminent domain was delegated to a private en­

terprise. “ In that case,”  he observed, “ the pre­

sumption that the intended use for which the 

corporation proposes to take the land is pub­

lic, is not so strong as where the government 

intends to use the land itself.” 55

A  few months later, in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF a llb ro o k I r r ig a ­

t io n D is tr ic t v. B ra d le y (1896), Peckham had 

an opportunity to amplify his understanding of 

the “ public use”  norm.56 In fact, F a llb ro o k was 

really not an eminent domain case.57 Rather, it 

involved a lawsuit by a landowner in Califor­

nia contesting an assessment imposed on her 

land by an irrigation district for the purpose 

of providing water for arid lands. The federal

circuit court enjoined the collector of the irri ­

gation district from selling the plaintiff ’s land 

for nonpayment of the assessment. Her objec­

tion was premised on the notion that irriga­

tion was not a public purpose, and hence the 

assessment constituted a deprivation of prop­

erty without due process of law under L o a n 

A sso c ia t io n v. T o p e k a (1874).58 Rejecting this 

contention, Peckham deferred to decisions of 

the California courts that irrigation was a pub­

lic  use under the state constitution and laws. It 

followed that the assessment did not unconsti­

tutionally deprive the plaintiff of property in 

violation of due process.

Since the challenge in F a llb ro o k was to 

governmental taxing authority, Peckham cor­

rectly spoke largely in terms of “ public pur­

pose.” Indeed, he formulated the crucial in­

quiry as follows: “ Is this assessment, for the 

non-payment of which the land of the plaintiff
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was to be s o ld, le vie d fo r a p u blic p u rp o s e ?” 59 

Nonetheless, Peckham did discuss the issue of 

“ public use”  in his somewhat rambling opin­

ion. With no condemnation of property be­

fore the Court, however, his remarks have the 

character of dictum. Peckham was prepared 

to allow states some latitude concerning the 

exercise of eminent domain. “ It is obvious,”  

he observed, “ that what is a public use fre­

quently and largely depends upon the facts 

and circumstances surrounding the particular 

subject-matter in regard to which the charac­

ter of the use is questioned.”  Still, he insisted 

that “ [t]he use for which private property is to 

be taken must be a public use.” Importantly, 

Peckham was persuaded that the irrigation of 

arid and “ otherwise worthless” land was a 

“ public use,”  a term that he used interchange­

ably with “ public purpose.” 60 In his mind it 

was not necessary that the entire community 

should be able to enjoy an improvement in or­

der to render it a “ public use.”  But Peckham 

emphasized that “ [a]ll landowners in the dis­

trict have the right to a proportionate share of 

the water, and no one landowner is favored 

above his fellow in his right to use the wa­

ter.”  He concluded that providing water to arid

land was a “ public purpose,”  the cost of which 

could be legitimately paid by general taxes or 

assessments.61 All  in all, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF a llb ro o k , which fo­

cused primarily on taxation issues, is a curi­

ous case to be treated as a seminal authority in 

defining “ public use”  in the context of  eminent 

domain.

That Peckham did not give a carte blanche 

endorsement to the taking of private property 

was demonstrated by M isso u r i P a c if ic R a ilw a y 

C o m p a n y v. N e b ra sk a (1896), a case in which 

he joined the Court’s opinion.62 At issue was a 

Nebraska statute that authorized a state agency 

to compel a railroad to grant part of its land 

to private individuals for the purpose of erect­

ing a grain elevator. The law was a response to 

agitation by farm organizations seeking to con­

trol the price of grain storage by establishing 

competing facilities. The Court described the 

proceedings as “ in essence and effect, a taking 

of private property of the railroad corporation, 

for the private use of the petitioners.” 63 It in­

validated the statute on grounds that the taking 

of the private property of one person by the 

state for the private use of another violated the 

due process clause of the Fourteenth Amend­

ment. The ruling seemed to bar the exercise 

of eminent domain for the benefit of private 

parties.

Justice Peckham’s third opinion dealing 

with the “ public use” issue, C la rk v. N a sh 

(1905), also involved the irrigation of arid 

land.64 A  Utah statute empowered individuals 

to condemn land for the purpose of obtaining 

water for mining or irrigation. In C la rk , the 

plaintiff, who was entitled to use water from a 

nearby creek, sought to widen by one foot an 

already existing ditch on the defendant’s con­

tiguous land. The evidence indicated that wa­

ter would reach the plaintiff ’s property through 

such an enlarged ditch. The Supreme Court of 

Utah, broadly defining “ public use”  as a taking 

that promoted public interest, affirmed a con­

demnation order conditioned upon payment of 

S40 in compensation to the defendant. The de­

fendant argued before the Supreme Court that 

this action amounted to a taking for private,
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no t p u blic, u s e , and consequently deprived the 

defendant of property without due process of 

law in  violation of  the Fourteenth Amendment.

Peckham began his opinion by asserting 

that in many states the defendant’s contention 

would be sound, but stressed that a determi­

nation of “ public use” might be contingent 

upon unique local circumstances. Whether ob­

taining water was for a “ public use,”  he ob­

served, “ may depend upon a number of con­

siderations relating to the situation of  the State 

and its possibilities for land cultivation, or the 

successful prosecution of its mining or other 

industries.”  When the exercise of eminent do­

main was based “ upon some peculiar condi­

tion of  the soil or climate, or other peculiarity 

of the State,”  Peckham added, the Supreme 

Court was inclined to defer to the judgment 

of  state lawmakers.65 Having stressed the fact- 

dependent nature of  the determination of  “ pub­

lic  use,”  Peckham then misleadingly stated that 

the earlier ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF a llb ro o k case turned upon the con­

demnation of land by a corporation to obtain 

a water supply. As we have seen, that case, 

in fact, involved the validity of a special tax 

assessment. Not surprisingly, Peckham found 

that allowing the plaintiff  to enlarge the ditch to 

irrigate land “ which otherwise would remain 

absolutely valueless”  satisfied the “ public use”  

norm.66 Under these particular circumstances, 

he was evidently persuaded that the modest 

incursion on private property by the irrigation 

scheme could be justified by the overall re­

source benefit for the public.

It  bears emphasis, however, that Peckham 

expressly confined the reach of C la rk to its 

facts. In language often unaccountably omit­

ted from subsequent treatment of C la rk , he 

declared: “ But we do not desire to be un­

derstood by this decision as approving of the 

broad proposition that private property may be 

taken in all cases where the taking may pro­

mote the public interest and tend to develop 

the natural resources of the State.” 67 While 

Peckham might be faulted for employing some 

imprecise language in his three eminent do­

main opinions, he never held that legislative

determinations of “ public use”  were virtually 

conclusive or that private property could be 

taken for any supposed public purpose. More­

over, the factual context of F a llb ro o k and 

C la rk is important. It is not difficult  to dis­

tinguish taking a narrow strip of arid land, 

which involved no displacement of  residences 

or business enterprises, from more recent eco­

nomic development projects.68

R ate R egulation

One of the most protracted and vexing issues 

before the Supreme Court during Peckham’s 

tenure was the extent to which state or federal 

governments could control the rates charged 

by railroads. As the principal arteries of com­

merce and travel among the states, railroads 

occupied a vital place in American life at the 

turn of the twentieth century. Shippers and 

farmers saw the carriers as wielding monopoly 

power and charging excessive rates. Railroads, 

on the other hand, asserted that rates imposed 

by state legislatures or governmental agencies 

were often unreasonably low. They argued that 

such regulations indirectly deprived the carri­

ers of  the value of  their property, and amounted 

to a de facto confiscation of  property.69

In a line of decisions rendered before 

Peckham took his place on the Bench, the 

Fuller Court had circumscribed state regula­

tory authority. It established federal judicial 

supervision of state-imposed rates under the 

due process clause of the Fourteenth Amend­

ment, and insisted that railroads were consti­

tutionally entitled to charge reasonable rates 

for the use of their property.70 Peckham was, 

no doubt, in full  agreement with these devel­

opments. Shortly after he became a member 

of the Court, Peckham joined his colleagues 

in holding that legislative control of tolls on a 

private turnpike was subject to the same con­

stitutional limitations.71 More importantly, he 

signed on to the Court’s opinion in S m y th v . 

A m e s (1898), in which the Justices sought 

to distinguish a valid rate regulation from



3 4CBA JO U R N A L O F S U P R E M E  C O U R T H IS TO R YZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

P eckham 's m ost s ign ifican t con tribu tion to the con trove rsy ove r ra te regu la tion w as h is op in ion Ex Parte 

Young (1908 ), w h ich  invo lved a M inneso ta s ta tu te  tha t requ ired reductions in passenger and  fre igh t cha rges . 

A bove is  a ra ilroad fre igh t te rm ina l and  s team sh ip s ta tion in D u lu th .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

co nfis catio n.72 In ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS m y th , the Court ruled that a 

steep reduction in intrastate freight rates man­

dated by the Nebraska legislature constituted 

a deprivation of property without due process 

of law. In so doing, the Court articulated a 

standard for judicial review of rates, ruling 

that a railroad was entitled to a “ fair return”  

upon the “ fair value” of its property. Under 

the “ fair value” rule, courts looked primar­

ily at the current or replacement value of a 

company’s assets as the baseline for calculat­

ing the reasonableness of imposed rates. As a 

consequence of S m y th , the federal courts be­

came deeply involved in rate cases and state 

rate-making authority was sharply restricted. 

Railroad companies increasingly sought fed­

eral court injunctions to restrain enforcement 

of state-fixed rates.

Some states were so upset at federal ju­

dicial review of intrastate rates that they at­

tempted to deter railroads from pursuing re­

lief in the federal courts. This set the stage 

for Peckham’s most significant contribution to 

the controversy over rate regulation. At issue 

in the seminal case of E x P a r te Y o u n g (1908) 

was a Minnesota statute that required reduc­

tions in passenger and freight charges.73 It 

also specified huge fines and severe crimi­

nal penalties on railroads and their agents for 

violation of the act. The obvious purpose be­

hind these penalties was to intimidate carriers 

and their officers from testing the validity of 

the rate reductions in court. Maintaining that 

the mandated rates were confiscatory and un­

constitutional, railroad stockholders secured a 

temporary injunction in federal court prohibit­

ing Edward T. Young, the Minnesota attorney 

general, from enforcing the measure. Young 

violated the injunction by attempting to force 

obedience to the new rate schedule in state
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co u r t. Fo u nd gu ilty o f co nte m p t by the fe d­

eral court, Young was fined, directed to dis­

miss the state court proceeding, and jailed un­

til  he complied. Young then sought a writ of 

habeas corpus from the Supreme Court, argu­

ing that the federal court lawsuit was, in  reality, 

against the state in violation of the Eleventh 

Amendment.

Speaking for the Court, Peckham ruled 

that the penalty provisions were unconstitu­

tional on their face because they effectively 

denied access to the federal courts to deter­

mine the adequacy of imposed rates. He co­

gently observed:

... when the penalties for disobedi­

ence are by fines so enormous and 

imprisonment so severe as to intim­

idate the company and its officers 

from resorting to the courts to test 

the validity of the legislation, the re­

sult is the same as if  the law in terms 

prohibited the company from seeking 

judicial construction of laws which 

deeply affect its rights.74

Rejecting the Eleventh Amendment defense, 

Peckham insisted that when a state official 

took steps to enforce an unconstitutional law 

“ he is in that case stripped of his official or 

representative character and is subjected in 

his person to the consequences of his indi­

vidual conduct.” 75 Peckham’s distinction be­

tween suits against states and suits against 

state officials alleged to be acting unconsti­

tutionally relied on a legal fiction that per­

mitted circumvention of  the Eleventh Amend­

ment. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAY o u n g has endured as a foundational 

decision for Eleventh Amendment jurispru­

dence because the power to enjoin state of­

ficials from violating national laws proved es­

sential for maintaining the federal scheme of 

government.76

Our concern, however, is less with the 

intricacies of Eleventh Amendment jurispru­

dence than with what the Y o u n g opinion re­

veals about Peckham’s thinking. Peckham was

surely influenced by his suspicion of  state rail­

road regulations and his desire to protect the 

property rights of the carriers from confisca­

tory rates. To this end, he emphasized that rail­

roads should not be required to risk severe 

penalties in order to obtain federal judicial re­

view of state-imposed rates. Thus, Y o u n g pro­

vides a jurisdictional counterpart for S m y th . It 

was vital to preserve access to a federal forum 

in order to guarantee that regulated industries 

received a “ fair return”  on their investments. 

Aside from his dedication to the rights of  prop­

erty owners, Peckham was influenced by utili ­

tarian considerations. Protection of  investment 

capital was an important feature of  the work of 

the Fuller era, an attitude that Peckham shared. 

Security of private property was linked with a 

continued flow  of investment capital and with 

economic growth. “ Over eleven million dol­

lars, it is estimated, are invested in railroad 

property, owned by many thousands of peo­

ple who are scattered over the whole coun­

try from ocean to ocean,”  Peckham pointedly 

commented in Y o u n g , “ and they are entitled to 

equal protection from the laws and from the 

courts, with the owners of all other kinds of 

property, no more, no less.” 77

Peckham’s skepticism about rate regula­

tion was also manifest in a series of cases that 

narrowly construed the authority of  the newly 

created Interstate Commerce Commission.78 

(ICC) He repeatedly joined his colleagues in 

limiting the agency’s power to control railroad 

charges. The Interstate Commerce Act did not 

expressly empower the ICC to fix  rates, but 

the commission assumed that its authority to 

review the reasonableness of  rates included by 

implication such power. The Supreme Court 

halted this practice in IC C  v . C in c in n a ti , N e w 

O r le a n s a n d T e x a s P a c if ic R a ilw a y C o m p a n y 

(1897), reasoning that a rate-making power 

could not be implied.79 The ICC was thus com­

pelled to stop its efforts to set rates for rail­

roads. Even more telling was the Court’s inter­

pretation of  the long haul-short haul clause of 

the Interstate Commerce Act. This clause was
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aim e d at the p e rce ive d p r ice dis cr im inatio n, 

which o ccu r re d whe n railro ads charge d m o re 

fo r s ho r t hau l fre ight s hip m e nts than fo r lo ng 

hau l. By ru ling in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAIC C  v. A la b a m a M id la n d 

R a ilw a y C o m p a n y (1897) that the existence of 

competing rail facilities must be considered 

in applying this clause, the Court effectively 

negated the long haul-short haul provision of 

the act.80

Peckham’s voting pattern in the rate reg­

ulation cases demonstrates his preference for 

private economic ordering and reluctance to al­

low broad governmental control over charges. 

Still, Peckham and his colleagues stopped 

well short of blocking all governmental su­

pervision of railroad charges or mandating a 

supposed laissez-faire regime on the indus­

try. They sought a middle ground, seeking to 

bar the imposition of unrenumerative rates. 

Rate regulation was particularly suspect be­

cause it altered the working of the market 

economy and implicitly  served to redistribute 

property.

R egu la tion o f H ea lth , S afe ty , and  

M ora ls

Notwithstanding his dedication to economic 

liberty and his dislike of rate controls, 

Peckham upheld numerous regulations that 

fell within the ambit of traditional state po­

lice power to protect the health, safety, and 

morals of the public. He repeatedly sustained 

health and safety measures against challenges 

that such laws amounted to a deprivation of 

property without due process.

For example, Peckham, writing for the 

Court, validated a Chicago ordinance requir­

ing a license to sell cigarettes.81 He stressed 

that states were free to determine what kinds 

of businesses ought to be licensed to pre­

serve community health and safety. Moreover, 

Peckham ruled that, pursuant to the police 

power, states could seize and destroy unwhole­

some food without providing the owner a prior 

hearing. Emphasizing “ the right and duty of 

the State to protect and guard... the lives and 

health of its inhabitants,”  he declared that food 

unfit for human consumption was “ a nuisance 

of the most dangerous kind.” 82

In an age before comprehensive zoning, 

Peckham was prepared to sustain legislation 

requiring owners to incur expenses in order 

to comply with health and safety regulations. 

In 1906, he joined the Court in upholding a 

New York law directing tenement owners to 

install windows and modern sanitary facili­

ties.83 Peckham’s vote here was not surpris­

ing given his opinion as a New York judge 

in R e c to r o f T r in ity C h u rc h upholding ear­

lier tenement reform legislation. Peckham was 

also sympathetic to fledgling land use con­

trols. In W e lc h v. S w a se y (1909), writing for 

the Court, he affirmed the validity of statutes 

limiting the height of buildings.84 Stressing 

the importance of local circumstances, Peck­

ham ruled that it  was reasonable to distinguish 

between the height of buildings in residen­

tial and commercial districts. He justified this 

classification by explaining that taller build­

ings in commercial areas posed less danger in
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the e ve nt o f fire . In this co nte xt, Pe ckham was 

incline d to de fe r to the ju dgm e nt o f the s tate 

co u r ts that the s tatu te p ro m o te d p u blic s afe ty . 

By im p licitly re co gnizing that the e njo y m e nt 

o f land by p r ivate o wne rs co u ld ne gative ly im­

pact third owners, he paved the way for more 

intensive land use controls.

Railroading was an especially haz­

ardous enterprise, posing dangers to adjacent 

landowners and employees. As a result, both 

state and federal governments in  the nineteenth 

century imposed safety standards on the carri­

ers. Peckham regularly voted to affirm the va­

lidity  of such measures. He agreed, for exam­

ple, that states could make railroads absolutely 

liable for damages from fires caused by rail­

road operations.85 Likewise, Peckham voted 

to broadly construe and vigorously enforce 

the Safety Appliance Act, which required rail­

roads in interstate commerce to use air brakes 

and automatic couplers.86 The act also banned 

the assumption of the risk defense for injuries 

arising from violations of  the statute.

Yet there were limits to how far Peckham 

was prepared to modify common law tort rules 

in the context of railroad accidents. He joined 

the dissenters when the Court held that the 

statutory abolition of assumption of the risk 

by the Safety Appliance Act also operated to 

relieve employees from liability  for contribu­

tory negligence.87 The dissenters argued that 

contributory negligence was a distinct defense 

from assumption of risk, and that the act did 

not set aside the ordinary rules of contribu­

tory negligence. Moreover, in cases arising un­

der diversity of citizenship jurisdiction, Peck­

ham consistently voted to invoke the fellow 

servant doctrine to deny recovery to injured 

or killed railroad employees.88 Nor was he 

receptive to congressional attempts to abol­

ish the fellow servant rule with respect to 

common carriers. In the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE m p lo y e rs ’  L ia b i l i ty  

C a se s (1908), the Supreme Court ruled that the 

Federal Employers’ Liability  Act was uncon­

stitutional because it  covered railroad employ­

ees engaged in intrastate as well as interstate 

commerce.89 The Court pointed out, however,

that Congress could regulate employment re­

lationships within interstate commerce. In a 

concurring opinion, Peckham, joined by two 

other Justices, agreed that the act was unconsti­

tutional because it reached injuries occurring 

in intrastate traffic. But he pointedly refused 

to accept “ all that is stated as to the power 

of Congress to legislate upon the subject of 

the relations between master and servant.” 90 

Evidently, Peckham questioned the power of 

Congress to regulate issues relating to employ­

ment at all. It is fair to conclude that Peckham 

was slow to realize that, in an age of danger­

ous equipment and a complex workplace, the 

fellow servant rule was an unsuitable doctrine 

to address work-related injuries in a modem 

industrial setting. Instead, he clung to the no­

tion that individuals were free agents who had 

to accept responsibility for their own careless­

ness. Fault was the only legitimate basis on 

which to impose liability  for accidents.

By the late nineteenth century, public 

health authorities sought to check smallpox 

epidemics by compulsory vaccination.91 Ef­

forts to protect the community by such pro­

grams pitted exercise of the police power to 

halt spread of the disease against claims of 

individual liberty. This conflict occurred in 

a climate in which much of the public re­

mained fearful of vaccination and disliked 

governmental intrusion in what was seen as 

private health decisions. In 1902, confronted 

with a smallpox epidemic in Massachusetts, 

the Cambridge board of health, pursuant to 

state law, required all residents not recently 

vaccinated to submit to the procedure. Rev. 

Henning Jacobson, an outspoken opponent 

of vaccination, refused to be vaccinated and 

was fined $5. Massachusetts courts dismissed 

Jacobson’s challenge to the constitutionality of 

the compulsory vaccination law, and he peti­

tioned the Supreme Court.92

In J a c o b so n v . M a ssa c h u se tts (1905) the 

Supreme Court, by a vote of seven to two, 

broadly upheld state authority to enact “ health 

laws of every description”  to safeguard the 

public.93 The Court reasoned that the common
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go o d m u s t p re vail o ve r claim s o f individ­

ual liberty. It conceded, however, that there 

could be situations where public health mea­

sures were “ sufficiently arbitrary and oppres­

sive ... as to justify the interference of the 

courts.”  Peckham, joined by Justice Brewer, 

dissented without opinion. He apparently felt 

that requiring a healthy adult to undergo vac­

cination violated the liberty of individuals and 

exposed them to the risks of  vaccination. This 

attitude was consistent with his earlier vote 

on the New York Court of Appeals to limit  

the power to impose smallpox quarantines. 

Peckham’s dissent exemplified his attachment 

to individualism, a principle that in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ a c o b so n 

found expression in an area other than eco­

nomic rights. Moreover, Peckham’s libertarian 

position was not entirely out of step with pub­

lic  opinion. Compulsory vaccination of adults 

became increasingly rare, and public health 

programs focused on vaccination as a school 

entry requirement.94

P eckham ’s Legacy

It  remains to assess briefly Peckham’s jurispru­

dence and to consider his legacy. The cen­

tral tenet of Peckham’s constitutionalism was 

a deep attachment to liberty, a concept that 

he defined largely in terms of economic free­

dom and limited government. Conversely, he 

was hostile to what he perceived as class legis­

lation and schemes to redistribute wealth. As 

Herbert Hovenkamp explains, conservative ju­

rists such as Peckham “ perceived the new in­

terventionist policies of  the Progressive Era as 

the greatest threat to liberty.” 95 To Peckham, 

liberty clearly trumped equality as a constitu­

tional norm. In general terms, he echoed the at­

titudes of  the framers of the Constitution, who 

closely linked respect for property rights with 

liberty.

Like most other members of the Fuller 

Court, Peckham was not shy about invoking ju­

dicial review to safeguard economic rights. As 

a broad proposition, he did not mechanically

defer to legislative judgments. On the contrary, 

as John E.Semonche points out, Peckham was 

a “ believer in the need for an active Court 

sensitive to the task of guarding property and 

contractual rights.” 96 Peckham’s libertarian in­

clinations led him to reject the nascent doctrine 

of judicial deference prompted by Progressives 

of the early twentieth century in order to en­

courage the emerging regulatory state.

Yet Peckham does not fit  the cartoonist 

image fashioned by the Progressive historians 

and their progeny of a one-sided champion 

of large-scale business interests. Although the 

business community may have benefited inci­

dentally from the course of Peckham’s deci­

sions, such a result was not his primary goal. 

Instead, Peckham’s concern was to protect 

small, self-sufficient entrepreneurs from ex­

cessive governmental regulation. He indulged 

no presumption about the legitimacy of leg­

islation that seemed to abridge marketplace 

rights. In these situations, Peckham expected 

lawmakers to show that regulation served tra­

ditional police power ends of public health, 

safety, and morals. In his mind, legislative as­

sertions that regulation was necessary could 

not be regarded as final because lawmakers 

could then circumvent constitutional limits 

and effectively destroy private property and 

contractual freedom in the guise of asserting 

the police power.

It bears emphasis that, for all his devo­

tion to economic liberty, Peckham was not 

a legal theorist or a doctrinaire adherent of 

laissez-faire principles. He was willing  to up­

hold measures safeguarding public health and 

safety. He was also receptive to early land use 

controls and, within bounds, the exercise of 

eminent domain.

An evaluation of the influence and last­

ing significance of Peckham’s jurisprudence 

must proceed with caution. He was clearly 

a stalwart member of the Fuller Court and 

authored a number of leading opinions. But, 

as his frequent dissents demonstrate, Peckham 

did not intellectually dominate his colleagues. 

Consider his signature issue— the liberty of
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co ntract. Pe ckham was ne ve r able to fas hio n 

a co ns is te nt m ajo r ity to s tr ike do wn s tatu te s 

infr inging o n co ntractu al fre e do m . His re co rd 

o f s u cce s s in this are a was de cide dly m ixe d.

It is u ncle ar ho w m u ch o f Pe ckham’s le­

gal outlook retains any vitality in the modern 

age. His historical reputation is inevitably tied 

to the constitutional values of the late nine­

teenth century. For better or worse, our na­

tion has moved far from a constitutional order 

grounded on a limited national government, 

states’ rights, and a high regard for the rights 

of property owners and private market order­

ing. Scholars associated with the Progressive 

movement were sharply critical of constitu­

tionalized property and took particular aim 

at ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL o c h n e r and Peckham. They too often at­

tributed dark motives to him as a defender of 

economic privilege.

Other avenues of  inquiry seem more fruit­

ful. Should Peckham’s career be seen as a sin­

cere if  ultimately futile rear guard action in 

defense of a world that was vanishing? Or are 

other perspectives more compelling? To the 

extent that private property and economic free­

dom continue to play a role in the American 

polity, Peckham cannot be simply erased from 

constitutional dialogue. Indeed, one might ar­

gue that the continuing debate over L o c h n e r 

and the scope of due process protection un­

derscores the lasting significance of  Peckham. 

David Bernstein forcefully argues that discus­

sion over the extent to which due process pro­

tects unenumerated rights “ is a testament to the 

ultimate triumph of Peckham’s vision of the 

due process clause as a source of the Court’s 

power to act as defender of last resort of indi­

vidual liberties against the states, if  not of his 

specific views on the scope of that clause.” 97 

In short, so long as courts persist in a substan­

tive reading of the due process guarantee, it is 

impossible to escape the legacy of Rufus W. 

Peckham.
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On Janu ary 28, 1972, more than 200 co­

workers, family and friends, as well as dozens 

of  prominent judges and government officials, 

arrived at the Washington Hilton Hotel for 

a formal dinner to mark the retirement of 

Bessie Margolin, Associate Solicitor of  Labor. 

This was no ordinary retirement party for 

a Washington bureaucrat. Earl Warren, the 

retired Chief Justice of the United States, was 

a guest speaker; he would sing the praises 

of Margolin, who had argued cases in every 

one of the eleven circuits and twenty-eight 

cases in the Supreme Court, including fifteen 

before Warren himself. Warren and other 

distinguished speakers would reminisce about 

her thirty-three years at the Department of 

Labor, where she oversaw the court enforce­

ment of  the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 

and later the Equal Pay Act.

When it was his turn at the podium, War­

ren summed up her contribution to labor law: 

“ ... I would like to thank [Margolin] tonight, 

because the bare bones of  that Act would have

been wholly inadequate without the imple­

mentation she forged in the courtrooms of  our 

land. Hers must have been an exciting experi­

ence, because the labor laws and particularly 

the FLSA were anathema to many segments 

of our society. Miss Margolin has been largely 

responsible for making both of them mean­

ingful and respectable in all quarters.”  Warren 

also captured the essence of Margolin’s signif­

icance to women: “ What a satisfaction it  must 

be for her in this day and age when women are 

crying out for equality, to realize that she has 

proved equality for them in a man’s world, by 

prevailing in the highest courts of the land in a 

larger percentage of her cases than any lawyer 

of modern times. And all of  this in the interest 

of the working men and women of  America.” 2

Margolin’s distinguished career as a gov­

ernment lawyer was all the more impressive 

considering her religion, gender, and hum­

ble origins. “ Becy Margolyn,” as her name 

originally was recorded by the neighborhood 

mid-wife, was born in Brooklyn, New York



FA IR  LA B O R KJIHGFEDCBA 4 3tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

in 1909, the second child of recent Russian- 

Jewish immigrants, Harry and Rebecca 

Goldschmidt Margolin. Within a few years af­

ter Bessie was bom, the Margolins left New 

York ’s tough and crowded conditions and made 

their way to Memphis, Tennessee, to join 

other Jewish immigrants. There, Rebecca died 

shortly after giving birth to a third child, Jacob, 

leaving Harry alone and without means to care 

for their three, very young children.

Harry’s plight caught the attention of the 

Memphis Hebrew Benevolent Society, which 

arranged for four-year-old Bessie and her sib­

lings to be admitted as “ half-orphans” to 

live in the New Orleans Jewish Orphans’ 

Home.3 Originally founded in 1855 as the 

Home for Jewish Widows and Orphans, 

the Home in which Margolin was raised was 

situated prominently on St. Charles Avenue, 

near the stately mansions of New Orleans’ 

most prosperous citizens. Guided by philan­

thropic trustees who sought to enhance their 

wards’ potential for success by integrating 

them into the city ’s social and economic power 

structure, the Home provided a nurturing envi­

ronment where Margolin and her siblings grew 

up together with more than 100 other orphans 

and half-orphans from throughout the Deep 

South.4

The Home’s forward-thinking benefactors 

had also established the nearby Isidore New­

man Manual Training School, which admit­

ted children “ without discrimination because 

of creed... after our own wards are provided 

for.” 5 One of the best preparatory schools in 

the South, Newman prided itself for teach­

ing that “ wealth is no evidence of worth, that 

the favored must make a return in propor­

tion to their advantages, and that the only re­

spectable aristocracy is an aristocracy of  hon­

orable achievement and personal decency.” 6 

By Margolin’s time, wearing Home uniforms 

was no longer required, allowing Home chil­

dren to mix more comfortably with Newman 

classmates, many of whom represented the 

city ’s most affluent families. In school, 

Margolin forged a lifelong friendship, and a

shared interest in fashion, with Kate Polack, 

whose prosperous family welcomed Margolin 

into their gracious home.7

Within the Home, the volunteer “ Matron”  

who attended to Margolin was Hanna B. Stem, 

wife of Home Trustee Maurice B. Stern, who 

made his fortune as president of the cotton 

brokerage firm  Lehman, Stem &  Co. In a let­

ter recommending Margolin to Newcomb Col­

lege, Mrs. Stern wrote:

Miss Margolin is one of my family

(as we term them). [E]ach matron of

Jewish Orphan’s Home has charge of

[a] certain number of boys and girls 

her duty towards them to mother them 

as much as possible &  raise their stan­

dard in every way possible. We keep 

in touch with their school work. [We] 

have the privilege of having them in 

our own homes for entertainment and 

also take them out with us if  we must 

and in this way [I]  know Bessie very 

well &  consider her a very splendid 

girl far above the average in every 

way. She is industrious, ambitious, 

appreciative, and in fact seems [of]  

splendid character.8

Margolin became another one of the Home’s 

“ typical over-achievers”  who, instilled with a 

success ethic, learned that good citizenship, 

hard work, and respect for authority were a 

means of  achieving a higher economic and so­

cial status.9

Home life  was structured under an innova­

tive system of self-governance known as “ The 

Golden City,” which emphasized the value 

of independence, the dignity of fair wages 

earned through hard work, and the notion of 

government as a participatory and protective 

institution. Thus, from her earliest years in 

the Home, Margolin experienced a basic le­

gal system in which the children were di­

vided into “ families” led by an elected Big 

Brother or Big Sister. “ They have their courts 

and judges and lawyers for prosecution and 

defense and all cases of [dereliction] and
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1ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP h il l ip s v . W a ll in g , 324 U.S. 490 

(1945)

Mar. 2, 1945 Joseph B . Ely

2 1 0 E a s t 4 0 th S t. B ld g v. C a llu s ,

325 U.S. 578 (1945)*

Apr. 6, 1945 Joseph M. Proskauer

3 B o rd e n v. B o re l la , 325 U.S. 679 

(1945)*

Apr. 6, 1945 John A. Kelly

4 R o la n d E le c tr ic a l C o . v. W a ll in g , 

326 U.S. 657(1946)

Oct. 8, 1945 O.R. McGuire

5 B o u te l l v . W a ll in g , 327 U.S. 463 

(1946)

Oct. 9, 1945 Harry Gault

6 R u th e r fo rd F o o d v. M c C o m b , 331 

U.S. 722 (1947)

Apr. 9-10, 1947 E.R. Morrison

7 M c C o m b v. J a c k so n v i l le P a p e r ,

336 U.S. 187(1949)

Dec. 14-15, 1948 Louis Kurz

8,9, 10 P o w e ll v. U .S . C a r tr id g e ; A a ro n v . 

F o rd , B a c o n &  D a v is , In c .;

C re e l v. L o n e S ta r D e fe n se

C o rp ., 339 U.S. 497 (1950)*

Dec. 8-9, 1949 William  L. Marbury, 

Robert H. 

McRoberts, and

Otto Atchley

11 A ls ta te C o n s tru c t io n v . D u rk in ,

345 U.S. 13 (1953)

Feb. 2-3, 1953 S.A. Schreckengaust, 

Jr.

12 M itc h e l l v. J o y c e A g e n c y In c ., 348 

U.S. 945 (1955)

Feb. 4 &  7,1955 Stanford Clinton

13 M a n e ja v . W a ia lu a , 349 U.S. 254 

(1955)*

Mar. 30, 1955 Rufus G. Poole

14 M itc h e l l v . M y r tle G ro v e P a c k in g 

Co., 350 U.S. 891 (1955)

Nov. 10, 1955 W.L. Guice

15 S te in e r v. M itc h e l l , 350 U.S. 247 

(1956)

Nov. 16, 1955 Cecil Sims

16 M itc h e l l v . K in g  P a c k in g , 350 U.S. 

260(1956)

Nov. 16-17, 1955 Willard S. Johnson

17, 18, 19 M itc h e l l v. B u d d ', M itc h e l l v. K in g  

E d w a rd T o b a c c o C o ., M itc h e l l 

v. M a y T o b a c c o C o ., 350 U.S. 

473 (1956)

Feb. 29-Mar. 1, 1956 Milton  Denbo and 

Mark F. Hughes

20 M itc h e l l v . B e k in s V a n a n d

S to ra g e , 352 U.S. 1027 (1957)

Feb. 26-27, 1957 William  French Smith

21 M itc h e l l v . L u b lin , M c G a u g h y &  

A sso c ia te s , 358 U.S. 207 (1959)

Oct. 21, 1958 Alan J. Hofheimer

22 M itc h e l l v. K e n tu c k y F in a n c e , 359 

U.S. 290(1959)

Mar. 3, 1959 Harold H. Levin

(c o n tin u e d )
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Cas e Nam e Date(s) Argued Opposing Counsel

23 M itc h e l l v. R o b e r t D e M a r io J e w e lry ,

361 U.S. 288 (1960)

Nov. 16, 1959 R. Lamar Moore

24 M itc h e l l v. O re g o n F ro ze n F o o d s , 361 

U.S. 231 (1960)

Nov. 17, 1959 Martin P. Gallagher

25 A rn o ld v. B e n K a n o w sk y , 361 U.S.

388 (I960)*

Jan. 11, 1960 G.H. Kelsoe, Jr.

26 M itc h e l l v. H .B . Z a c h ry C o ., 362 U.S. 

310 (1960)

Feb. 25, 1960 R. Dean Moorhead

27 G o ld b e rg v . W h ita k e r H o u se 

C o o p e ra tiv e , 366 U.S. 28 (1961)

Mar. 30, 1961 Philip S. Bird

28 W ir tz v . S te e p le to n G e n e ra l T ire C o .,

383 U.S. 190 (1966)

Dec. 8, 1965 Lucius E. Burch, Jr.

‘ Argued as Amicus Curiae

deflection from the high standards of honor 

and morals of the Golden City are tried and 

judgment pronounced”  subject to the approval 

of the Home’s Superintendent. The Golden 

City was designed to “ mitigate the evil affects 

of institutional rearing”  and make each child 

in the Home “ feel that he is a human being and 

not merely a cog in the well-oiled machine, no 

matter how smoothly and systematically that 

machine or administration may run.” 10 At the 

same time, the Golden City enabled Margolin 

and the other Home kids to earn five to twenty- 

five cents each week, depending on their age 

and the nature of the activity, in return for do­

ing chores such as sweeping, darning, making 

beds, and baking bread (but no scrubbing or 

laundry work). They could spend a portion of 

their money on sweets and small toys at the 

Golden City ’s cooperative store but they were 

also required to open a savings account in a 

local bank so they could learn “ the valuable 

lesson of thrift and economy.” 11

Margolin distinguished herself within the 

Home and at Newman with superior grades 

and extracurricular achievements. Years later, 

Margolin was unsure what made her become a 

lawyer but mused “ I suspect that I always had 

something of a penchant for debating, which

T H E  P I O N E E R
V O L . 1 5 Ju n e 1 9 2 5 . No. 9

“ Knowledge is power.
Willing to do anything that she is called upon to do.

Bessie is always cheerful and sunny—everybody’ s friend. 
Manual is losing one of her most loyal students when Bessie
leaves, for she entered into 
nothing half way. Good luck, 
eeed wherever you go!

Literary Editor Pioneer, ’25 
Senior Pioneer Staff, ’25 
Glee Club. ’22, ’23, ’24, ’25 
’Varsity B a s e b a l l , ’ 2 5 
President Debating Club, '25 
Debating Club, ’24, ’25

everything wliole-heartedly— 
Bessie, you’re bound to suc-

E. T. C., ’25
Latin Play, ’24
Class Baseball, ’23, ”24, ’25 
President Girls’ Student

Couneil, ’25ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M argo lin gradua ted  from  the  Is ido re  N ew m an M anua l 

T ra in ing S choo l w ith d is tinc tion in 1925 , earn ing a  

fu ll scho la rsh ip to N ew com b C o llege . A bove is her 

yea rbook en try .

I recollect having enjoyed in high school.” 12 

In her senior year in 1925, Margolin won a 

gold baseball for playing on the girls’ var­

sity team, sang in the glee club, edited the
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y e arbo o k, was p re s ide nt o f bo th the de bate 

clu b and the gir ls’ s tu de nt co u ncil, re ce ive d a 

che m is try e s s ay co nte s t p r ize , and was cho s e n 

vale dicto r ian o f he r gradu ating clas s . At  Ne w­

man, Margolin’s senior yearbook photograph 

was aptly captioned, “ Knowledge is power.” 13 

She later credited the Home for providing her 

opportunities and the incentive to pursue them. 

“ It may be hard to climb from some charita­

ble homes, but this one is an exception. They 

pushed me and gave me my opportunities. I 

owe them a lot.” 14

Margolin’s excellent high school record 

earned her admission on a full  scholarship to 

Newcomb College, where she spent her fresh­

man and sophomore years. Her Newcomb Col­

lege file  contains the following entry by a fac­

ulty member:

Miss Bessie Margolin did excellent 

scholastic work during her two years 

at Newcomb. I should say that she 

stood among the first ten in her class.

She lived during the time prior to her 

college course in the Jewish Orphans 

Home.... In answer to the questions 

above, I  should say that she is not sen­

sitive, she is very self-confident, she 

does not make friends easily. She de­

voted much of  her time to her school 

work. She was a member of a Jew­

ish fraternity here, and was interested 

in social activities for which she had 

no opportunity in previous years. She 

did not seem to care for athletics. I 

am unable to give you any informa­

tion about the amount of reading she 

did. She took part in a number of  tri­

als for debate but failed to make any 

of the principal teams. She dressed 

rather elaborately for a person of her 

means, but I understand many of her 

clothes were given to her. She has a 

great deal of intellectual ability.15

After two years at Newcomb, Margolin 

decided to study law. Realizing that she could

not afford to pay for three years of law 

school following college, she transferred to 

Tulane University to complete her undergrad­

uate studies and begin the study of law—at the 

same time. The appointment of Rufus Harris 

as dean and the revival of the law review pro­

vided rewarding opportunities for Margolin 

to work closely with distinguished, part-time 

faculty members who were leading private 

practitioners.16

Although Tulane Law School had admit­

ted women in prior years, Margolin found 

herself the only woman in the entire law 

school. She felt “ very much isolated and 

self-conscious that first year,” but gradu­

ally adjusted. And she was grateful for the 

opportunity:

Tulane means something very special 

to me as a woman... the fullest op­

portunity and encouragement to ful­

fill  myself as a human being intel­

lectually, culturally, socially, and as 

a citizen with rights and responsi­

bilities equal to those of men. As a 

student interested in a professional 

career, as well as a serious liberal 

arts education, I was uniquely for­

tunate that my home town univer­

sity was one of the few in the na­

tion at that time which not only had a 

tradition of serious higher education 

for women... exemplified by the ex­

cellent standards of  Newcomb... but 

which welcomed women into its 

graduate and professional schools on 

a genuine non-discriminatory basis 

and gave them practical as well as 

moral support in the development of 

their potentialities.17

In 1930, at age twenty-one, Margolin re­

ceived her bachelor’s degree with a major in 

political science and history, as well as her 

law degree from Tulane University. Having 

served as civil  law editor of  the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT u la n e L a w  R e­

v ie w , in which she published three comments,
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Margo lin gradu ate d s e co nd in he r law s cho o l 

clas s o f twe nty -thre e s tu de nts , and was ad­

mitted to the Order of the Coif.18 It was 

also during her Tulane law school years that 

Margolin began a lifelong friendship and pro­

fessional relationship with fellow Newman 

alumnus John Minor Wisdom, who served 

from 1957 until 1999 on the U.S. Court of Ap­

peals for the Fifth Circuit, and before whom 

“ Miss Bessie,”  as he and fellow  judges warmly 

referred to her, would regularly appear for oral 

argument.

Glowing recommendations from Tulane 

law school’s dean, her brilliant law school 

record, combined with her ability to read 

French, won Margolin a coveted position at 

Yale Law School as a research assistant to Pro­

fessor Ernest G. Lorenzen, a noted authority 

on comparative law. In an article heralding her 

Yale appointment, the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN e w O r le a n s I te m T r i ­

b u n e reported that Margolin found research 

appealing. “ It isn’ t at all dull. I suppose you’d 

say you get curious about something and then 

there’s the thrill  of searching and the satisfac­

tion of having found out.”  She noted that she 

would like to “ do research at Yale for the next 

two years, and then I should like to take my 

doctor’s degree at Yale.”  The reporter went on 

to say that “ In a profession where feminity [sic] 

is a liability, she displays a cool logical mind 

which amazes her associates. And in the final 

analysis of this personality one finds a charm­

ing, unusually interesting but utterly unspoiled 

girl.” 19

While in New Haven, Margolin continued 

to make news. As the first woman lawyer to 

join the Municipal Legal Aid  Bureau, the July 

10, 1932 N e w H a v e n R e g is te r reported that 

Margolin was to work “ during the summer 

months while most of the Yale Law School 

students are away on their vacations.”

In 1932, Margolin became the first 

woman to receive Yale’s prestigious Sterling 

Fellowship. The following year, she received 

her doctorate of juridical science (J.S.D.j, hav­

ing earned the respect of Professor William  O. 

Douglas, who had directly supervised her workZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A fte r g radua ting from  T u lane Law S choo l, M argo lin  

w on a cove ted pos ition a t Y a le Law S choo l as a  

resea rch ass is tan t to P ro fesso r E rnest G . Lorenzen , 

a no ted au tho rity on com para tive law . H er superio r 

grades, g low ing  recom m enda tions , and  ab ility  to  read 

F rench ea rned he r the pos ition .

in areas of corporate finance and reorgan­

ization.20 At her retirement dinner in 1972, 

she reminisced about how Douglas had been 

an important mentor:

Mr. Justice Douglas has played a 

great part in my career since student 

days at Yale. And he was largely re­

sponsible for encouraging me in my 

graduate work and I think probably 

responsible for securing a Sterling 

Fellowship for me which enabled me 

to start on my career. And through the 

years he’s always been interested in 

showing a great support for anything 

that I  wanted to do or to encourage me 

to go into some big adventures which 

I really didn’t feel I had the capacity 

to take on.
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Yale als o intro du ce d Margo lin to fe llo w So u th­

erners Henry H. “ Joe”  Fowler, from Roanoke, 

Virginia, and Abe Fortas, from Memphis, 

Tennessee, both of whom would play an 

important role in Margolin’s later career. 

Fowler, who was also the recipient of  a Sterling 

Fellowship, would work on the Tennessee Val­

ley Authority with her. Abe Fortas was editor 

in chief when the Yale Law Journal published a 

comment Margolin wrote on proposed amend­

ments to the bankruptcy laws.

For a Jewish woman, Margolin’s impres­

sive academic record, enthusiastic references, 

and strong background in corporate law were 

not enough to gain entrance to the practice of 

law on Wall Street, where the best job offer 

she received was in a firm ’s law library. She 

fared no better in securing a job teaching law. 

Yale Law Professor Ernest Lorenzen urged 

Tulane Law School’s Dean Rufus Harris to hire 

Margolin:

We are of the opinion that Miss Mar­

golin’s logical place as a teacher of 

law is at Tulane. Her knowledge of 

Civil  law and her work here in Com­

parative law and Conflict of Laws 

give her a pre-eminence in those 

fields that would not be easy to 

match. In my opinion she ranks eas­

ily  within the best students we have.

If  this were not the case she would not 

have been awarded a Sterling Fellow­

ship, for none has ever been awarded 

to a woman in the past and in all 

probability none will  be awarded to 

another woman for years to come. 

There is no doubt whatsoever that by 

adding Miss Margolin to your faculty 

you will  be adding a member with ex­

traordinary mental powers, who will  

give great strength to it for years to 

come. She has a bent for research and 

can be relied upon to do big things, 

by which I mean really superior 

things.21

As a temporary measure, Margolin spent 

the summer of 1933 in Washington, D.C., 

working for Doris Stevens at the Inter- 

American Commission on Women. There, for 

$125 a month, Margolin researched legal dis­

crimination against women in Latin-American 

countries. Although most of her prior experi­

ence in researching foreign law was in French, 

Margolin confidently assured Stevens that she 

could do the job. “ I do not believe I should 

have any trouble with the Spanish, inasmuch 

as the Spanish and Latin American legal sys­

tems and terminology are very similar to the 

French.” 22

Thus Margolin was perfectly situated 

in Washington that summer to answer the 

call of a new and exciting opportunity. She 

applied for a position on the legal staff 

at the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA),  

which had just been established by Presi­

dent Franklin D. Roosevelt’s New Deal leg­

islation to provide electricity to poor ru­

ral areas. Her former professor William O. 

Douglas provided a strong recommendation:

I have known Miss Margolin for the 

last three years, since she came to us 

from the Law School of Tulane Uni­

versity with a brilliant record. Dur­

ing the last year Miss Margolin has 

worked for substantially all her time 

under my direct supervision on var­

ious topics in the field of Corporate 

Finance and Reorganization. Thus I 

came to know her work very well.

She is an able and conscientious per­

son. Her work is always of  the highest 

caliber. She has the ability to take re­

sponsibility and work upon her own 

quite independently from the super­

vision of another person.23

Another Yale law professor, Richard 

Joyce Smith, wrote directly to the TVA ’s David 

Lilienthal on Margolin’s behalf:

If  you have a place for a woman 

lawyer, I would say that Miss
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Margo lin wo u ld be o ne o f the be s t 

that y o u co u ld find. I have be e n 

fam iliar with he r wo rk be cau s e I 

was a m e m be r o f the Co m m itte e 

o f the Facu lty in charge o f Gradu­

ate Students.... She impressed eve­

ryone in New Haven, both by 

her industry and her analytical 

ability. In addition to these qualifica­

tions, we all thought she was a very 

attractive person. She is, of course, 

particularly well-equipped in  the civil  

law of  Louisiana and has an excellent 

grounding in public law generally. I 

hope that you will  give her serious 

consideration.24

Margolin further submitted strong recom­

mendations from Tulane Law School Dean Ru­

fus Harris and Assistant Dean Paul Brosman. 

Brosman described Margolin as “ a young lady 

of great force of character and a winning per­

sonality.”  Dean Harris said, “ She is an unusual 

woman, I mean by that, in substance, that she 

possesses unusual professional ability, has an 

unusually charming personality and has an un­

usually broad, balanced and progressive social 

outlook”  making her “ in sympathy with the 

fine purposes for which the Tennessee Valley 

Authority was created.” 25

Despite these accolades, TVA  personnel 

director Floyd Reeves had to persuade “ a re­

luctant Lilienthal to hire Bessie Margolin”  as 

TVA ’s first woman attorney.26 Hired to work 

for TVA  General Solicitor William  A. Suther­

land in Washington, D.C., Margolin joined the 

special assemblage of legal talent that was 

drawn to the federal government in 1933 as 

much for the lure of the New Deal’s opportu­

nities to build a better nation as for the lack of 

job opportunities elsewhere, especially given 

the reluctance of old line law firms to hire 

Jews or women.27 The young lawyers were 

also willing  to work for the public good for a 

relatively low salary, which would not have at­

tracted older, more experienced practitioners. 

Margolin’s TVA  starting salary of $2,000 per

year was a significant increase over the $ 1,800 

per year she had earned as a research assistant 

at Yale. Moreover, within one year, she was 

promoted to Associate Attorney at a salary of 

$3,600, and was transferred to the TVA  le­

gal offices in Knoxville, Tennessee, where she 

worked directly for its new General Solicitor 

James Lawrence Fly.

According to Margolin’s former Yale 

classmate Henry Fowler, at TVA  she became 

part of  “ an extraordinarily able, brilliant group 

of  relatively young lawyers, who had outstand­

ing academic records and law school achieve­

ments. Most of them had been editors of law 

reviews at their various institutions—Harvard, 

Yale, other schools—and some of them had 

served clerkships with  justices of  the Supreme 

Court or other outstanding justices such as 

Judge Mack and Learned Hand and well- 

known Federal judges.” 28 Federal government 

work challenged their imagination and inter­

est, and many felt it  would be a proving ground 

for the rapid accumulation of valuable experi­

ence in the field of  public law.

A  desire to reduce poverty was also a draw. 

One TVA  staffer, Joseph Swidler, later recalled 

that he was “ happy with the emergence of a 

positive program for using the resources of 

government to cure some of  the economic and 

political evils of  our time.” 29 He said that many 

of the young TVA  workers were “ thoroughly 

imbued with patriotic zeal.... They were out 

to restore vast areas of  poverty stricken people, 

bringing them back into civilization and raise 

their standards of living.” 30 Fowler echoed 

this progressive sentiment: “ Some of us were 

from... the South, and a large part of  my mo­

tivation and interest in going with TVA  was 

I thought it embodied a program for regional 

development of a large area of the country to 

which I was emotionally attached, and that it 

would be an opportunity to make a very posi­

tive contribution to the economic development 

of  the area.” 31

Margolin, like other young New Deal­

ers, quickly assumed considerable power and 

responsibility. She took part in two great
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cas e s ar is ing fro m challe nge s by p r ivate u tility 

co m p anie s to the validity o f the e ntire TVA  

p ro je ct. The s e landm ark cas e s o ve rs hado we d 

all o the r le gal wo rk at the TVA  du r ing he r 

s ix y e ars the re . In ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA sh w a n d e r v . T V A ,2 2 the 

Su p re m e Co u r t affirm e d the TVA ’s r ight to s e ll 

e le ctr ic p o we r p ro du ce d by the Wils o n Dam o n 

the gro u nd that the go ve rnm e nt co u ld dis p o s e 

o f its p ro p e r ty (even in the form of electricity) 

in any manner it chose. In T e n n e sse e E le c tr ic 

P o w e r C o m p a n y v . T V A ,2 2 the Court affirmed 

the ruling by the three-judge panel of the Dis­

trict Court for the Eastern District of  Tennessee 

that the government’s powers over commerce 

and national security, as well as its right to dis­

pose of property, made all aspects of the TVA  

constitutional.

W ith A sh w a n d e r , Margolin witnessed and 

contributed to the evolution of  the case, which 

began when Alabama Power Company stock­

holders filed suit in the Circuit Court of Lime­

stone County, Alabama seeking to restrain the 

company from contracting with the TVA  on the 

ground that the TVA  Act was unconstitutional. 

On TVA ’s motion, the case was removed to the 

Alabama federal district court where follow ­

ing motions and trial with extensive testimony, 

Judge William  Grubb ruled for the stockhold­

ers and annulled the contracts. On the TVA ’s 

appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed the trial court 

and the stockholders successfully petitioned 

for review by the Supreme Court. Margolin 

took part in all of these stages of the case, 

traveling by train and in her Hudson coupe to 

prepare for and attend the trial in Birmingham 

and the appeal in Atlanta.

Margolin would later explain her role in 

these cases:

While I did not take part in the 

courtroom presentation [of the two 

cases], I was a member of the staff 

which prepared the evidence, pro­

cedure, and substantive matters, and 

wrote substantial portions of the fi ­

nal comprehensive briefs filed in the 

district court, the circuit court and

the Supreme Court.... In the course 

of the litigation of these two cases,

I secured a pretty thorough practi­

cal background in Constitutional law, 

and in Federal trial and appellate 

practice.34

In heartily recommending Margolin for a 

promotion and raise early in her TVA  career, 

her boss, General Solicitor Fly, supported this 

self-assessment. Fly wrote, “ Miss Margolin 

has done more work on the A sh w a n d e r briefs 

than any of the other attorneys, and her work 

has been of an exceptionally high caliber and 

thorough-going nature.” 35

The A sh w a n d e r case officially  introduced 

Margolin to the Supreme Court. Margolin 

had traveled to Washington from Knoxville a 

month before the argument, as had others on 

the TVA  legal team. Her name appeared on the 

TVA ’s December 1935 merits brief as “ coun­

sel” under the names of Attorney General 

Homer Cummings, Solicitor General Stanley 

F. Reed, Special Counsel John Lord O’Brian, 

General Solicitor James Lawrence Fly, Paul 

Freund and Henry H. Fowler. Moreover, on 

Thursday, December 19, 1935, on oral mo­

tion made by Solicitor General Reed, Bessie 

Margolin of New Orleans, Louisiana was ad­

mitted to practice before the Court.36 She then 

heard O’Brian and Solicitor General Reed 

present the oral arguments in A sh w a n d e r she 

helped to create— for which the Court allowed 

five hours over two days.37

Margolin’s second round of involvement 

in litigation that would reach the Supreme 

Court began just three months after the 

Supreme Court announced its decision in  A sh­

w a n d e r . This time, the Tennessee Electric 

Power Company and eighteen other privately 

owned electrical power companies filed a com­

plaint in the chancery court in Knox County, 

Tennessee which, on the TVA ’s motion, was 

removed to the U.S. District Court for the East­

ern District of Tennessee. The suit sought to 

enjoin the TVA ’s so-called “ power program,”  

claiming that it was threatening to destroy the
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co m p anie s , that the TVA  was acquiring elec­

tric energy by constructing and operating dams 

unrelated to any federal function, and that, 

even if  it had lawfully acquired the energy, 

the TVA ’s method of disposition was uncon­

stitutional. The district court’s preliminary in­

junction was reversed on the TVA ’s appeal to 

the Sixth Circuit, and the case was remanded 

for trial. As a result of the newly enacted Judi­

cial Reform Act, the case was tried by Fly and 

O’Brian before a three-judge panel consisting 

of Circuit Judge Florence Allen and District 

Judges John J. Gore and John D. Martin.

During this time, Margolin was promoted 

to Senior Attorney, with a raise in salary 

to $4,600, and was transferred to work in 

the TVA ’s Chattanooga office. As with the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
A sh w a n d e r case, Fly praised Margolin’s con­

tributions to the T e n n e sse e E le c tr ic P o w e r 

(T E P ) case, noting that she carried a “ large 

part of the most responsible work of the Legal 

Division....”

For more than a year she has been 

engaged almost exclusively in work 

on the case of T E P , e t a l., v . T V A , 

e t a l., which required recommenda­

tions as to correct procedure, and 

drafting pleadings and briefs to be 

filed in the case.... At present Miss 

Margolin is devoting her entire time 

to the study and analysis of  testimony

previously given in the case of T E P , 

e ta l., v. T V A , e ta l., and in the prepara­

tion of material to be used in the ex­

amination and cross-examination of 

witnesses, and on the argument, at 

the trial of this case... ,38

With Fly and O’Brian as the TVA ’s lead 

counsel, the trial lasted two months with tes­

timony taken from nearly 100 witnesses and 

more than 1,000 exhibits admitted into evi­

dence. L ife M a g a z in e devoted a full-page pic­

torial article to the trial titled “ TVA  Goes on 

Trial for Its Life.”  A  smiling Margolin can be 

seen in one photo of the crowded courtroom, 

seated directly behind John Lord O’Brian and 

other TVA  counsel. L ife M a g a z in e described 

the scene:

In a frescoed courtroom at Chat­

tanooga, Tenn., on Nov. 15, three Fed­

eral judges, one a woman, mounted 

the bench to hear one of the most 

far-reaching cases in U.S. constitu­

tional history. Massed on one side 

were 18 Southern utility  firms with 

assets totaling a billion dollars. Op­

posed were the directors of the Ten­

nessee Valley Authority whose gi­

gantic hydraulic program will  absorb 

over half that sum. On the legal scales 

were the prestige of the U.S. Govern­

ment and the question of its right to

LA W Y E R S O F  U TIL IT IE S  (LE FT TA B LE ) A N D TV A  (R IG H T) B E G IN  C O U R T B A TTLE . N E W TO N D . B A K E R , N o. 1 U TIL IT IE S C O U N S E L, IS  A T FA R  LE FT

Life MagazineZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA devo ted a fu ll-page p ic to ria l artic le  to  the  landm ark T V A  tria l; a sm iling M argo lin can be  seen  

sea ted d irec tly beh ind  John Lord O 'B rian and  o the r T V A  counse l.
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s e ll p o we r in co m p e titio n with p r ivate 

e nte rp r is e .39

Judge Allen surely must have impressed 

Margolin. Not only was Allen the first and only 

woman federal appellate judge at the time (and 

likely  the first woman judge Margolin had ever 

seen), but during the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT E P v . T V A trial, Allen 

was also being seriously considered to fill  Jus­

tice George Sutherland’s seat on the Supreme 

Court.40 (Six years later, Margolin would ap­

pear before Circuit Judge Allen to argue on 

behalf of  the Department of Labor, and would 

on more than one occasion cite Allen ’s lone 

female federal appellate judgeship in support 

of her own candidacy for a federal judgeship.)

When the TVA  submitted its merits brief 

in TEP to the Supreme Court in October 

1938, Margolin’s name appeared below Solic­

itor General Robert H. Jackson, Fly, O’Brian, 

Freund, William C. Fitts, Jr., Melvin Siegel 

and Fowler. O’Brian considered the TVA  legal 

team “ top-flight.”  “ [Tjhey were young; they 

were fully  aware of the gravity of the litiga­

tion and the implications of it.... [T]he legal 

staff not only worked intensely, but more or 

less lived together during this period. We all 

occupied offices in the same building; we so 

to speak, lived together and ate together and 

talked together in the day time and at night as 

well. The work was incessant in the prepara­

tion of all of the arguments.” O’Brian said 

that Margolin “ had a special gift of lucidity in 

the writing of  briefs and contributed materially 

to the character of all the briefs written in the 

case[s].”  O’Brian went on to say, “ She’s a very 

singular person, and she has a legal brain, as I 

would express it. She’s a very feminine person, 

and a very nice person, but she has a gift for 

lucid expression which is invaluable in brief 

writing.” 41

When the Supreme Court issued its favor­

able ruling in the TEP case in January 1939, 

Margolin nonetheless complained to her col­

league Herb Marks, “ It  was a trifle  disappoint­

ing not to get some little  word on the merits—  

don’t you think?” 42

Aside from these two landmark cases, 

Margolin provided other services for TVA.  She 

later summed up the experience:

The years at the Tennessee Valley Au­

thority also afforded a variety of le­

gal experience in interpretative work, 

drafting of legislation, negotiation 

and drafting of Government con­

tracts, preparation of data for Con­

gressional investigatory committees, 

extensive brief writing and trial expe­

rience. I participated in the trials of a 

number of more important condem­

nation cases instituted by the Ten­

nessee Valley Authority and indepen­

dently conducted three or four of the 

trials of lesser importance involving 

a variety of  valuation and condemna­

tion questions.43

But with the validity of the TVA  firmly  

established, Margolin set her sights on the De­

partment of Labor, where Secretary Frances 

Perkins was beginning to enforce the newly 

enacted Fair Labor Standards Act. Margolin 

would have to prove her worth to Calvert Ma- 

gruder, the Harvard law professor and former 

secretary to Justice Louis D. Brandeis who 

was general counsel to the Labor Department’s 

new Wage and Hour Division. Margolin wrote 

to Herb Marks, “ I am still negotiating for 

the wages and hours position. The only out­

standing question is the salary.”  O’Brian, for­

mer fellow Yale law student Abe Fortas (who 

had left the Securities and Exchange Com­

mission to work for Interior Secretary Harold 

Ickes), and her former TVA boss William 

Sutherland “ have all gone to bat for me in 

a big way—and wholly voluntary much to 

my pleasure.... Have asked for $5600 which 

Magruder and his assistant think is an awful 

lot ‘ for a girl. ’ Mr. O’Brian and Larry [Fly]  

have been trying to convince him he’s dealing 

with a ‘seasoned attorney’ and not a mere girl. 

Did I hear you laugh, Herb—or are you only 

smiling?” 44
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The ne go tiatio ns with Magru de r co ntin­

ued over the next month, with Margolin fi ­

nally agreeing to accept a position in the Wage 

and Hour Division at $5,000 per year. “ Larry 

[Fly] is not too happy about the salary an­

gle but thinks it is a satisfactory move since 

I had a clear understanding with Magruder 

about the nature of  my work and responsibility 

in the office. Personally, I am highly pleased 

with the result.” 45 Finally, in March 1939, 

Margolin transferred from the TVA  to become 

a Senior Litigation Attorney in the Wage and 

Hour Division under the supervision of Ma­

gruder (who would soon be appointed to the 

U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuit).

Within her first week on the job, Margolin 

traveled home to New Orleans to represent the 

Wage and Hour Administrator in federal dis­

trict court. She wrote her former TVA  col­

league Herb Marks:

Was put to work on a case in New

Orleans my first week up here &  

had to go down there to argue some

motions in court.... We won our 

two motions—1) to quash a subpoena 

served on [Administrator Elmer 

Andrews] while he was down there 

making a speech—on grounds of in­

convenience and lack of necessity to 

take his oral testimony &  2) to quash a 

subpoena duces tecum for our inves­

tigator’s records—on grounds of  con­

fidential character.... I went down 

with the chief of  our litigation section 

(Irving Levy) and we each argued one 

motion apiece—&  won both with de­

cisions from the bench. We were quite 

pleased as the case has received con­

siderable publicity.46

Indeed, Margolin herself generated as 

much publicity as the wage and hour case. 

Celebrating Margolin’s triumphant return to 

her hometown as a lawyer for the federal gov­

ernment, all three major New Orleans news­

papers ran stories with photos: “ New Orleans 

Girl Represents U.S. at Hearing,” “ Orleans

ro.
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Gir l with Fe de ral Co u ns e l,”  and ‘“ Local Girl ’ 

Makes Good in Big Way—Reared in Chil­

dren’s Home Gets Two Degrees at Once.” 47 

According to one account, Margolin loved her 

new job. “ I ’m interested in labor and I ’m a 

New Dealer. The [Fair Labor Standards] act is 

pretty conservative, I think, but it ’s a step in 

the right direction and I ’m right with it. Inci­

dentally, I ’m not a radical.” 48

The reporter focused on Margolin’s ap­

pearance and marital status as much as on her 

professional accomplishments. “ [Margolin’s] 

a brunette, with flashing black eyes and a 

stunning figure, and she looks like all the 

money she didn’t have, she looks like more 

than a million  dollars.... When you see a face 

like Miss Margolin’s you almost immediately 

wonder what that ‘Miss’ is tacked on before 

for.”  After initial reluctance to talk about be­

ing unmarried, Margolin finally responded to 

the reporter’s questions, ‘“ I haven’t had time 

for love.’ Then she smiled. ‘But I ’m not im­

mune, I ’m just uncontaminated.’ Dr. Margolin 

brushed back a lock of soft black hair. ‘  So far, ’ 

she added.” 49

Although the press portrayed the glam­

our of the job, Margolin paid her dues as a 

new Wage and Hour lawyer, traveling to damp 

warehouses and unwelcoming factories where 

she reviewed invoices, payroll records, piece­

work tickets, and time sheets to develop the 

facts for the Fair Labor Standards Act injunc­

tion cases.

Never have I been in a drearier 

dingier atmosphere—Boston &  sur­

rounding mill  towns. If  I have much 

of this I know I won’ t last long 

in Wages & Hours. But I guess 

I ’m getting some helpful experience. 

However, I find the cases very te­

dious and dull—mulling over endless 

time cards, piece work slips, payroll 

records and invoices. I didn’t real­

ize what a deadly bore the trial of 

some cases can be. I think after this 

trip (which is due to last 3 weeks

only 4 days of which have elapsed)

I shall ask to be transferred to opin­

ion work. Perhaps it is the damp cold 

weather we’ve been having— is it re­

ally springtime elsewhere?... Must 

get back to shoes and hats and in­

voices and piece work slips and time 

cards and foreladies and supervisors 

and bookkeepers—my!! What a drab 

world this is for mill  hands—and their 

attorneys.50

Over the next three years, Margolin 

helped organize the Labor Solicitor’s regional 

offices and train the regional attorneys. Her 

hard work, good attitude, and legal acumen 

earned her a promotion to litigation supervisor 

to take charge of appellate work at the Depart­

ment of Labor. This new job provided her the 

opportunity to argue cases in the circuit courts 

and work directly with the U.S. Solicitor Gen­

eral’s office on briefs in cases headed for the 

Supreme Court.

One of her earliest appellate arguments 

(and successes) was in  ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJ a n e s v. L a k e W a le s C it­

ru s G ro w e rs A sso c ia t io n .5 1 According to Mar­

golin, this was one of the earliest suits seeking 

to enjoin a local Labor Department Inspec­

tor and the local U.S. Attorney from enforc­

ing the Fair Labor Standards Act.52 Another 

of Margolin’s early appellate arguments was 

C u d a h y P a c k in g o f L o u is ia n a , L td . v . F le m­

in g ,5 5 in which the Sixth Circuit affirmed the 

trial judge’s order compelling the meat-packer 

to testify and produce documents regarding 

wages and hours worked. Margolin said the 

case “ was one of the Department’s early sub­

poena enforcement cases under the Fair Labor 

Standards Act (and which required briefing 

of almost every conceivable objection which 

could be raised, although this is not reflected 

in the court’s short per curiam opinion).”  54

Margolin was particularly proud of her 

lead role in the Department’s 1943 “ test case”  

regarding the FLSA’s provision allowing the 

employer’s “ reasonable cost”  of  board, lodging 

or other facilities to employees to be included
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in the s tatu to ry wage .55 The case required a 

host of complicated factual, accounting and 

legal issues reflected in the court’s forty-two- 

page opinion.

In another important case, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW a ll in g v . S im 

P u b lish in g ,5 6 Margolin was the Department’s 

chief trial counsel and also argued the ap­

peal at the Sixth Circuit. S u n P u b lish in g raised 

First Amendment (freedom of the press) and 

Fifth Amendment Due Process issues, inter­

state commerce coverage issues, and executive 

and professional exemption questions. It also 

delved into such specifics as counting wait­

ing time as hours worked, defining “ regular 

rate” of pay, and the right of the Wage and 

Hour Administrator to maintain an injunction 

action without participation by the Attorney 

General. After the argument at the Sixth Cir­

cuit, the headline in T h e C in c in n a ti E n q u ire r 

read, “ Wage Law Cannot Be Used in News­

paper Cases Is Plea of Attorney-Guarantee of 

Freedom of Press Is Involved in Court Argu­

ment.”  It said further:

Miss Margolin replying for the 

government, argued that [the news­

paper’s counsel Elisha] Hanson’s ob­

jections to application of the Fair La­

bor Standards Act on constitutional 

grounds were meritless and that the 

newspaper publishing business is in 

interstate commerce. Referring to the 

question of violation of freedom of 

press, Miss Margolin countered with 

“ we (the Wage and Hour Division) 

think it is almost a frivolous issue,”  

adding that it is “ so far removed from 

the intent of the First Amendment 

that it does not apply.” 57

The Sixth Circuit agreed with Margolin, who 

then wrote the brief opposing the publish­

ers’ petition for certiorari, which the Supreme 

Court denied.58

Throughout the S u n P u b lish in g case, 

Margolin was quietly pursuing a more per­

sonal “ fair labor” case. As she continued to 

assume greater trial and appellate responsi­

bilities, both personally and in a supervisory 

capacity, Margolin wanted to be considered 

for promotion to Assistant Solicitor, a position 

she had seen given to men “ who, so far as the 

objective record showed, had less qualifica­

tions than I had, in terms of educational back­

ground, length and type of experience, quality 

of professional work, and in length of profes­

sional service.” 59 Margolin presented her case 

directly to Labor Secretary Frances Perkins:ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

T H E E N Q U IR E R ,

O P P O N E N T S I N  B A T T L E  O V E R  P R E S S F R E E D O M  

Opposing counsel in an important legal battle to determine 
whether the doctrine of freedom of the press is a bar to 
regulation of wages and hours for newspapers are pictured 
above as they emerged from Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals 
yesterday in the Federal Building. They are Miss Bessie 
Margolin, Washington, Assistant Solicitor lor the Department 
of Labor, and Elisha Hanson, Washington, attorney for the

Sun Publishing Company, Jackson, Tran,

In Walling v. Sun Publishing, M argo lin w as the La ­

bor D epartm en t’s ch ie f tria l counse l and a lso ar­

gued the appea l a t the S ix th C ircu it. Sun Publish­

ing ra ised F irs t A m endm en t (freedom  o f the press) 

and F ifth  A m endm en t D ue P rocess issues , in te rs ta te  

com m erce cove rage issues , and execu tive and pro ­

fess iona l exem ption questions . It a lso de lved in to  

such spec ifics as coun ting w a iting tim e as hours  

w orked , de fin ing “ regu la r ra te” o f pay, and the  

righ t o f the  W age  and H our A dm in is tra to r to  m ain ta in  

an in junc tion action w ithou t partic ipa tion by the  

A tto rney G enera l.

My  dear Madam Secretary:

Superficially, it may appear pre­

sumptuous to request your personal 

consideration of this matter. How­

ever, I believe if  you will  read the
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attache d m e m o randu m , y o u will  ap­

preciate the propriety of presenting 

the matter to you personally.

Respectfully, 

Bessie Margolin

In her four-page memorandum, Margolin 

took the opportunity to “ squarely face... a 

more or less subconscious attitude” of 

discrimination that prevented her from being 

considered for promotion to Assistant Solici­

tor. Margolin wrote:

My situation, the record will  show, 

has significance beyond the interests 

of one individual. Because of its im­

plications generally for women seek­

ing professional careers in the Gov­

ernment service, this special request 

for consideration will  be found, I am 

sure, to be reasonable and justified.

It is apparent that there has been no 

lack of confidence on the part of 

my superiors in my capacity to per­

form such duties. They have given 

me responsible and interesting as­

signments and the quality of my per­

formance has not been questioned. I 

have always been treated with great­

est respect and consideration person­

ally. My  associations with my superi­

ors and with other attorneys in the 

Department have been consistently 

pleasant, and for all practical pur­

poses in the day to day work, they 

have accepted me as one of them.

Margolin emphasized that there had been 

no intentional discrimination, and that respon­

sibility did not attach to any one individual. 

“ It is rather a general, and I believe, a more or 

less subconscious attitude. A  woman simply is 

not considered for the high ranking positions 

in the Solicitor’s Office.” 60

Labor’s Director of Personnel Robert 

Smith investigated Margolin’s complaint and 

reported to Secretary Perkins, “ With the pos­

sible exception of Mr. [Mortimer B.] Wolfs 

appointment, I can see no justifiable basis for

Miss Margolin’s representation that she has 

been discriminated against.”  Smith added one 

final and practical note, “ In view of the fact 

that a new Solicitor will  be appointed, I would 

suggest that Miss Margolin’s memorandum be 

brought to his attention”  to allow him to con­

sider her qualifications and determine whether 

to recommend her or some other qualified 

person as Assistant Solicitor.61 In October 

1942, just one month after Margolin pleaded 

her own case to Secretary Perkins, Acting So­

licitor Irving Levy recommended that Mar­

golin be promoted to Assistant Solicitor, which 

Secretary Perkins promptly approved.62

Margolin’s high-quality work continued 

to earn her recognition within and beyond the 

Labor Department. In December 1943, Solici­

tor of Labor Douglas Maggs shared with Sec­

retary Perkins the praise received from So­

licitor General Charles Fahy as a result of 

Margolin’s work in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT e n n e sse e C o a l, I r o n &  

R a ilro a d C o m p a n y v. M u sc o d a '.

The Solicitor General will  argue the

T.C.I. [Tennessee Coal, Iron &  Rail­

road Company] metal mining portal- 

to-portal case in the Supreme Court.

In accordance with custom, my of­

fice wrote the brief for him. I was 

(and I think you will)  be gratified to 

learn that it is, in his judgment, about 

the best brief that has ever been writ­

ten for him outside the Department 

of Justice.

I hasten to add that I personally had 

very little to do with the writing of 

the brief. It is 99% a product of 

Bessie Margolin, Assistant Solicitor,

In Charge of  the Appellate Litigation 

Branch.63

Margolin had argued the T.C.I metal min­

ing case, and prevailed, in the Fifth Circuit.64 

According to Margolin, during the course of 

preparing Solicitor General Fahy for his ar­

gument at the Supreme Court she mentioned 

that she had argued cases in the federal courts 

of appeal, in fact, in every one of the eleven
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circu its . Acco rding to Margo lin, “ [He replied] 

‘There’s no reason that you should not argue in 

the Supreme Court when another FLSA case 

comes up.’ He remembered, and the next case 

in which certiorari was granted (less than a 

year later) Mr. Fahy assigned the oral argu­

ment to me.” 65
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In a handw ritten no te , Justice R obert H . Jackson  

com p lim en ted M argo lin in 1945 on her firs t ar­

gum en t be fo re the S uprem e C ourt. In Phillips if . 

Walling, she asse rted tha t an F LS A exem ption fo r 

em p loyees engaged in  any “ re ta il estab lishm en t” d id  

no t inc lude w arehouse and cen tra l o ffice em p loyees 

o f an in te rs ta te groce ry s to re  cha in .

The case was P h il l ip s v . W a ll in g ,6 6 which 

Margolin argued in the Supreme Court on 

March 2, 1945. She sought affirmation of 

the First Circuit’s decision,67 where Archibald 

Cox, then Associate Solicitor of the Wage &  

Hour Division, had prevailed in asserting that 

an FLSA exemption for employees engaged 

in any “ retail establishment”  did not include 

warehouse and central office employees of 

an interstate grocery store chain. Margolin’s 

formidable opponent in the Supreme Court 

was former Massachusetts Governor Joseph B. 

Ely who, after failing to win the Democratic

presidential nomination in 1944, demonstrated 

his contempt for Roosevelt and his New Deal 

by supporting Republican Thomas Dewey. 

Although there is no audio recording of 

Margolin’s first argument (or of her other ar­

guments prior to 1955), her former law profes­

sor, William  O. Douglas, by that time a sitting 

Supreme Court Justice, later described Mar­

golin’s style of  argument, “ She was crisp in her 

speech and penetrating in her analyses, reduc­

ing complex factual situations to simple, or­

derly problems.”  Douglas deemed Margolin’s 

argument in P h il l ip s v. W a ll in g as “ [t]ypical 

perhaps of  the worrisome but important issues 

which she argued”  at the Supreme Court.68

Justice Robert H. Jackson, who had 

proved an outstanding oral advocate when he 

served as Solicitor General, marked the occa­

sion with a nice handwritten note:

Miss Margolin:

I hope you were satisfied with the 

way the Court argued your first case.

In any event you have every reason to 

feel satisfied with the way you took 

care of yourself under fire. I ’m sure 

there would be no dissent from the 

opinion that you should argue here 

often. One always feels low after an 

argument—at least I always did. But 

you need not.

Robert H. Jackson69

Just three weeks later, Margolin learned 

that she had won the case, and in so doing es­

tablished the principle that “ any exemption”  

from the FLSA’s “ humanitarian and remedial 

legislation must... be narrowly construed.” 70 

The news must have buoyed her confidence as 

she prepared to argue the next case assigned 

to her by Solicitor General Fahy, 1 0 E a s t 4 0th 

S t. B ld g . v . C a llu s , which was set to be argued 

on April  6, 1945— less than two weeks away. 

That same confidence was tested when Mar­

golin learned on April  6 that she would be pre­

senting her second a n d th ird Supreme Court 

arguments that very day. Margolin explained
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the u nu s u al circu m s tance s o f he r las t-m inu te 

as s ignm e nt to argu e ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB o rd e n C o . v . B o re l lc r .

Argu m e nt had be e n as s igne d to a s e­

nior attorney in the Solicitor Gen­

eral’s office—Chester Lane. I had 

worked on the brief. Lane showed 

up on the day of the argument 

with his voice lost—he could hardly 

whisper— [Assistant Solicitor Gen­

eral] Bob Stern called me at about 

10:30 a.m. and said Mr. Fahy wanted 

me to take over since I knew more 

about the case than anyone else.

Bob gave me the courage to go 

on by saying that I had nothing to 

lose since the Court would know 

the circumstances. Indeed Chester 

got up and explained in a hoarse 

whisper that I was pinch-hitting on 

very short notice. I made a pretty 

lousy argument—overwhelmed with 

fear and nervousness. Fortunately the 

Court ruled in our favor anyway (by 

a 7-2 decision)—so my incipient ca­

reer as a Supreme Court advocate was 

not “ nipped in the bud.”  Thereafter, 

all of the successive Solicitor Gener­

als assigned most of the FLSA argu­

ments to me.71

Ironically, the Court, ruled against Mar­

golin (by a 5-4 decision) on the case she 

had prepared to argue that day, 70 B a s t 4 0,h 

S t. B ld g . v . C a llu s .1 2 Both cases focused on 

whether building maintenance employees, el­

evator operators and watchmen were covered 

by the FLSA because their work was “ neces­

sary”  to the production of goods in interstate 

commerce. This turned on the extent to which 

the building owner or major tenants were en­

gaged in manufacturing of  goods for shipment 

in interstate commerce. The difference was 

that in B o rd e n , where the Court extended cov­

erage to the building employees, the building 

was owned by the Borden Company. Although 

no manufacturing took place in the building, 

it was the office building of a manufacturer,

occupying seventeen of twenty-four floors), 

whose goods were shipped across state lines. 

In C a llu s , the employees in question serviced a 

building occupied by renters of  an unrestricted 

variety of offices with no manufacturing.

Justice Felix Frankfurter, writing for the 

majority in C a llu s and concurring in the 

result in B o rd e n , articulated his frustration 

with Congress having put upon the Courts 

through the FLSA “ the independent respon­

sibility of applying ad hoc the general terms 

of the statute to an infinite variety of compli­

cated industrial situations.”  He made “ abun­

dantly clear”  that he objected to involving the 

courts “ in the empiric process of  drawing lines 

from case to case, and inevitably nice lines”  to 

ensure that essentially local activities, which 

should be left to regulation by the states, were 

not absorbed by adjudication. The employees 

in C a llu s , according to Frankfurter, were en­

gaged in local business. “ Renting office space 

in a building exclusively set aside for an unre­

stricted variety of office work spontaneously 

satisfies the common understanding of what 

is local business and makes the employees of 

such a building engaged in local business.”  73

Margolin returned to the Supreme Court 

to argue two more cases in 1945, R o la n d E le c­

tr ic a l  C o . v. W a ll in g on October 8, and B o u te l l 

v . W a ll in g the next day. She earned favorable 

rulings in both cases. With R o la n d E le c tr i­

c a l C o ., the Court adopted the view that the 

FLSA’s coverage of  Roland’s employees (who 

repaired equipment for industrial and commer­

cial customers) was premised on the fact that 

their work was necessary to the production of 

the commodities produced for commerce by 

Roland’s customers, and that Roland was not 

entitled to the exemption for “ service estab­

lishments,”  which were limited to local mer­

chants, local grocers, or filling  stations whose 

customers buy for personal consumption.74 

In B o u te l l1 5 the Supreme Court affirmed the 

Sixth Circuit’s conclusion that the mechanics 

of a business that serviced motor transporta­

tion equipment operated by a business en­

gaged in interstate commerce were themselves
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e ngage d in inte rs tate co m m e rce , and we re no t 

e xe m p t u nde r the FLSA’s e xe m p tio ns fo r “ re­

tail or service establishment”  or for employ­

ees under Interstate Commerce Commission 

regulation.

The lesson Margolin learned from being 

called upon at the last minute to argue ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB o rd e n 

v . B o re l la— that is, a lawyer must be prepared 

to argue any case in which her name appears 

on the brief—served her well again in B o u te l l 

v . W a ll in g , where she learned an equally im­

portant lesson about the Court’s time limits:

The preceding argument before 

Boutell was an employee suit un­

der FLSA involving coverage of  win­

dow washers cleaning windows of  in­

dustrial plants. The Government had 

filed a brief amicus supporting cov­

erage, but was not participating in 

oral argument. When I got up to 

argue the Boutell case (which in­

volved a wholly different (exemp­

tion) issue)—and was on summary 

docket, several Justices bombarded 

[me] with questions on the preceding 

window-washer case. These ques­

tions continued until the 5-minute 

warning light came on. [Assistant So­

licitor  General] Bob Stem, seeing my 

predicament, brought me a note say­

ing he thought it would be appropri­

ate for me to request the Chief Jus­

tice [Harlan Fiske Stone] for a lit ­

tle extra time to argue the case to 

which I was assigned. So, as def­

erentially as I could, I said: “ Mr. 

Chief Justice, would it be appropri­

ate for me to ask for some addi­

tional time inasmuch as virtually all 

of my time has been consumed in 

answering questions on the preced­

ing case?”  Whereupon, the Chief Jus­

tice promptly replied: “ You have only 

four minutes left to complete your ar­

gument, Miss Margolin.”  Mr. Justice 

Douglas then asked me a very diffi ­

cult question, my inadequate answer 

to which used up the remainder of 

my time. Luckily  for me, the majority 

ruled in our favor by a 5-3 split Court 

(Justice Douglas writing the dissent­

ing opinion).76

Justice Jackson was not present when 

Margolin argued these cases, having accepted 

President Harry S. Truman’s appointment as 

Chief Counsel to the Nazi War Crimes Tri­

als in Nuremberg, Germany. In May 1946, 

Margolin would also answer the call to assist in 

this national effort, which, like the New Deal 

in the 1930s, captured the interest and passion 

of hundreds of talented lawyers.77 Margolin 

volunteered for a civilian tour of duty with the 

Army to support the prosecution of the Nazi 

criminals at Nuremberg. In June 1946, Mar­

golin described her “ interesting adventure”  to 

her mentor, John Lord O’Brian.

The longer I remain in Germany—  

particularly the more I see and read 

about Nazis—and listen to them tes­

tifying in court, the more impatient I 

become of  any leniency shown them, 

and the more concerned I become 

over the lack of interest shown by 

Americans in prosecuting sufficient 

numbers of them to insure against 

the revival of their shocking and 

nauseating doctrines and crimes....

Mr. Justice Jackson said to me the 

other day that he fears that from 

the long term point of view, the 

Nazis have been victorious because 

20 years from now the Germans 

are bound to be dominant in Europe 

through sheer force of  numbers. They 

have certainly succeeded in their di­

abolical population-control plans. I 

said to Sir David, whom I met on 

Saturday, that while it might sound 

blood-thirsty, I thought we should 

prosecute at least five million and 

impose the death penalty freely on
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all that had any co nne ctio n with the 

m as s m u rde rs and atro citie s ....

So m y fir s t two we e ks he re have 

bro u ght m e to the co nclu s io n that any  

little we ight I m ay car ry s ho u ld be 

thro wn in the dire ctio n o f incre as ing 

the nu m be r o f Nazis to be p ro s e cu te d 

fo r m u rde r . The gre at difficu lty , as 

y o u kno w, is s e cu r ing m anp o we r fo r 

the jo b o f p ro s e cu tio n. I have take n 

o ccas io n to s u gge s t to bo th Ju s tice 

Jacks o n and [U.S. General] Telford 

Taylor that it would be well worth­

while to bring over large numbers of 

Americans for three or four month 

periods— the educational value of it 

would in itself make it worthwhile. 

I ’m convinced that the gravity of the 

situation is not appreciated until one 

gets here on the scene and personally 

starts to cope with it. Certainly it has 

been a revelation to me....

Don’ t judge from the foregoing 

outburst that I aspire to solving the 

big and basic problems over here—  

my assignment is quite limited—and 

I think it will be a very interest­

ing one. I ’m to work on proposals 

for the organization and procedure of 

courts to try the subsequent cases. 

The problem is one which virtually 

nothing has yet been done although 

people have been working up the 

evidence on many more defendants. 

It seems impracticable to try many 

more defendants before quadripartite 

courts. So my job will  be to work out, 

in collaboration with other govern­

ments, and with our military govern­

ment and State Department and Army 

representatives, plans for alternative 

tribunals... I ’ve had some interest­

ing social life, too. I was fortunate 

enough to call on Mr. Jackson on 

a day when he was having a din­

ner party at which there was room 

for another lady guest, and he in­

vited me very generously. That gave 

me an early opportunity to get ac­

quainted with a number of interest­

ing characters, including the French 

alternate judge—Judge Falco. That 

party was for some French officials. 

Tomorrow night there is a party for 

some Belgian officials, to which the 

Justice has also invited me. Yester­

day afternoon Telford Taylor and his 

wife had a cocktail party at which 

I met a number of British and Rus­

sian officials— including Sir David 

and General Rudenko. So you see it 

is quite an interesting adventure for 

me.78

Margolin’s major contribution was to draft 

the original regulation under which the tri­

bunals were constituted. General Telford Tay­

lor wrote to Labor Secretary Schwellenbach 

describing Margolin’s efforts during her tour 

of duty. “ She made a very distinct and impor­

tant contribution to our work here, and in par­

ticular was primarily responsible for planning 

and drafting Military  Government Ordinance 

No. 7, under which the remainder of our war 

crimes will  be conducted. I cannot praise her 

professional accomplishments too highly.” 79 

Even after Margolin returned to the United 

States, she traveled to recruit judges and 

lawyers to preside over the subsequent pro­

ceedings she helped to create at Nuremburg.80

After six months away, Margolin promptly 

resumed her work to enforce the FLSA, direct­

ing the litigation strategies of the regional at­

torneys and overseeing the appellate cases. She 

was back at the Supreme Court in April  1947 

to argue her sixth case, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAR u th e r fo rd F o o d C o r­

p o ra tio n v. M c C o m b,81 where she sought to en­

sure FLSA wage and hour protections for meat 

boners (the workers who removed beef from 

the bones of slaughtered cattle), as employees 

of the slaughterhouse operator and not inde­

pendent contractors, even though they worked 

under a contract, owned their own tools, and 

were paid collectively a certain amount per
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hu ndre d we ight o f bo ne d be e f, which p ay the y 

divide d am o ng the m s e lve s .ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

S u p re m e C o u r t o f th e . U n ite d S ta te s .
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Jackson w ro te th is cheerfu l no te to M argo lin w hen  

she argued her s ix th case , in A pril 1947 . T hey had  

soc ia lized toge the r w h ile se rv ing a t the w ar tria ls in  

N urem burg , w here she  dra fted the  orig ina l regu la tion  

under w h ich  the  tribuna ls w ere  constitu ted .

Justice Jackson, who had also returned 

from Nuremburg, wrote her the following 

playful note after her argument:

Cheer up. You are in an historic 

case. One side or the other has often 

been the beneficiary of “ boners” in 

Court but you are first in this Court’s 

history to urge that “ boners” are 

beneficiaries!

R.H.J.

The informal tone of this note, coupled with 

Margolin’s description of attending social 

events with him in Nuremburg, suggests that 

they had become friends.

Just as his predecessors had done since 

Charles Fahy, Solicitor General Philip Perl­

man, appointed in 1949, continued to assign 

Fair Labor Standards Act cases to Margolin for 

argument before the Supreme Court. Arguing

on behalf of the United States as amicus cu­

riae by special leave of court, Margolin began 

argument in her eighth, ninth and tenth cases 

on Thursday, December 8, and concluded her 

argument on Friday, December 9, 1949. The 

question in all three cases was whether the Fair 

Labor Standards Act applies to employees of 

a private contractor at a government-owned 

munitions plant operated by the contractor 

under a cost-plus-a-fixed-fee contract with the 

United States. When she returned to the coun­

sel table, Margolin jotted a quick note to Assis­

tant Solicitor General Robert L. Stern, “ Bob—  

Did I give away too much—or not enough?”  

He wrote on the back of  the note, “ I don’t think 

anyone could have done any better or said any­

thing different.” 82

Stern’s positive assessment of Margolin’s 

argument was shared by at least one other spec­

tator. H.P. Zarky, Special Assistant to U.S. At­

torney General J. Howard McGrath, sent the 

following note to Margolin. “ Bessie, One of 

the private counsel appearing later on Friday 

asked who you were. Said it was the best ar­

gument he ever heard. Had I been there to 

hear it all I am sure I would agree.” 83 On May 

8, 1950, the Supreme Court issued its opinion, 

reversing the judgments below as Margolin ad­

vocated.84

As Margolin worked to protect the wages 

of workers across the country, she suffered 

from what she considered unfair treatment in 

her own salary at the Labor Department. In 

July 1953, a departmental budget cut reduced 

the number of Assistant Solicitors from eight 

to four, with Margolin downgraded from a GS- 

15 to a GS-14, continuing in the same du­

ties and responsibilities but without the title 

of Assistant Solicitor, and placed as a formal­

ity under the general supervision of another 

Assistant Solicitor.85 Although Margolin had 

seniority, both in length of government ser­

vice and in the GS-15 position over two of the 

lawyers retained as Assistant Solicitors, the 

absolute preference given to veterans operated 

against her. Even after she was restored to her 

GS-15 salary and her Assistant Solicitor title
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16 months later, she claimed the loss of time 

that would have been credited toward in-grade 

increases permanently placed her three steps 

lower in salary than the Assistant Solicitors 

who had not been downgraded.86

Prompted as much by a desire to rectify 

her downgrade as to recognize her achieve­

ments, Margolin’s superiors went to great 

efforts to secure Departmental honors and 

cash awards for her. In the same month that 

Margolin was downgraded, Acting Solicitor 

Jeter S. Ray nominated her for a Distinguished 

Service Award, which she received.

The welfare of literally millions of 

workers depends on the protection af­

forded them by the Fair Labor Stan­

dards Act and the Walsh Healy Act.

The numbers of workers to whom 

these acts apply and the degree of 

protection afforded them depends in 

large measure on the rules of deci­

sions as to the Acts’ interpretation 

which have been formulated by the 

Supreme Court of the United States 

and the several courts of appeals in 

the contested cases which come be­

fore them. As the Assistant Solicitor 

directly in charge of  this work for the 

past eleven years, Miss Margolin’s 

outstanding skill and tireless devo­

tion to her duty have produced re­

sults in this most important aspect of 

the Department’s litigation phenom­

enally beyond those normally to have 

been expected.87

Margolin’s devotion to her duty and phe­

nomenal results continued to be the hallmark 

of her thirty-three year career at the Depart­

ment of  Labor. By the time she retired in 1972, 

approximately 600 Supreme Court and appel­

late cases (on the merits) had been prepared 

under her immediate direction and review. In 

addition, there were approximately 150 peti­

tions for certiorari and responses to petitions 

denied. Most impressively, she had principally 

briefed ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa n d personally argued 178 cases, of

which 28 were in the Supreme Court and 150 

in the appellate courts in every federal circuit 

in the country.88 Of the cases she argued in the 

Supreme Court, Margolin failed to obtain a fa­

vorable ruling in only three. After her first loss 

in C a llu s in 1945, Margolin prevailed in all the 

cases she argued at the Supreme Court until 

1959, in M itc h e l l v . O re g o n F ro ze n F o o d s ,8 9 

Margolin’s twenty-third such case. There, 

following argument, the Court dismissed the 

writ  of certiorari as improvidently granted due 

to ambiguities in the record, allowing the ad­

verse ruling of  the Ninth Circuit to stand. Mar­

golin’s third and final loss followed her 1959 

argument in M itc h e l l v . H .B . Z a c h ry ?0 where 

the Court held that a construction company 

hired by a water supply district to build a dam 

was not “ closely related”  or “ directly essen­

tial”  to production for commerce and there­

fore the employees were not entitled to FLSA 

coverage. And even in that case, decided five 

to four, Margolin claimed victory to the extent 

the Supreme Court’s ruling was favorable for 

the Department:

Although the Supreme Court af­

firmed the decision (by a 5 to 4 di­

vided Court), it repudiated much of 

the reasoning of the Court of Ap­

peals [Fifth Circuit] which would 

have had far-reaching implications 

on the scope of the Act ’s “ produc­

tion”  coverage considerably beyond 

this case. The decision is also of  con­

siderable significance to many other 

cases because of the general criteria 

it suggests as guides for determin­

ing the Act’s application in difficult  

and doubtful cases, and its emphasis 

on the controlling importance of  per­

tinent legislative history, which the 

Court of Appeals had dismissed as 

unnecessary to consider.91

The 28 Supreme Court cases Margolin 

argued pale in comparison to the total num­

ber of circuit court arguments she presented—  

150. Of these 150 cases, Margolin received
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favo rable ru lings in 114, of which only 1 

was later reversed by the Supreme Court (ar­

gued by someone other than Margolin). Of  the 

36 circuit court cases she lost, 7 were reversed 

by the Supreme Court—6 of which Margolin 

argued.92ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M argo lin argued tw en ty -e igh t tim es be fo re the  

S uprem e C ourt. In her th irty -th ree yea rs a t the D e ­

partm en t o f Labor she ove rsaw  the C ourt's en fo rce ­

m ent o f the F a ir Labor S tandards A ct (F LS A ), and  

la te r the E qua l P ay A ct.

Her work did not go unheralded. For 

example, Solicitor General Simon Sobeloff 

wrote to Labor Secretary James P. Mitchell 

expressing his “ deep appreciation for the out­

standing work of Miss Bessie Margolin” in 

Supreme Court matters pertaining to the De­

partment of Labor during the 1954 October 

Term:

Three very important Fair Labor

Standards Act cases, which I urged 

the Supreme Court to consider, were 

briefed on the merits and argued 

orally at that time (Mitchell v. Joyce 

Agency, Inc. 348 U.S. 445, Mitchell 

v. Vollmer &  Co., 349 U.S. 427, 

Maneja v. Waialua Agricultural Co.,

349 U.S. 254), and several other sig­

nificant cases were dealt with in 

briefs in opposition or petitions for 

certiorari. The three cases heard by 

the Court were each of widespread 

consequence, involving one or more 

basic aspects of the enforcement of 

the Fair Labor Standards Act and 

affecting large numbers of workers 

throughout the country....

In simple justice to Miss Margolin, 

and without disparaging the work of 

others, I must say she was primar­

ily  responsible for the briefing of the 

cases. Moreover, she personally ar­

gued the Joyce Agency and Maneja 

cases. Without her excellent, careful, 

thorough and persuasive briefs these 

significant cases would not have 

achieved the measure of success ac­

tually attained. Her distinguished and 

effective oral arguments— in com­

plex and difficult  cases—also played 

a very large role in these results and 

members of the Court have spoken 

of her to me in highest praise. I con­

sider my Office fortunate in having a 

lawyer of Miss Margolin’s outstand­

ing calibre on whom to rely in this 

important phase of government liti ­

gation in the Supreme Court.93

Margolin owed her career as an appel­

late advocate to Congress’s decision in the 

FLSA to withhold general rule-making author­

ity  from the Department of Labor. As a result, 

the courts, including the Supreme Court, were 

frequently called upon to clarify the vague lan­

guage of the Act unaided by any rule or de­

cision of an administrative agency to which 

deference should be granted for expertise in 

the subject matter.94 In only the first five years 

after the FLSA took effect, the Supreme Court 

decided thirty-one FLSA cases.95 After the 

Court upheld the constitutionality of the Act 

in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD a rb y and O p p C o tto n M il ls ,9 6 the litiga­

tion focused on the Act’s interpretation, and 

Margolin served for nearly four decades as the
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p r incip al archite ct o f that litigatio n. He r lo ng­

time legal protege Carin Clauss, described her 

strategy:

Although the FLSA withheld for­

mal rulemaking power from the La­

bor Department, Bessie used two im­

portant techniques to influence the 

Court’s interpretation of the statute.

In the first instance, she worked with 

colleague Harold Nystrom to issue 

interpretations of the law that were 

captured in “ interpretative bulletins”  

to which the Court gave a great deal 

of  weight. And because he and Bessie 

were such good friends, she was very 

much involved in how the law would 

be interpreted. And they used to fight 

and argue because Harold would take 

a position that Bessie would say, “ You 

can’t get from the statute to there 

without litigation. It ’s too big a jump.

The Court won’ t make that big a 

jump. w

Margolin also shaped how controversies 

over interpretation reached the Court through 

her comprehensive legal analyses. Margolin 

personally wrote or oversaw the writing of 

scholarly, thorough legal memoranda, which 

she distributed throughout her division at the 

national office and the Solicitor’s regional of­

fices. By the time she retired, Margolin had 

issued nearly 200 analyses that filled several 

loose-leaf binders. Some of these pertained to 

fundamental FLSA issues such as coverage or 

the employment relationship. Other analyses 

followed each new Supreme Court decision. 

According to Carin Clauss and Donald Shire, 

who worked for Margolin from the early to 

mid-1960s through her retirement, the analy­

ses reviewed what had been accomplished by 

the Court’s decision and set forth guidance to 

identify future cases to achieve what had not 

yet been accomplished. Clauss gave general 

examples of what Margolin wrote in the anal­

yses, “ We wanted [the Court] to address the 

following issues. They dumped this issue. So

they gave us good language on these two is­

sues. We want to develop this third issue. This 

case was too tough for them. So I ’m not going 

to approve for litigation any case that doesn’ t 

have the following elements.” 98 Considered a 

“ bible,”  Margolin’s legal analyses were crucial 

to the Solicitor’s Office not only in writing 

appellate briefs but also in deciding whether 

regional offices “ could bring a particularly 

tough case involving a novel issue of law.” 99

Margolin’s tenure at the Department of 

Labor spanned five presidents, nine Secre­

taries of Labor (Frances Perkins 1933-1945, 

Lewis B. Schwellenbach 1945-1948, Mau­

rice Tobin 1948-1953, Martin P. Durkin 1953, 

James P. Mitchell 1953-1961, Arthur J. Gold­

berg 1961-1962, W. Willard Wirtz 1962- 

1969, George P. Shultz 1969-1970, and James 

D. Hodgson 1970-1973), and eleven Solici­

tors of Labor (Gerard D. Reilly, Irving Levy, 

Douglas B. Maggs, Warner Gardner, William  

S. Tyson, Stuart Rothman, Charles Dono­

hue, Harold Nystrom (Acting), Laurence H. 

Silberman, Peter G. Nash, and Richard 

Schubert). “ Solicitors come and go but I ’ ll  

always be here,” Margolin once remarked. 

According to Clauss, Margolin “ was able—  

by virtue of her reputation and integrity and 

persuasive power to push new (and ever 

younger and more conservative) solicitors to 

a more pro-worker stance, all in the name 

of administering and enforcing the statutes as 

Congress wrote them.” 100 New political ap­

pointees would arrive saying, “ they’re going to 

change the Solicitor’s office. And then they’d 

bump up against Bessie.” 101

At  Margolin’s retirement dinner, Laurence 

Silberman described his first encounter in 

1969—as a brand new, thirty-three year-old 

Solicitor of Labor—with Margolin, who was 

then Associate Solicitor for Fair Labor Stan­

dards, and had started her career as a fed­

eral government lawyer before Silberman was 

born.

First of all, she has, as you all know, 

a formidable reputation.... I was
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te r r ifie d be cau s e I fo u nd o u t that be­

fore I became solicitor there were 

three steps: I had to be nominated by 

the President, confirmed by the Sen­

ate, and interviewed by Bessie. And 

she made it  clear at the outset that the 

fact that I  was a Republican would not 

make the interview any easier. But I 

was perspicacious enough to find out 

from someone in the Solicitor’s of­

fice that if  I expressed undying loy­

alty to what somebody described as 

the equal pay provisions of the Fair 

Labor Standards Act, it didn’t matter 

what I else I did. And so I followed 

their advice and the interview went 

very well.

Although recounted with humor, Silberman’s 

anecdote was not far from the truth.102

Margolin earned the deep respect of 

lawyers and judges across the country, in­

cluding members of the Supreme Court. So 

much so that she was able— in appropriate 

circumstances— to employ humor when ad­

dressing the Justices. The audio recording of 

Margolin’s November 16, 1955 argument in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
S te in e r v . M itc h e l l1 0 3 reveals Justice Frank­

furter rapidly firing  questions at Margolin, re­

flecting his ongoing dislike of the “ line draw­

ing”  burden Congress imposed on the Court 

by the FLSA. Margolin deflected the frustra­

tion Justice Frankfurter frequently directed at 

her and used carefully measured humor to per­

suade the Court to interpret the FLSA’s “ Portal 

to Portal”  amendments to require employers 

to pay workers in a wet storage battery plant, 

whose jobs involved contact with caustic and 

toxic chemicals, for the time they spent chang­

ing their clothes and showering.

Margolin: Now I  grant you that that’s 

not something that is ABC  or a simple 

decision to make, but it ’s no different 

than many questions of statutory in­

terpretation as to the application of a 

legal criterion of a statute.

J. Frankfurter: [inaudible]

Margolin: [You ’ve] many times said 

to me the Court should leave the ques­

tion for Congress, and not for the 

Court. B u t ,  a f te r  a l l ,  C o n g r e s s h a s 4  

o r  5 0 0 p e o p le t h a t  t h e y  h a v e t o  g e t 

in t o  a g r e e m e n t o n la n g u a g e , a n d  

t h e C o u r t  h a s j u s t  n in e . W h ic h  i s 

e n o u g h !

[ la u g h te r  in  c o u r t r o o m ]

J. Frankfurter: [inaudible]

Margolin: I ’m sure, Mr. Justice

Frankfurter, I don’ t need to tell you 

that language is not something that is 

easy to make clear.

Another instance of Margolin’s well- 

timed and well-received humor occurred in  her 

January 1960 argument as amicus in A rn o ld v. 

B e n K a n o w sk y .1 0 4 Following up on a question 

posed by Chief Justice Earl Warren, another 

Justice asked Margolin: “ May I ask just this 

question? Do you stand or fall in this case on 

your answer to the Chief Justice?”  Margolin’s 

quick response, cast in feigned bewilderment, 

brought on laughter from the entire courtroom, 

including the Justice who posed the question. 

“ What do you mean, do I stand? As I see it, I 

stand. I  don’t fall on either.”

Margolin enjoyed telling about her at­

tempts during her 1947 oral argument in 

R u th e r fo rd F o o d to satisfy Justice Frankfurter 

who was “ showing (or pretending) great irrita­

tion that I  could not suggest more specific stan­

dards as substitute for common law principles 

for determining whether an employment rela­

tionship existed”  between the boners and the 

slaughterhouse. According to Margolin, Jus­

tice Frankfurter said to her,

“ You are asking the Court to aban­

don common law principles but are 

not suggesting any tangible standards 

as substitute.”  I repeatedly answered 

his questions by referring to the prin­

ciple the Court had itself set forth 

three years earlier in L a b o r B o a rd v . 

H e a rs t P u b lish in g C o . (322 U.S. Ill)

(an 8-1 decision, in which Justice
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Frankfu r te r had co ncu r re d, o nly 

Ju s tice Ro be r ts dissenting). Justice 

Frankfurter was still badgering me 

hard when adjournment time was 

reached, leaving me about 10 minutes 

to go when Court resumed at noon the 

next day.

Overnight I wracked my brains—  

with the help of able associates— to 

prepare an adequate answer, in the 

event Justice Frankfurter should re­

new the pressure. Jokingly, I sug­

gested, if  pushed, I might quote one 

of Justice Frankfurter’s own highly 

generalized standards from his opin­

ion in an FLSA case 1 had argued 

about two years earlier (_ v. _, 325 

U.S. 578— lost by a 5^f split Court, 

with Justice Frankfurter writing the 

majority opinion).

1 really did not intend to use the 

quote, as I  thought it  would be imper­

tinent. However, as soon as I got on 

my feet the next day, Justice Frank­

furter started in immediately with 

the same questions— lengthening 

out his questions and objections to 

my answers, so that my 10 minutes 

were fast dwindling away. Finally—  

somewhat to my own surprise— 1 

found myself saying: “ Well, Your 

Honor, the only other specific 

test 1 can think of is one Your 

Honor suggested in another case 

involving a question of coverage 

of the Act—Your Honor suggested 

that the test for distinguishing 

between non-covered local business 

and covered national business was 

what “ spontaneously satisfies the 

common understanding.” At which 

point, all of the other Justices joined 

in laughter, and Justice Frankfurter 

became and remained silent for the 

rest of the argument. And he later 

joined the unanimous decision in 

favor of  the Government.105

That Margolin captured Justice Frank­

furter’s attention is further evidenced in notes 

he sent from the Bench to Philip Elman, for­

mer law clerk and Assistant Solicitor Gen­

eral. On November 18, 1959, just one day 

after Margolin argued ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM itc h e l l v. O re g o n 

F ro ze n F o o d s ,1 0 6 and two days after she 

argued M itc h e l l v . D e M a r io J e w e lry ,107 Frank­

furter penned a note “ Re Bessie Margolin,”  

which appears to capture a conversation be­

tween two persons identified only as “ F”  and 

“ X ” :

After some dithyrambic praise 

F “ She is a very good girl 

and a good advocate but not a 

lawyer of unsettling brilliance 

apart from the deft use of her 

feminine charms.”

X-Don’ t you think that fe­

male charms are terribly impor­

tant!!!”
ppl08

Another rather cryptic note from Justice 

Frankfurter, dated May 9, and which Elman 

placed in a folder labeled “ Bessie Margolin,”  

queried, “ I ’ ll give you one guess who is the 

most susceptible to MAHR ’s exploitation of 

her female talents?”  The answer, or possibly 

Elman’s guess, at the bottom of the note, is 

“ Harlan.” 109

Margolin did indeed have a feminine style 

to accompany her “ crisp”  speech and “ pene­

trating”  analyses at oral argument, which were 

rivaled only by her “ special gift of lucid­

ity in the writing of briefs,”  the product of 

seemingly endless wordsmithing and exhaus­

tive research.110 She spoke with an engaging 

drawl and calm confidence that revealed her 

Southern heritage and the power of  her knowl­

edge. She was a striking brunette known for her 

elegant wardrobe and impeccable coiffure—  

the latter owed to regular, morning visits to 

the Elizabeth Arden Salon, where she often
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e dite d br ie fs . Whe the r be cau s e o f he r ge nde r , 

he r ap p e arance , o r he r de m e ano r (or all three), 

Margolin turned heads as she entered court­

rooms throughout the federal circuits and at 

the Court. “ She walked with absolute assur­

ance that a door would be opened before she 

got to it.” 111

At the Supreme Court, Margolin’s self- 

assurance stemmed not only from her grow­

ing number of appearances, but also because 

each appearance further enhanced her unique 

expertise as a Supreme Court advocate with 

personal knowledge of the growing body of 

FLSA cases she cited. Margolin’s preeminence 

in the subject matter of the FLSA enabled 

her to engage the Justices in bold colloquy— 

always tempered with a Southern grace— 

which would have been rejected as imperti­

nent or foolhardy from a less experienced ad­

vocate. Take, for example, her exchange with 

Justice Charles Whitaker during her February 

25, 1960 argument in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM itc h e l l v . H .B . Z a c h ry . 

More than a decade earlier, Margolin had ar­

gued M c C o m b v. J a c k so n v i l le P a p e r C o ..)n  

in which the Court established that the trial 

court had the authority to order back pay where 

the employer violates the court’s prior judg­

ment enjoining further violations of the Act’s 

wage, overtime, and record-keeping require­

ments. However, without the injunction in the 

first instance, the FLSA did not otherwise au­

thorize backpay awards. Margolin was greatly 

concerned about the growing number of trial 

judges— like the one in the case at bar—who 

refused to grant injunctive relief even when 

they found FLSA violations, thereby prevent­

ing the Department from seeking back pay 

for repeat violations and, in turn, encourag­

ing employers to contest FLSA coverage while 

withholding wages, without financial disin­

centive. Margolin used half of the time allot­

ted for her argument in H .B . Z a c h ry to ask the 

Supreme Court to address this abuse of  discre­

tion. The audio recording of  the oral argument 

reveals that Margolin did not shy away when 

Justice Whitaker challenged the government’s 

position:

J. Whitaker: I ’ve had citations issued 

against clients of mine, a number of 

cases by your department on just this 

kind of business. And I tell you it ’s 

not fair and it ’s not right to deny 

one citizen the right to live under the 

law of the land simply because he’s 

had one piece of litigation with the 

government and let his competitors 

[alone]... make him live under the 

citation of contempt just because he’s 

living  under the law of  the land. 

Margolin: Again, can I just put this 

question to you? Is it right or fair 

that employees should not be paid 

what their rights—now this Act is 

20 years old now— that their employ­

ees should lose their wages under this 

Act every time there is a doubt as to 

coverage?

J. Whitaker: Not at all. The Courts 

are open to them just as they are to 

the employers, but the weight of  gov­

ernment shouldn’t be thrown either 

way.

Margolin: You think that this law was 

intended to put them on an equal basis 

as to minimum wages?

J. Whitaker: The government throws 

its weight to one side.

Margolin: Well, I think, the govern­

ment, certainly Congress intended 

the government to throw its weight 

on the side of  the minimum— the sub­

standard wage earners in this country 

when it passed this law. I think that 

is certainly clear beyond doubt, Mr. 

Justice Whitaker.

As masterful as she was in controlling 

what happened in the courtrooms where she 

argued, neither Margolin’s intellect nor “ fem­

inine charm”  protected her from harsh treat­

ment or disappointment in other facets of 

her life. Being a striking, single woman, 

often in the company of male colleagues, 

may account for frequent speculation about
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he r p e rs o nal and ro m antic re latio ns hip s . In 

1943, Margolin was caught up in a partic­

ularly nasty investigation by Congressman 

Eugene E. Cox, who sought to discredit 

Federal Communications Commission Chair­

man Larry Fly, in part by threatening to 

reveal his alleged extramarital relationship 

with Margolin during their time together at 

the TVA.113 Then Congressman Lyndon B. 

Johnson and House Speaker Sam Rayburn 

stopped Cox from publicly questioning Fly 

about his relationship with Margolin during 

the House Select Committee hearings. Ray­

burn reportedly told Cox, “ Now, Gene, there 

ain’t going to be no sex in this investigation. 

You understand me, Gene. There ain’ t going 

to be no sex. There’s too damn many of  us that 

are vulnerable on that score.” 114 Although Cox 

obliged, the investigative reports with TVA  

travel vouchers and details (or wild specula­

tion) from Margolin’s housekeepers and land­

lords about the company Margolin kept while 

at her Knoxville, Tennessee apartment or while 

traveling for the TVA  remain to this day in 

Congress’s files.115

Perhaps the biggest disappointment of 

Margolin’s career was her unsuccessful at­

tempt to secure nomination by President Lyn­

don B. Johnson for a federal judgeship in the 

mid 1960s, despite the persistent efforts of  im­

pressive backers such as Congressman and 

fellow Tulane alumnus Hale Boggs, fellow 

Newcomb alumnus Corinne “ Lindy”  Boggs, 

Secretary Willard Wirtz, Justice Douglas, 

Justice Goldberg, Treasury Secretary Henry 

Fowler, Assistant Labor Secretary Esther Pe­

terson, John Lord O’Brian, and many other 

close and loyal supporters. In recommending 

Margolin to President Johnson for a judgeship, 

Justice Douglas wrote, “ If  I had to list the ten 

best advocates who have appeared before us in 

the last 25 years that I have been on the bench, 

I would put Bessie Margolin down as one of 

the ten. She is tops.” 116

Despite stunning accomplishments and 

strong references, neither Margolin nor any 

other woman (except for Constance Baker

Motley, who was appointed to the federal dis­

trict court in New York) received a federal 

judgeship anywhere in the country between 

1963 and 1967. Of the then total 395 fed­

eral judges, there were only two women—both 

federal district court judges, Burnita Shelton 

Matthews (D.C.) and Sarah Tilghman Hughes 

(Tex.)—and there had been no woman on the 

federal appellate bench since the retirement 

of Circuit Judge Florence Allen in 1959. As 

Margolin wrote in 1964 to supporter Katie 

Louchheim, Deputy Assistant Secretary of 

State for Public Affairs, “ There are very few 

men attorneys, and I know there is no other 

woman attorney, with as much experience in 

federal appellate practice as I have been privi­

leged to acquire.” 117 Intent on appointing at 

least fifty  women to high-level government 

positions, over several days in March 1964, 

President Johnson discussed Margolin as a 

candidate for the Court of Claims or other fed­

eral judgeships, asking his aides about her age 

and political assets. “ What about this Jewish 

woman for this Court of Claims? Is she a little  

dangerous on that?” 118

Margolin’s name—and her excellent ap­

pellate record—would continue to be dis­

cussed within the White House for each of 

several vacancies on the Court of Claims and 

the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of 

Columbia over the next three years.119 For 

whatever reasons, Margolin was passed over 

each time. By January 1967, John Macy, Spe­

cial Assistant to the President, agreed with a 

staff recommendation “ that her age (58) would 

tend to preclude her from consideration. One 

does not get the impression, from perusing her 

record, that she outshines some of  the younger 

feminine candidates that we have.” 120 Appar­

ently, that was her last chance.

Privately disappointed by not being cho­

sen for a judgeship, Margolin turned her at­

tention during her last eight years at the Labor 

Department to the 1963 Equal Pay Amend­

ment to the FLSA, the 1964 Civil  Rights Act 

(actively refuting claims that its prohibition 

against sex discrimination was a “ fluke” ), and
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the 1967 Age Discrimination in Employment 

Act. Again she oversaw the Department’s na­

tional litigation strategies and personally ar­

gued the first appeals under some of those 

statutes.'21 The Equal Pay Act cases, in par­

ticular, presented very difficult issues of law 

and fact and the Department’s suits against em­

ployers were defended vigorously by some of 

the country’s most prestigious law firms that 

specialized in labor law. One of Margolin’s 

most significant accomplishments was in con­

vincing the Third Circuit Court of Appeals to 

reverse the federal district court’s decision—  

considered “ bullet-proof’ because of its ex­

tensive reliance on facts—by establishing that, 

when Congress enacted the Equal Pay Act re­

quiring that women receive equal pay for equal 

work, it “ did not require that the jobs be iden­

tical, but only that they must be substantially 

equal. Any other interpretation would destroy 

the remedial purpose of the Act.” 122

Laurence Silberman, who was Solicitor 

of Labor when the Third Circuit issued its rul­

ing, later recounted discussing with Margolin 

whether to oppose the employer’s petition for 

review by the Supreme Court.

Now you could see the light in

Bessie’s eyes. She had a sweeping 

decision in the Third Circuit and 

here was an opportunity to take an 

Equal Pay case to the Supreme Court.

And Bessie suggested that maybe 

we should not oppose cert because 

it would be appropriate to have the 

Supreme Court see this issue. Well, I 

didn’ t think there was any way in the 

world we were ever going to get a de­

cision that was better than that Third 

Circuit decision... But I figured a 

way to deal with the problem. I just 

sort of leaned back in my chair and 

I said, “ Bessie, you know I ’ve never 

argued a case in the Supreme Court.”

She said, “ We’ ll  oppose cert.” 123

By the time Margolin retired in 1972, 

she had received every award offered by the

Department of Labor as well as the Federal 

Woman’s Award.124 She had also won mil­

lions of dollars for America’s wage earners, 

although few if  any had ever heard of her. 

But she was well known, highly respected and 

profoundly appreciated by countless attorneys 

and support staff—men and women alike—  

whose distinguished careers she had shaped 

and supported, by imposing on them the same 

remarkably high standards she set for herself. 

Carin Clauss, now Professor Emeritus of La­

bor Law at the University of Wisconsin Law 

School, started her legal career as a staff at­

torney with Margolin in 1963 and became the 

first woman Solicitor of Labor in 1978. As 

her protege, Margolin taught Clauss that, in 

brief writing, the first thing a judge reads is 

the table of contents so every one of the argu­

ment headings must tell a complete story. As 

for oral arguments, a lawyer needs a thirty- 

second argument, a sixty-minute argument, 

and a compelling version of every length in 

between. Clauss credits Margolin—a selfless 

mentor who understood that people do not rise 

to the top on merit alone—with pushing her 

and others who worked for her to attain posi­

tions of  responsibility, including positions that 

Margolin could not achieve herself.

For several years after her retirement in 

1972, Margolin taught labor law at GeorgeZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In 1972 , m ore than 200 cow orke rs , fam ily and  

friends , as w e ll as dozens o f prom inen t judges  

and gove rnm en t o ffic ia ls , arrived a t the W ash ing ton  

H ilton H ote l fo r a fo rm a l d inne r to m ark the re tire ­

m ent o f M argo lin , A ssoc ia te S o lic ito r o f Labor. R e ­

tired  C h ie f Justice  E arl W arren , be fo re  w hom  she  had  

argued fifteen tim es, w as one  o f m any w ho sang her 

pra ises .
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Was hingto n University Law School and served 

as an arbitrator in a number of private la­

bor disputes. And, just as she had done 

every spring for years prior to her retire­

ment, Margolin continued to arrange—as a 

highlight of the annual Civics trip from 

New Orleans to Washington, D.C.— for the 

ninth grade class of her beloved Isidore 

Newman School to have a private meeting 

with a Supreme Court Justice.

After several years of declining health, 

Margolin died in 1996 at age eighty-seven. In 

lieu of  a funeral, a small group of  relatives, for­

mer colleagues, and close friends gathered to 

share stories, express gratitude, and pay trib­

ute to Bessie Margolin’s remarkable life and 

career.

E N D N O TE S

'The author grew up in New Orleans as a ward of the 

Jewish Children’s Regional Service, the successor agency 

to the Jewish Orphan’s Home (later renamed the Jewish 

Children’s Home) in which Bessie Margolin was raised, 

and attended the Isidore Newman School under the man­

date of  its charter to educate Jewish orphans. These shared 

childhood experiences—a half-century apart—prompted 

the author to meet Margolin in 1974 and to spend time 

with her over the next decade. The author, who has under­

taken to write Margolin’s biography in tribute to her and to 

these two New Orleans institutions that changed both their 

lives, is especially grateful to Malcolm Trifon, Margolin’s 

nephew, for sharing fond memories of “ Aunt Bess”  and 

for entrusting the author with Margolin’s personal papers; 

to Carin A. Clauss, Anastasia T. Dunau, Eva B. Fitzgerald, 

LeRoy Jahn, Robert E. Nagle, Donald S. Shire, and Judge 

Laurence H. Silberman, among other former or current 

members of  the Office of the Solicitor of Labor, who gra­

ciously granted interviews, in some cases lengthy and on 

repeated occasions; to Andrea Giampetro-Myer for her en­

thusiasm and advice; and to Clare Cushman for her skillful  

editing. Finally, the author appreciates her husband, Henry 
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continuing endeavor.

2Phonotape recording of “ Bessie Margolin Farewell Din­

ner” (Jan. 28, 1972), Laurence H. Silberman Papers, 

Hoover Institution Archives, Stanford University (here­

inafter “ Retirement Dinner Recording” ).
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1249) in the registry of the Jewish Orphan’s Home, Mar­

golin and her older sister, Dora, were admitted on June 5,

1913 on the recommendation of  Rabbi M. Samfield, Pres­

ident of the Memphis United Hebrew Relief Association 

and a Director of the International Order of B ’Nai Brith, 

Region 7. These records, a copy of which are on file with 

the author, were made available by Ned Goldberg, Execu­

tive Director, Jewish Children’s Regional Service.

4Harold Rubin, ed., C e n tu r y  o f P r o g r e s s in  C h i ld  

C a r e : J e w is h C h i ld r e n ’ s H o m e , 1 8 5 5 -1 9 5 5 , a t 1 -1 0 
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at Howard-Tilton Memorial Library, Tulane University, 

Manuscripts Collection number 180, Jewish Children’s 

Home Records) (hereinafter “ Jewish Children’s Home 

Records” ); A n n e Rochell Konigsmark, I s id o r e  N e w m a n 

S c h o o l : 1 0 0 Y e a r s at 18-22 (New Orleans: Isidore New­

man School, 2004); Wendy Besmann, “ The ‘ Typical 

Home Kid  Overachievers’ : Instilling a Success Ethic in the 

Jewish Children’s Home of  New Orleans,”  2005 ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAS o u th e rn 

J e w ish H is to ry 8, at 121-159.

5Jewish Orphans’ Home, Board Resolution, April 27, 

1902, quoted in Rubin, C e n tu r y  o f  P r o g r e s s , su p ra n . 

4 at 5.

6J e w ish O rp h a n s' H o m e , G o ld e n C ity M e sse n g e r , July 

1923, at 1 (Jewish Children’s Home Records).

’ Telephone Interview with Joseph Polack, brother of 

Katherine Polack Rittenberg (July 7, 2010). In 1948, 

according to her obituary, Rittenberg was named 

one of the New Orleans T im e s-P ic a y u n e’s Ten Best- 

Dressed Women. T im e s-P ic a y u n e , July 7, 1998, available 

at http://files.usgwarchives.net/la/orleans/obits/lZr-09.txt 

(last visited Dec. 9,2011).

8Statement of  Reference for Bessie Margolin from Hanna 

B. Stern to A.E. Many, Counselor to Women, Newcomb 

College (April  1926) (on file  with Newcomb College Cen­

ter for Research on Women, Newcomb Archives, Tulane 

University).

9  S e e Besmann, “ The ‘Typical Home Kid  Overachievers,” ’ 

su p ra n. 4 at 142.

J e w ish O rp h a n s’  H o m e , G o ld e n C ity M e sse n g e r , Oct.- 

Nov. 1923 (Jewish Children’s Home Records).

" id .

12Barbara Brin, et al., “Alumni Feature: Newman’s Rep­

resentative in Washington,” P io n e e r , Isidore Newman 

School, May 1966, at 6,8.

13Isidore Newman School, P io n e e r , June 1925 at 39. 

l4Booton Herndon, “ Brain Investment Pays Dividends,”  

N e w O r le a n s S ta te s , April  6, 1939 at 1.

15Unsigned Memorandum by Newcomb College Fac­

ulty Member Regarding Bessie Margolin (Oct. 27, 1927) 

(on file with Newcomb College Center for Research on 

Women, Newcomb Archives, Tulane University).

1 6 T u la n e U n iv e rs ity C la ss o f 1 9 3 0 F ifty Y e a r R e­

u n io n B o o k le t (May 10, 1980), Margolin Papers. 

One leading private practitioner with whom Mar­

golin became acquainted during her term as Civil  

Law Review Editor was Monte M. Lemann, Chair of
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T u la n e L a w  R e v ie w’stsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA Bo ard o f Advis o ry Edito rs . Eu lo­

gized in 1959 by Justice Felix Frankfurter as “ one of the 

country’s outstanding practitioners at the bar”  and “ ex­

emplar of the legal profession,”  Lemann was a member 

of the United States Supreme Court’s Advisory Commit­

tee on Rules of Civil  Procedure and a member of Presi­

dent Hoover’s so-called Wickersham Commission to study 

prohibition. Lemann “ admired [Margolin] considerably.”  

E-mail from Thomas B. Lemann, Esq., son of Monte Le­

mann, to Leon Rittenberg, Jr. (July 9, 2010) (on file with 

author).

1 ’ Profile of  Bessie Margolin in Tulane Alumni Publication 

(1967) (made available by Ellen Birerre, Director, Law 

Alumni Affairs, Tulane Law School, on file  with author). 

18Immovables by Destination, 5 T u l. L .R e v . 90 (1930— 

1931); “ Usufruct of a Promissory Note—Perfect or Im­

perfect, 4 T u l. L .R e v . 104 (1929-1930); and “ Vendor’s 
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classes of three preceding years, including Margolin ’ 30 
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Society,”  T h e T im e s-P ic a y u n e , April 12, 1934 at 11. 

19Mazie Adkins, “ N.O. Girl Aid to Yale Savant,”  I te m 

T r ib u n e , Aug. 21, 1931.
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pers. Her doctorate thesis, “ Corporate Reorganization in 

France: A Comparative Study of French and American 

Practices”  (May 30,1933), is available at Yale Law School 

Lillian  Goldman Law Library, and the other paper was 

published as “ The Corporate Reorganization Provision in 

Senate Bill  3866, A  Proposed Draft of a New Bankruptcy 

Act,”  42 Yale LJ. 387(1933)

2’ Letter from Professor Ernest G. Lorenzen, Yale Law 

School to Dean Rufus C. Harris, Tulane Law School 

(March 1, 1932) (Margolin Papers, on file  with author).

22 Letter from Margolin to Doris Stevens, Chairman, Inter 

American Commission on Women (Feb. 19, 1933) (Doris 

Stevens Papers Box 33, Schlesinger Library, Radcliffe In­

stitute for Advanced Study, Harvard University).

23Letter from Prof. William  O. Douglas, Yale University, 

to Tennessee Valley Authority (June 23, 1933) (Margolin 

Papers, on file with author).

24Letter from Richard Joyce Smith, Esquire, Whitman, 

Ransom Coulson &  Goetz, formerly Professor, Yale Law 

School, to David E. Lilienthal, Tennessee Valley Authority 

(July 8, 1933) (Margolin Papers, on file  with author). 

25Letters from Paul W. Brosman, Assistant Dean, Tulane 

Law School to Floyd W. Reeves, TVA  (July 3, 1933) and 

Rufus C. Harris, Dean, Tulane Law School to Floyd W. 

Reeves, TVA  (July 13, 1933) (Margolin Papers, on file  

with author).

26 Steven M. Neuse, D a v id  E . L i l ie n th a l — T h e  J o u r n e y  

o f  a n  A m e r ic a n  L ib e r a l  (University of Tennessee Press: 

Knoxville, 1996), 115.

27Frank Friedel, “ Foreward”  in The Making of the New 

Deal—The Insiders Speak, edited by Katie Louchheim 

(Harvard University Press, 1983), xii-xiii.

28Interview with Henry H. Fowler by Dr. Charles W. 

Crawford in New York, New York (April 22, 1971) 

(available in Tennessee Valley Authority Oral History 

Collection, Memphis State University Oral History 

Research Office), 6.

’ ’ interview with Joseph Swidler by Dr. Charles W. Craw­

ford in Washington, D.C. (October 29, 1969) (available 
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Memphis State University Oral History Research Office), 
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30/rf.
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’ '• 'T e n n e sse e E le c tr ic P o w e r C o . v. T V A , 306 U.S. 118 
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34Letter from Bessie Margolin to Wesley A. Stages, 

Dean, Yale Law School (May 10, 1948) (Margolin Pa­

pers, on file  with author).

35TVA  Classification Sheet (Form 12A) and Employee 

Status Change (Form 78) for Bessie Margolin (Jan. 1, 

1936) (Margolin TVA  Personnel Records, obtained by au­

thor through FOIA request, on file  with author). 

36Margolin’s TVA  colleague and lifelong friend, Joe Swi­

dler, was admitted the same day. 1935 U .S . S u p re m e 

C o u r t J o u rn a l 109-110 (Dec. 19-20, 1935). Informa­
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vided by Robert Ellis, Federal Judicial Records Archivist, 

National Archives and Records Administration (NARA), 
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“ On motion first made to the Court in this behalf by Mr. 
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at 26-27.

38TVA  Classification Sheet (Form 12A) and Employee 

Status Change (Form 78) for Bessie Margolin (Aug. 

16, 1937) (Margolin TVA Personnel Records, ob­

tained by author through FOIA request, on file with 

author).
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40Judge Gore told Allen to smile when she entered 
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Court-Florence E. Allen,”  1981 ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAY e a rb o o k o f  th e S u p re m e 

C o u r t H is to r ic a l S o c ie ty , 19, citing Florence Allen, T o  D o  

J u s t ly  (Ohio: Western Reserve University Press, 1965), 

110.

41 Interview with John Lord O’Brian, Senior Partner, 

Covington and Burling, by Dr. Charles Crawford in 

Washington, D.C. (Jan. 10, 1970) (available in Tennessee 

Valley Authority Oral History Collection, Memphis State 

University Oral History Research Office), 8-9. At  his in­
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was the oldest member of the Supreme Court Bar. Asked 

about the number of cases he had argued at the Supreme 

Court, O’Brian said, “ I don’ t know how many. I ’ve been 
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42 Letter from Margolin to Herbert Marks (undated) (avail­
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of  Herbert S. Marks, “ Bessie Margolin”  File) (“ Marks Pa­
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43Letter from Margolin to Wesley C. Sturges, Dean, Yale 

Law School (May 10,1948) (Margolin Papers, on file  with 
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45Letter from Margolin to Herbert S. Marks (Feb. 19, 
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46Letter from Margolin to Herbert S. Marks (April 25, 

1939) (Marks Papers).

47“ New Orleans Girl Represents U.S. at Hearing—Move 
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Herndon, “ Local Girl Makes Good in Big Way—Reared 
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O r le a n s I te m (April  6, 1939), 1.

48Booton Herndon Article, su p ra n. 47.

49W.

50Letter from Margolin to Herbert S. Marks (May 22, 

1939) (Marks Papers).

5 1 J a n e s v. L a k e W a le s C itru s G ro w e rs A sso c ia t io n , 110 F. 

2d 653 (5th Cir. 1940).

52Letter from Margolin, submitting “ Answers to Personal 

Data Questionnaire,”  to Joseph F. Dolan, Assistant Deputy 

Attorney General, U.S. Department of Justice (March 24, 

1964) (Margolin Papers).

5 3 C u d a h y P a c k in g o f L o u is ia n a , L td . v. F le m in g , 109 F.2d 

209 (5th Cir. 1941).

5 4Id . On review by the Supreme Court, Solicitor of Labor 
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the single ground that the Wage and Hour Administrator 

had no authority to delegate power to sign the subpoena. 

C u d a h y P a c k in g C o . o fL o u s ia n a v . H o lla n d , 315 U.S. 785 
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58S»« P u b lish in g C o . v . W a ll in g , 140 F.2d 445 (6th Cir.), 

c e r t, d e n ie d , 322 U.S. 728 (1944).

59Letter from Margolin to Frances Perkins, Secretary, U.S. 

Department of Labor, and attached memorandum (Sept. 

28, 1942) (General Records of the Department of Labor, 

Record Group 174 (RG 174), Box 157, National Archives 

at College Park, College Park, MD  (NACP)). (A carbon 

copy of the letter and attached memorandum are also in 

Margolin Papers.)

K ,Id .

6'Memorandum from Robert C. Smith, Director of Per­

sonnel, DOL, to Frances Perkins, Secretary, DOL (Oct. 

14, 1942) (RG 174, Box 157, NACP).

62Personnel Recommendation Re: Promotion of Bessie 

Margolin from Irving J. Levy, Acting Solicitor of Labor 

to Robert C. Smith, Director of Personnel (Oct. 20, 1942) 

(Margolin Civilian Personnel Records, NARA—National 

Personnel Records Center, St. Louis, MO  (NARA-NPRC), 

obtained through FOIA request, on file with author).

63 Memorandum from Douglas B. Maggs, Solicitor of La­

bor, to Frances Perkins, Secretary of Labor (December 

31, 1943) (RG 174, Box 157, NACP). (Copy in Margolin 

Papers.)

6 4 T e n n e sse e C o a l, I r o n  &  R a ilro a d C o m p a n y v . M u sc o d a , 

135 F.2d 320 (5th Cir. 1943).

65Margolin included this account in notes she prepared 

for Chief Justice Earl Warren to use in his remarks at her 

1972 retirement dinner. A typed version of her notes is 

available at the Library of  Congress, Manuscript Division, 

Earl Warren Papers, Box 832, and Margolin’s handwritten 

original is in her papers, on file with the author.

U ’ A .H . P h il l ip s v . W a ll in g , 324 U.S. 490 (1945).

6 7A .H . P h il l ip s v. W a ll in g , 144 F. 2d 102 (1st Cir. 1944). 

68William O. Douglas, T h e C o u r t  Y e a r s 1 9 3 9 -1 9 7 5 

(New York: Random House, 1980), 184-185. 

^’ Handwritten Note from Robert H. Jackson, Associate 

Justice to Margolin (March 1945) (Margolin Papers, on 

file with author).

nA .H . P h il l ip s v . W a ll in g , 324 U.S. 490, 493 (1945).

71 Margolin Notes for Justice Warren, su p ra n. 65.

7 21 0 E a s t 4 0 " 1 S t. B ld g . v. C a llu s , 325 U.S. 578 (1945). 

n Id „  325 U.S. at 579-583.
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”  B o u te l l v . W a ll in g , 327 U.S. 463 (1946).

76Margolin Notes for Justice Warren, su p ra n. 65. The 

Supreme Court Journal entries for Monday, October 8, 
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after R o la n d E le c tr ic a l C o m p a n y v. W a ll in g and imme­

diately before B o u te l l v. W a ll in g was M a r tin o v. M ic h i­

g a n W in d o w C le a n in g C o m p a n y , 327 U.S. 173 (1946), in 

which the Supreme Court ruled that the window washers 

were covered by the FLSA, as Margolin had urged in her 

unscheduled argument.

77 As Justice Jackson said in his April 1945 address to the 

American Society of International Law in Washington, 

D.C., “ But the dullest mind must now see that our national 

society cannot be so self-sufficient and so isolated that 

freedom, security and opportunity of  our own citizens can 

be assured by good domestic laws alone.”  Margolin kept 

a typed copy of Jackson’s address in her personal papers. 

78Letter from Margolin to John Lord O’Brian (June 2, 

1946) (available at the Charles B. Sears Law Library, Uni­

versity of Buffalo, John Lord O’Brian Papers).

79Letter from Telford Taylor, U.S. Brigadier General, to 

Louis Schwellenbach, Secretary of Labor (November 2,

1946) (Margolin Papers).

80Letter from Margolin to Telford Taylor (January 20,

1947) (Margolin Papers). Reporting on the results of her 

“ trip South for the War Department,”  Margolin noted that 

“ the Chief Justice’s refusal to permit Federal judges to go 

to Numberg was something of  a blow, but it seemed to me 
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interested.”

8 1 R u th e r fo rd F o o d C o rp . v. M c C o m b , 331 U.S. 722 (1947). 

82Margolin Papers.

83 AZ.

M  P o w e ll v. U .S . C a r tr id g e C o ., 339 U.S. 497 (1950). 

85Letter from Jeter S. Ray, Acting Solicitor of Labor, 

to Margolin regarding Reduction in Force—Notification 

of Personnel Action—Change to Lower Grade (May 25, 

1953) (Margolin Civilian Personnel Records, NARA- 

NPRC).

86Confidential Questionnaire completed by Margolin for 

Study of  Federal Executives by Cornell University and the 

University of Chicago (undated) (Margolin Papers). 

87Memorandum from Jeter S. Ray, Acting Solicitor of 

Labor, Regarding Nomination of Bessie Margolin for a 
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1953) (Margolin Papers).
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own compilation, “ Supreme Court and Court of Appeals 

Cases Prepared by or Under Direction of  Bessie Margolin 
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Department’s Appellate Litigation (1943 through Septem­
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author notes, however, one 1972 summary in Margolin’s 

papers credits her with having “ personally prepared briefs 

and orally argued about 200 appeals”  in the circuit courts, 

in addition to her Supreme Court cases.

8 9M itc h e l l v . O re g o n F ro ze n F o o d s , 361 U.S. 231 (1959). 

9 0M itc h e l l v. H .B . Z a c h ry , 362 US. 310 (1960).

9'Letter from Margolin, submitting “Answers to Personal 

Data Questionnaire,”  to Joseph F. Dolan, Assistant Deputy 

Attorney General, US. Department of Justice (March 

24, 1964) (Margolin Papers). As reflected in her letter, 

Margolin submitted the Questionnaire to the Department 

of Justice and the American Bar Association’s Standing 

Committee on the Federal Judiciary to be considered for 
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United States Court of Claims.

92See su p ra n. 88.

93 Letter from Simon Sobeloff, Solicitor General, to James 

P. Mitchell, Secretary of Labor (July 29, 1955) (Margolin 

Papers).

94G.W. Foster, “ Jurisdiction, Rights, and Remedies for 

Group Wrongs under the Fair Labor Standards Act: Spe­

cial Federal Questions,” 1975 W ise . L .R e v . 295, 305 
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ness of the machinery for enforcing the national poli­

cies embodied in the Fair Labor Standards Act.”  Id . at 

295.

95 E. Merrick Dodd, “ The Supreme Court and Fair Labor 

Standards, 1941-1945,”  59 H a rv . L . R e v . 321,369 (1945- 

1946).

9 6 U n ite d S ta te s v . D a rb y , 312 U.S. 100(1941); O p p C o tto n 

M il ls  v . A d m in is tra to r , 312 U.S. 126 (1941).

97 Interview with Carin A. Clauss, Professor Emeritus, 

University of Wisconsin Law School, and former Solici­

tor of Labor, by author in Madison, Wisconsin (June 21, 

2010), at 21-23.

m Id . at 24.

" Id .  at 25-26.

l00W. at 155-160.

101W. at 160.

'02Interview with Laurence H. Silberman, Judge, U.S. 

Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit by author, in 

Washington, D.C. (June 2005) (on file with author). 

103350 U.S. 247 (1956). The author obtained audio record­

ings of all of Margolin’s Supreme Court arguments (be­
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Archives Services, NACP.

104361 U.S. 388(1960).

10SMargolin Notes for Justice Warren, su p ra n. 65.

106 361 US. 231 (1960) (cert, dism’d as improvidently 

granted).

107 36I U.S. 288(1960).

108Handwritten Note from Felix Frankfurter, Associate 

Justice, to Philip Elman, Assistant Solicitor General
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(Nov. 18, 1959) (Available at Harvard Law School, Pa­

pers of Philip Elman 1925-1979, Box 3, Folder 91). 

109Handwritten Note from Felix Frankfurter, Associate 

Justice, to Philip Elman, Assistant Solicitor (“ May 9” ) 

(Elman Papers ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAsu p ra n. 108). Although Margolin did not 

argue before the Supreme Court on May 9, 1959, she 

argued the case of  M itc h e l l v. K e n tu c k y F in a n c e on March 

3, 1959 and the Court issued its opinion on April 20, 

1959—authored by Justice Harlan.

1'" “ Crisp”  speech and “ penetrating”  analyses: William  O. 

Douglas, T h e C o u r t  Y e a r s (New York: Random House, 

1980), at 184-185. “ Special gift, etc.” : O’Brian interview, 

su p ra n. 40 at 8-9. Endless wordsmithing, exhaustive re­

search: Clauss Interview, su p ra n. 97; Author Interviews 

with Donald Shire in Potomac, MD  (Aug. 11,2010); with 

Robert Nagle, in McLean, Va. (Oct. 25,2011); with Anas­

tasia Dunau, in Bethesda, MD (June 12, 2010), among 

others.

’ "Clauss Interview at 5-6.

112336 U.S. 187(1949).

’ "interview with Clifford J. Durr by James Sargent in 

Wetumpka, Alabama (April 17, 1974) at 160-164; Inter­

view with Clifford J. Durr by Sally Fly Connell (Sept. 17, 

1967) at 7-8 (both transcripts are available at Columbia 

University Oral History Research Office, James Lawrence 

Fly Project). For an account of the Cox investigation, 

see Susan L. Brinson, T h e R e d S c a r e , P o l i t ic s , a n d  

t h e  F e d e r a l C o m m u n ic a t io n s C o m m is s io n , 1 9 4 1 -1 9 6 0 

(Westport CT: Praeger, 2004), at 84-85. The Cox investi­

gation documents pertaining to Margolin are available at 

NAB, Center for Legislative Archives, Committee Inves- 

tigations/James L. Fly, FCC Chair, Special Committee on 

Un-American Activities (Dies), Box 141.

114Interview with W. Ervin “ Red”  James by Michael L. 

Gillette in Houston Texas (Feb. 17, 1978) at 33, electronic 

copy, LBJ Library.

" 5The extent to which the allegations about Margolin’s 

personal life during her time at the TVA  may have af­

fected her career is uncertain. However, similar informa­

tion about Margolin’s relationship with Fly resurfaced in 

a “ Confidential Memorandum on James Lawrence Fly”  

apparently written in the 1950’s (available at NAB, Center 

for Legislative Archives, Box 141, su p ra n. 113.

116 Letter from William  O. Douglas, Associate Justice, to 

Lyndon B. Johnson, President (April 4, 1964), “ Bessie

Margolin,”  Office Files of John W. Macy, Box 363, LBJ 

Library (“ Macy File” ).

’ "Letter from Margolin to Katie Louchheim (March 4, 

1964) (Margolin Papers).

'"Tapes WH6403.14 (Citations #2607, 2608) and 

WH6403.18 (Citation #2696), Recordings of Telephone 

Conversations—White House Series, LBJ Library. 

'"Macy File.
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(January 9, 1967), (Macy File). Macy’s file contains a 
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259 (3rd Cir. 1970), S h u ltz v. A m e r ic a n C a n C o .— D ix ie 

P ro d u c ts , 424 F.2d 356 (8th Cir. 1970), S h u ltz v. F irs t V ic­

to r ia  N a tio n a l B a n k , 420 F. 2d 648 (5th Cir. 1969), and 

H o d g so n v. S q u a re D  C o ., 459 F. 2d 805 (6th Circ. 1972). 

Margolin also argued the first appellate Age Discrimi­

nation case, H o d g so n v. F irs t F e d e ra l S a v in g s &  L o a n 

A sso c ia t io n , 455 F.2d 818 (5th Cir. 1972). With regard 

to Title VII,  Margolin actively opposed the view that the 

term “ sex”  was included in the statute as a joke, by fluke 

or in an attempt to overload the legislation. “ It seems fair 

to say, therefore, that only ignorance or thoughtless over­

sight of  the pertinent legislative background, if  not simply 

‘entrenched prejudice’ rooted in a psychological down­

grading of  women generally, can explain the view that the 

inclusion of sex discrimination in Title VII  was no more 

than a fluke not to be taken seriously.”  Bessie Margolin, 

“ Equal Pay and Equal Opportunities for Women,”  N.Y.U., 

19th Conference on Labor, 1967, at301 (Margolin Papers). 

'2 2  S h u ltz v. W h e a to n G la ss C o m p a n y , 421 F.2d 259, 265 

(3rd Cir. 1970), c e r t, d e n ie d 90 S. Ct. 1696 (1970). 

""Retirement Dinner Recording, su p ra n. 2. 

124Margolin’s receipt of the Federal Woman’s Award in 

1963 prompted a certain amount of ambivalence. “ I must 

say that I have had some misgivings about this segregated 

recognition of  women, but the experience was altogether a 

happy one. Perhaps discrimination against women has not 

disappeared to the extent of  denying a little  discriminatory 

recognition in favor of  women (although I cannot claim to 

have suffered personally from any unfavorable discrimina­

tion.”  Letter from Margolin to James T. O’Connell (May 

22, 1963) (Margolin Papers).



H erbert B row nell, Jr.: The “H idden ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

H and” 1 in the S election  of E arl 

W arren and  the  G overnm ent’s R ole  

in Brown v. Board of EducationKJIHGFEDCBA

A L B E R T  L A W R E N C E tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The re are , o f co u rs e , m any he ro e s be hind the Su p re m e Co u r t’s m o s t fam o u s and, s o m e 

wo u ld argu e , m o s t s ignificant cas e o f the 20th Century: ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n v . B o a rd o f  E d u c a tio n .2 Chief 

Justice Earl Warren wrote the decision and is credited with convincing the other Justices to 

make it unanimous. Thurgood Marshall and Robert L. Carter argued important aspects of the 

case for the NAACP and championed a legal strategy that brought it to the High Court. Few, 

however, would readily name Herbert Brownell, Jr. as one of the heroes. Yet, as Attorney 

General, Brownell was President Eisenhower’s chief adviser on judicial appointments when he 

put Warren on the Court, and Brownell led the Justice Department in supporting the notion that 

segregation of  public schools violated the Constitution.

Although Brownell, a Wall Street lawyer,3 

had managed Thomas E. Dewey’s campaigns 

for President in 1944 and 1948 and had 

served as national Republican party chair from 

1944 to 1946,4 he played a lesser role in the 

Eisenhower campaign in 1952.5 Nonetheless, 

after the election, Eisenhower first offered 

Brownell a job as his Chief of Staff and, when 

he declined, asked him to serve as Attorney 

General instead.6 In his memoirs, Eisenhower 

insisted that it  had been his intention all along

to make Brownell head of the Justice Depart­

ment, even though he was also on his list of 

“ prospects”  to head the White House staff.7 

Eisenhower also assigned Brownell to help se­

lect the remainder of the cabinet8 and des­

ignated him as his chief adviser on federal 

judicial appointments.9

One of the first opportunities they had 

to name someone to the Bench turned out to 

be to fill  the top job in the judiciary: Chief 

Justice of the United States. And the choice
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B row ne ll m anaged T hom as D ew ey ’s 1944  and 1948  

cam pa igns fo r P res iden t and  cha ired the R epub lican  

N om ina ting C om m ittee from 1944 to 1946 , in tro ­

duc ing  m odern po lling  and  fund ra is ing techn iques.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

that Brownell and Eisenhower made foretold 

much of the rest of legal history through the 

1950s and 1960s.

B row ne ll’s R o le in W arren ’s N om ina tion

Earl Warren, the three-term governor of 

California, supported Brownell’s election as 

national chair of the Republican party in 

1944.10 In 1952, Warren went to the Re­

publican convention as a candidate for Pres­

ident," seeing himself as more than just a 

favorite son.12 If  Eisenhower and the pro­

gressive wing of the party and Ohio Sena­

tor Robert Taft and the conservatives dead­

locked, Warren hoped he might emerge as a 

compromise candidate.13 Yet, neither Dewey, 

who had viewed Warren as a potential run­

ning mate in his 1944 and 1948 campaigns, 

nor Brownell saw Warren as a contender for 

the top of the ticket in 1952. They sup­

ported Eisenhower, and they needed Warren 

to hold onto his seventy California delegates

B row ne ll (pho tog raphed address ing  repo rte rs ) w as in ­

s trum en ta l in persuad ing G enera l E isenhow er to run  

fo r P res iden t and  w orked on h is 1952 cam pa ign .

in order to deflect support for Taft.’ 4 General 

Lucius Clay, an Eisenhower confidant, later 

acknowledged that he promised Warren any 

job in an Eisenhower administration if  he 

would remain in the race. The offer was “ Clay’s 

alone, not Eisenhower’s,” according to one 

chronicler of the administration, and Brownell 

professed to have no role in the offer.15 At 

some point, Clay and Brownell offered the 

post of Secretary of the Interior to Governor 

Warren, but he declined.16 After the first bal­

lot, Eisenhower was still short a handful of the 

604 votes that he needed to garner the nomina­

tion. Warren withheld his seventy votes. When 

Minnesota Governor Harold Stassen released 

his twelve delegates, it was enough to defeat 

Taft and give the nomination to Eisenhower.17 

But Eisenhower professed in his memoirs that 

he owed nothing to Warren.18

After the convention, Warren embarked 

on a cross-country speaking tour on behalf 

of Eisenhower.19 At the outset of the cam­

paign, he met with Eisenhower in Denver for 

two hours and travelled to Chicago to appear 

with the candidate on television. Then he cam­

paigned in California as Brownell and Dewey 

(behind the scenes) managed the national 

contest.20
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E isenhow er (p ic tu red cam pa ign ing in 1952) appo in ted B row ne ll A tto rney G enera l on January 21 , 1953 . H e  

se rved un til N ovem ber 8 , 1957 .tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Brownell saw Warren as sharing his 

“ moderate” Republican, internationalist 

agenda - one that advocated social reform and 

fiscal restraint.21 Eisenhower also saw Warren 

as a “ middle-of-the-roader.” 22 Although 

he didn’t know him well, Eisenhower had 

“ long respected” Warren and felt his “ basic 

principles”  reflected “ high ideals and a great 

deal of common sense.”  But no administration 

post was offered to Warren as Brownell and 

Clay assembled a cabinet.23 Warren was 

consulted by the new Attorney General about 

who might run the criminal division in the 

Justice Department, and Warren suggested 

Warren Olney, III,  the soft-spoken gentleman 

who had been one of Warren’s closest political 

associates since his days in the District 

Attorney’s Office in the 1930s.24

In early December, as they were dis­

cussing the selection of the new cabinet, 

Eisenhower remarked to Brownell that no

place had been made for Warren. Although 

it was only about 7 a.m. California time, 

impetuously, the President-elect picked up 

the telephone and called the Governor of 

California. Eisenhower told Warren that he 

was not to have a cabinet position— that he 

had considered him for Attorney General but 

that he was giving the post to Brownell because 

he needed his legal and political advice. “ But,”  

Eisenhower affirmed, “ I  want you to know that 

I intend to offer you the first vacancy on the 

Supreme Court.” He called it “ my personal 

commitment.” 25 Brownell apparently heard 

Eisenhower assure Warren that he planned to 

give him the “ next vacancy”  on the Court.26 

In his memoirs, however, Eisenhower said he 

told Warren only that he would be considered 

for a Court vacancy but that no commitment 

was made.27 Ironically, this conversation took 

place in the same month that ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n was first 

argued in the high court.28 Warren didn’t give
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the conversation much thought, though, “ be­

cause I had often heard of newly elected offi ­

cials who promised positions in the indefinite 

future, only to forget when the jobs actually 

became open for appointment.” 29

In June 1953, President Eisenhower 

named Warren as a delegate to the corona­

tion of Queen Elizabeth II in London. Be­

fore Warren and his family left for the cere­

mony, Brownell called him and asked him to 

stop and see him in Washington en route.30 

Eisenhower and Brownell had decided to of­

fer to Warren the post of Solicitor General, 

the Justice Department’s chief advocate be­

fore the Supreme Court. Eisenhower had sug­

gested the idea when Brownell reported that he 

was having trouble filling  the post.31 It would 

give Warren a chance to “ brush up on the 

law”  in preparation for going on the Supreme 

Court, the President felt.32 Warren biographer 

G. Edward White emphasized the importance 

of Brownell championing Warren:

Warren was also fortunate to have

Herbert Brownell as Eisenhower’s at­

torney general. In Brownell, Eisen­

hower had an attorney general who 

was also a partisan Republican and an 

experienced campaigner. Brownell 

knew Warren, knew of his support 

for the ticket in 1952, especially his 

assistance after the Nixon fund inci­

dent, and did not regard the fact that 

Warren was currently not practicing 

law and had not done so for ten years 

as disqualifying.33

Brownell offered Warren the job, and the gov­

ernor promised to think about it  while he was in 

Europe. They devised a code by which Warren 

would wire his decision to Brownell. Warren 

and his family also paid a social call on the 

President and his wife at the White House.34 

Governor Warren and Brownell both knew that 

the Solicitor General’s post was a “ warm-up”  

for the Supreme Court.35 Touring Europe af­

ter the coronation, Warren cabled his accep­

tance from Stockholm.36 Back in California on

September 3, Warren announced that he would 

not run for a fourth term as governor. He did 

not say, however, that he had accepted the post 

of Solicitor General of  the United States.37

Five days later, Chief Justice Fred 

Vinson, overweight and a heavy smoker, died 

unexpectedly at age sixty-three in his Wash­

ington apartment, a month before the opening 

of the Court’s 1953 Term.38 The center chair 

was not the vacancy that Eisenhower had in 

mind when he had made the promise to Warren 

the previous December.39 He was especially 

concerned because Warren had not recently 

practiced law.40 The President asked Brownell 

to compile a list of four or five likely candi­

dates.41 In his memoirs, Eisenhower said that 

he offered the post to his Secretary of State, 

John Foster Dulles, but Dulles declined.42 But 

Brownell claimed to have no knowledge of 

this at the time either from Eisenhower or 

Dulles. On Brownell’s short list were sitting 

Supreme Court Justice Robert H. Jackson and 

two circuit court judges, John Parker and Orie 

Phillips. Arthur Vanderbilt, chief justice of  the 

New Jersey Supreme Court, was also consid­

ered, but his poor health was deemed a disqual­

ification.43 Thomas E. Dewey’s name came up, 

but Eisenhower told Brownell he didn’t think 

the former New York governor had the tem­

perament for the job.44

Warren was alerted to Vinson’s death and 

the Supreme Court vacancy on September 8 

by Bartley Cavanaugh, a longtime close po­

litical associate. Wary of political promises, 

Warren authorized Cavanaugh to make dis­

crete inquiries on his behalf. “ One does not 

run for the Court, precisely. One pursues it  by 

indirection. Friends lobby and beseech. The 

candidate himself is expected not to covet the 

job too openly. Warren knew that, and though 

he wanted a seat on the Court—wanted it 

badly, in fact—he knew better than to adver­

tise his interest,”  notes Warren biographer Jim 

Newton.45 The governor also made calls on 

his own behalf to politicians, influential law 

professors, and judges. “ These were men who 

knew politics and the law, men with reach to
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T he  V inson C ourt ca lled  on P res iden t E isenhow er a t the  W hite H ouse in F ebrua ry 1953 . A s  A tto rney G enera l, 

H erbe rt B row ne ll (second from  le ft in back row ), adv ised E isenhow er on jud ic ia l appo in tm en ts and , a fte r 

F red V inson d ied o f a heart a ttack the fo llow ing S ep tem ber, encouraged the nom ina tion o f G overno r E arl 

W arren to succeed h im  as C h ie f Justice . B ack row  from  le ft to righ t: S herm an A dam s (A ss t, to P res iden t 

E isenhow er), B row ne ll, Justice S herm an M in ton , Justice T om  C . C la rk , Justice R obert H . Jackson , Justice  

H aro ld H . B urton . F ron t row  from  le ft to righ t: Justice W illiam  0 . D oug las , Justice S tan ley F . R eed , C h ie f 

Justice F red V inson , E isenhow er, Justice H ugo L . B lack , and  Justice F e lix F rankfu rte r.tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Washington. In those crucial days, as Brownell 

and Eisenhower contemplated their pick, 

Warren called in chits,”  Newton elaborates.46

With newspaper speculation that he might 

be a candidate for the High Court, Warren 

took his sons hunting on Santa Rosa Island 

in order to escape reporters.47 Eisenhower 

asked Brownell to study Warren’s record and 

to go to California to ascertain whether Warren 

would consider it a breach of the President’s 

promise if  he didn’t get the job as Chief.48 

Brownell tracked the governor down and had 

the Coast Guard locate him.49 He reached him 

by ship-to-shore radio. According to another 

Warren biographer, Ed Cray, one of Warren’s 

sons heard the governor say, “ Yes, the agree­

ment was for the first vacancy,” then, after 

a pause, “ No, Herb. No. The first vacancy 

means the first vacancy.” 50 Brownell arranged 

a private meeting at an air base in Califor­

nia.51 On September 27, he flew to California 

for the secret meeting with Warren,52 and a 

small plane was sent to bring Warren to the 

air base.53 The governor was still in his hunt­

ing clothes. Brownell again broached the ques­

tion of whether Warren felt he had a promise 

from the President. Warren was emphatic that 

he did.54 Brownell later recalled that “ Warren 

made it plain that he regarded the present va­

cancy as ‘ the next vacancy,’ although he recog­

nized that the president could fulfill  his com­

mitment if  he took one of the sitting associate
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justices as Chief and nominated him, War­

ren, to the resulting vacancy in an associate 

justiceship.” 55 “ He was quite cocky about the 

whole thing,”  Brownell told one confidant.56 

However, Warren was emphatic in his mem­

oirs that Brownell only asked him whether he 

would accept an appointment to the Court:

Here I would like to correct some­

thing I have seen in print to the ef­

fect that I was first offered a place 

on the Court other than that of Chief 

Justice, but that I refused and said I 

would accept nothing but the Chief 

Justice-ship. That is positively not 

the fact. The Attorney General... 

said the President was thinking of  ap­

pointing me to the Court and would 

like to know if  I would accept. Noth­

ing was said about my becoming 

Chief Justice, and I said unequivo­

cally that I would accept. If  the Pres­

ident had chosen to appoint some 

existing member of the Court to 

be Chief Justice and had offered me 

the vacancy created thereby, I would 

have accepted as readily.57

Brownell eventually accepted Warren’s 

position that they had a commitment to put 

him on the Court.58 He said that Eisenhower 

would make the final decision but that they 

would have one condition: Warren must be in 

Washington in a week for the beginning of 

the Court’s new term.59 Brownell flew back to 

Washington and told the President that he had 

been unable to dissuade Warren from relin­

quishing them from the promise to give him 

the next Court vacancy. The President slept 

on the appointment,60 then told Brownell to 

have an informal press conference at his home 

to “ float” Warren’s name. Brownell told the 

reporters that it was his opinion that Eisen­

hower was going to name Warren Chief Jus­

tice. The press reported the appointment as a 

done deal. This surprised Eisenhower, who did 

not think that he had authorized Brownell to 

announce the appointment.61 Eisenhower later

recalled only that Brownell had returned from 

California with “ a helpful report.” 62 On 

September 29, Warren got word from Brownell 

that he would be appointed Chief Justice,63 the 

following day the President rousted Warren 

from the shower and offered him the nomina­

tion,64 then the President made the formal an­

nouncement.65 It  was such a heady moment for 

Warren that, years later, he could not remem­

ber whether the call had come from Brownell 

or Eisenhower.66

Of course, Brownell knew at the time of 

his appointment that Warren would sit on re­

argument in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n and that the government 

was working on a brief in the case.67 Nonethe­

less, Brownell insists that he and Warren never 

discussed B ro w n during the appointment pro­

cess.68 He knew, though, of Warren’s record 

as a progressive, that he was in favor of civil  

rights, and that he had recently proposed estab­

lishment of  a Fair Employment Practices Com­

mission in California.69 Eisenhower also knew 

that Brownell would not recommend someone 

for the Court who favored school segregation, 

and he knew that the nomination would not 

be popular in the South.70 In a letter to his 

brother, Milton, Eisenhower described Warren 

as “ very definitely a liberal-conservative; he 

represents the kind of  political, economic and 

social thinking that I believe we need on the 

Supreme Court.” 71

Warren flew to Washington immediately 

after learning that he would be nominated. 

Brownell picked him up the next morning 

and drove him to the Court.72 His first or­

der of business was to visit the Senior Asso­

ciate Justice, Hugo L. Black, and to confess 

that he knew nothing about the Court’s pro­

cedures. He asked Black to chair the Court’s 

conferences until he could get up to speed 

on how they operated. Black administered the 

oath of office73 at a ceremony so hastily ar­

ranged that Warren had to borrow a black robe 

for the occasion.74 It was so long that War­

ren tripped over it.75 Brownell was present, 

and the President and Mrs. Eisenhower made 

an uncustomary appearance. The first order
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of business after Warren was sworn in was 

the presentation by Acting Solicitor General 

Robert L. Stern of Brownell to the Court. 

“According to ritual, I welcomed him to the 

Court in the performance of his important 

duties,”  Warren recalled. “ I never knew why 

this was the first time he was formally pre­

sented, as he had been Attorney General for 

almost nine months before I became Chief 

Justice.”  But Warren was honored to have the 

opportunity because “ I felt that, as close as 

he was to the President both politically and 

personally, he must have been a major factor 

in my appointment.” 76

Warren was a recess appointee, the first 

since the second Chief Justice, John Rutledge, 

was nominated in 1789.77 It was a “ bold and 

controversial action,” according to historian 

David Nichols,78—one that had been proposed 

to the White House by Justice Felix Frank­

furter, who was concerned about tied votes 

on controversial matters before the Court.79 

Warren was unanimously confirmed by voice 

vote in the full Senate five months later, 

on March l.80

R e-argum en t  in  Brown and  B row ne ll ’ s ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

B rie f

But before the Senate could officially  confirm 

Warren, the Court re-heard and was delib­

erating the fractious issue of state-mandated 

school segregation. The constitutionality of 

state laws that mandated the separation of 

blacks and whites in schools on the basis 

of race had already been argued once in 

the Supreme Court by the time Earl Warren 

came to Washington. Five cases from four 

states and the District of Columbia had 

been combined under the name of ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n v . 

B o a rd o f E d u c a tio n , the case from Topeka, 

Kansas. But the Court had rendered no 

decision after it first heard arguments in 

December 1952.

After three days of argument,81 the Court, 

then led by Chief Justice Vinson, was divided. 

The Justices discussed the cases for several

hours in conference on December 13, 1952, 

but no formal vote was taken.82 It was feared 

that a recorded vote might be leaked to the 

press or the parties.83 Justice Jackson’s con­

ference notes indicate that he may have come 

up with the idea, endorsed by Frankfurter and 

Justice Tom C. Clark, to delay a decision and 

ask for re-argument.84 In any event, the Jus­

tices were eventually persuaded to put off  an 

opinion until the following Term and to try to 

come up with some questions that the parties 

could address.85 This would allow the incom­

ing Eisenhower Administration to be heard on 

the question.86

One of the first outsiders to learn of 

the Court’s decision to delay an opinion may 

have been Herbert Brownell. Although he 

later struck this language from a draft of an 

unpublished manuscript, Brownell apparently 

told would-be biographer Dori Dressander 

that Chief Justice Vinson had discussed the 

matter with Warren E. Burger at a reception 

for Burger and other new assistant attorneys 

general after the new administration came to 

power. Vinson said that he wanted the Court 

to hold segregation unconstitutional and that 

he wanted the government’s help. Burger was 

“ astounded”  that Vinson would discuss a pend­

ing case with him, according to Dressander’s 

draft.87 In his memoirs, Brownell recalled 

that the subject came up a few days after 

Eisenhower’s January inauguration. He noted 

only that, while he was out of  the room taking a 

telephone call, Vinson had told Burger that he 

wanted the administration’s views on the case, 

leaving out that Vinson had indicated what he 

wanted the result to be. Although Brownell 

didn’ t recognize it at the time, he said in his 

memoirs, he came to believe that Vinson’s in­

vitation was a sign that the Court was then 

divided on the segregation issue:

It strikes me as plausible that Vinson 

was soliciting the new administra­

tion’s legal views to tip the balance, 

either by encouraging the waverers 

on the Court to overturn P le ssy if
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the Eisenhower administration was 

on that side of the issue or to dodge 

the question until public and political 

support were greater and the Court 

would not have to risk its prestige 

in such a controversial area. Fur­

thermore, if  a stronger majority, or 

even unanimity among all nine jus­

tices could be attained, the country 

might accept such a drastic change 

more willingly ... and it is also en­

tirely within the realm of reason—  

although I think less plausible— that 

Vinson might have anticipated a neg­

ative response from the administra­

tion, which in turn might have turned 

the Court the other way.88

Justice Frankfurter and his law clerk, 

Alexander Bickel, went to work and came up 

with five questions for the parties, which were 

approved by the full Court with only minor 

changes and released on June 8, 1953. The 

primary issue was whether the legislative his­

tory of the Fourteenth Amendment indicated 

that its ratification anticipated the abolition of 

segregated public schools. Six months after 

Vinson’s discussion with Burger, the Attorney 

General was officially  invited to submit a brief 

and participate in oral argument.89 Eisenhower 

was surprised by the Court’s invitation,90 and 

he was initially  opposed to the idea because he 

thought it  a Court matter and that the participa­

tion of  the executive branch would violate the 

separation of powers. “ It seems to me that the 

rendering of  an ‘opinion’ by the attorney gen­

eral on this kind of question would constitute 

an invasion of the duties, responsibilities, and 

authority of the supreme court,”  he wrote in 

a diary on August 19, 1953. “As I understand 

it, the courts were established by the Consti­

tution to interpret the laws; the responsibil­

ity  of the Executive Department is to execute 

them.” 91 His Attorney General felt otherwise. 

In approaching him about the matter, Brownell 

“ knew I had my work cut out for me.”  He un­

derstood that Eisenhower was not opposed to

civil  rights but that he didn’ t want to be a cru­

sader for them either.92 The Court was not 

requiring the department to file a brief; there 

was precedent for declining. But Brownell felt 

that it was important to do so in order to ad­

vance his position and maintain good rela­

tions with the Court.93 “ Thus, Brownell was 

placed in the awkward position of disagree­

ing with his boss,” one writer has noted.94 

Eisenhower ultimately deferred to his Attorney 

General’s judgment, though, “ as I expected he 

would.” 95 Brownell was “ well trained for the 

task of defusing the political explosive con­

tained in  ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n ,”  in  the words of  one commen­

tator. “ Skilled in playing off  different political 

constituencies, including both Northern blacks 

and Southern whites, Brownell approached the 

B ro w n brief with the political sagacity and cau­

tion that had marked his career.” 96

He assigned J. Lee Rankin to take the 

lead on the brief. He considered Rankin his 

most important assistant; he often took Rankin 

with him to meetings with the President in or­

der to make sure he was correctly citing the 

law.97 Brownell worked closely with Rankin 

in a dozen or so meetings over four months 

in which they planned and wrote the brief. A  

researcher on the team told Brownell that he 

was the only Attorney General ever to write a 

Supreme Court brief.98 They did not consult 

those outside the department.99 It appeared to 

some in the department that Brownell could 

not make up his mind as to what position 

to take.100 However, Brownell countered that 

the Justice Department attorney who made 

this complaint was deliberately excluded from 

early discussions of  the case because he was a 

close friend of Justice Frankfurter and the new 

administration thought, for that reason, that the 

attorney should be disqualified from partici­

pating.101 Mark Tushnet has reported that the 

delay in the brief was not owing to Brownell’s 

indecision, but to “ [pjolitical operatives [who] 

were unhappy with the strong stand Brownell 

wanted to take, believing it might alienate the 

white Southerners they were trying to attract 

to the Republican party. Because of problems



H E R B E R T  B R O W N E LL ,  JR .KJIHGFEDCBA 8 3tsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

isSS (Tallahassee democrat

C ourt  B ans  S egregation ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 
In P ub lic  S choo l  C ases

French Cancel CowciioC ourt R u ling

7
Is U nan im ous

‘ _ .■ '.'.'4 .' - C #sc» D ire tlf, Imohe
“ Only fnt Stites But 17

Others Mir 8c Affected

*•» •»  *M  m »-.W

N ew  U S  B om ber

C ourt  Q uestions S ecrecy C lam p . lest S een near

S u it C ha lleng ing P u l O n  T a fts ,  ■ .4 ’-4X  ««« t«  ^**,»** f**** ^* ‘y»  '
r in*  r." v—™r r
S econd P rim ary o j .. u ,- •■ •-v

T he S uprem e C ourt asked the  Justice D epartm en t to  subm it a brie f in the Brown case . A lthough E isenhow er 

w as w ary o f hav ing the Justice D epartm en t dec la re tha t seg rega tion w as unconstitu tiona l, B row ne ll fo rged  

ahead and  subm itted a s ix ty page brie f, dra fted by  J . Lee R ank in .

within the administration, Brownell asked the 

Court to postpone argument from October to 

December.” 102 Although, perhaps for reasons 

of diplomacy, Brownell crossed this out of 

a draft, he apparently told Dori Dressander 

at one point that White House appointments 

secretary Bernard Shanley and legal counsel 

Gerald Morgan were obstacles in the draft­

ing of a strong brief.103 Their reservations 

apparently resounded with the President. 

Eisenhower had taught constitutional law at 

West Point, and he felt that segregation was 

a state issue. He believed in federalism and 

wanted to avoid statements that might suggest 

that the federal government would enforce the 

integration of state schools.104

The big issue in preparing the brief was 

where the government would come down on 

the question of  whether school segregation was 

unconstitutional. Brownell took the matter to

Eisenhower. According to Brownell, the Pres­

ident only wanted to respond to the five ques­

tions and leave that issue unaddressed: “ The 

Justice Department, the president initially  told 

me, need not take a stand in the brief on the 

ultimate constitutional question since the fed­

eral government was not a formal party in the 

case and he feared interfering with the work­

ings of the judicial branch.” 105 Brownell told 

Eisenhower he thought the Court would ask 

for the government’s position; the President 

wanted to know how his Attorney General felt. 

“ I answered that in my professional opinion 

public school segregation was unconstitutional 

and that the old ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP le ssy case had been wrongly 

decided.”  That’s what the department should 

tell the Court then, Eisenhower concluded, but 

only if  it asked at oral argument.106

In the final brief, the government’s po­

sition was that the legislative history of the
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Fourteenth Amendment was inconclusive con­

cerning its intended impact on school desegre­

gation.107 This was also the finding of a sixty 

page, printed memorandum by Bickel that 

Frankfurter commissioned and shared with his 

colleagues before the second argument.108 The 

Court ultimately adopted this conclusion in 

the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n opinion. Education of whites in the 

South was largely private at the time of the 

amendment’s adoption, and most blacks were 

not educated at all. There was little consider­

ation of whether equal rights meant integra­

tion of public schools.109 But the issue had 

served to delay a decision and to give Justices 

Frankfurter and Jackson more time to resolve 

their doubts about how desegregation could be 

legally justified as a matter of constitutional 

law.110

Brownell asked Rankin to argue the gov­

ernment’s position before the Court. The At­

torney General felt his personal appearance 

would be construed as political.111 The cases 

were re-argued on December 7 and 8, 1953, 

almost exactly a year after the initial presen­

tations, with Earl Warren now in the cen­

ter chair.112 “ The most important presentation 

was made by J. Lee Rankin for the govern­

ment,”  Tushnet has concluded.113 As Brownell 

had anticipated, the Court did ask for the 

government’s position on the constitutional­

ity of segregation, although it came in an 

“ oddly hostile”  question from Justice William 

O. Douglas.114 “ The Department of Justice 

goes no further than to say that first we can 

decide this case, these cases, and second, we 

can decide them under what, on the basis of 

history?”  Douglas asked Rankin. After some 

further colloquy, he pressed Rankin for a posi­

tion on constitutionality. “ ... [I]t  is the position 

of  the Department of  Justice that segregation in 

public schools cannot be maintained under the 

Fourteenth Amendment...,” Rankin finally  

acknowledged.115 Perhaps more significantly, 

it may have been Rankin who first introduced 

the idea of desegregation “ with all deliberate 

speed”  into the vernacular of the case. The 

schools should be required to present a plan

for desegregation to the federal district courts, 

he argued. “ We suggest a year for the presenta­

tion and consideration of  the plan, not because 

that is an exact standard, but with the idea that 

it might involve the principle of handling the 

matter with deliberate speed.” 116 The words 

may have sounded familiar to Justice Frank­

furter, “ who scribbled them down in one of  his 

many notes to himself.” 117 Later in the argu­

ment, Rankin favored a different term: “ [T]he 

lower court can properly then determine how 

rapidly a plan can be achieved to come within 

the criteria established by this Court and the 

requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment, 

and that upon consideration of that, with all 

diligent speed, the lower court can enter a de­

cree accordingly... .” 118

The  F irs t  Brown D ec is ion

“ Diligent”  speed might have been a stronger 

standard, but it was the more-nebulous and 

perhaps oxymoronic “ deliberate speed” that 

Justice Frankfurter picked up on as the Court 

deliberated.

In January, Frankfurter proposed yet an­

other delay. The question of  a decree enforcing 

desegregation should be put over to the follow ­

ing Term, he argued, and he suggested the idea 

of appointing a Master to craft decrees or del­

egating the appointment to the district courts. 

He also seized on the “ deliberate speed”  lan­

guage that had been used by Rankin in oral 

argument:

Not even a court can in a day change 

a deplorable situation into the ideal, 

ft does its duty if  it gets effectively 

under way the righting of a wrong. 

When the wrong is deeply rooted 

state policy the court does its duty if  it 

decrees measures that reverse the di­

rection of  the unconstitutional policy 

so as to uproot it “ with all deliberate 

speed.” 119

He cited a 1911 opinion using that language, 

V irg in ia  v. W e st V irg in ia .1 2 0
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In February, the Conference finally took 

a vote, and all but Justice Stanley F. Reed con­

curred that segregation should be declared un­

constitutional.121 Warren said that he would 

write the opinion; for security reasons, only 

his law clerks would help.122 On May 5,1954, 

he submitted a memorandum to the other Jus­

tices “ as a starting point.”  He told the Brethren, 

“ On the question of segregation, this should 

be the end of the line ... We must hold that 

the doctrine of ‘separate but equal’ as stated 

in ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP le ssy v . F e rg u so n cannot apply to public 

education but we should not go beyond that. 

The applicability of  the doctrine in other con­

texts must await further decision.”  He adopted 

Frankfurter’s position that the question of en­

forcement be put over to the next Term and the 

parties and the government be asked to re-brief 

and re-argue. The opinion, Warren insisted, 

must be kept brief, “ readable by the lay public, 

non-rhetorical, unemotional, above all, non- 

accusatory.” 123 The drafting of the opinion in 

Warren’s chambers took a relatively short time, 

considering that it  was such a major decision. 

A  law clerk worked on it without interruption 

for twenty-four hours.124 Warren circulated a 

typewritten draft on May 7. The Chief Jus­

tice hand-delivered drafts to each Justice and 

discussed changes privately.125 According to 

Justice William  O. Douglas, the other Justices 

still expected a dissent from Reed, “ but he fi ­

nally agreed to leave his doubts unsaid and 

go along.” 126 The opinion went to the printer 

on Friday, May 14.127 The following night, 

Warren and Brownell met at a dinner. Without 

telling him the result, Warren suggested that 

Brownell be in Court for the announcement of 

cases the following Monday.128

On May 17, 1954, Warren announced the 

decision from the Bench. Herbert Brownell 

sat in the courtroom in the seat reserved for 

him.129 It was Warren’s first major opinion. 

He read it, by all accounts, in a firm, clear, 

unemotional voice,130 noting that the schools 

had been or were in the process of  being made 

equal in terms of buildings, curricula, qual­

ifications, and salaries of teachers and other

tangible criteria.131 But “ to separate [children] 

from others of similar age and qualifications 

solely because of  their race generates a feeling 

of inferiority as to their status in the commu­

nity that may affect their hearts and minds in 

a way unlikely ever to be undone,”  he read.132

A  sense of inferiority affects the mo­

tivation of a child to learn. Segrega­

tion with the sanction of law, there­

fore, has a tendency to [retard] the 

educational and mental development 

of  negro children and deprive them of 

some of the benefits they would re­

ceive in a racial [ly]  integrated school 

system....

We conclude that, in the field 

of public education, the doctrine of 

“ separate but equal” has no place. 

Separate educational facilities are in­

herently unequal.133

In preparing his announcement for delivery 

from the Bench, Warren inserted “ unani­

mously” after the words “ We conclude.” 134 

The word startled Brownell,135 and there was 

an audible reaction in the sedate court­

room.136

A no ther  D elay  and  A no ther  B rie f

Of course, the opinion was also remarkable 

for what it didn’t say. The issue of enforce­

ment was put off  another year, and the parties 

and the government were asked to re-brief and 

re-argue that issue.137 Southern politicians put 

pressure on Eisenhower to keep the Justice De­

partment from participating in the next round 

of Supreme Court arguments on enforcement. 

Brownell recalled,

The president was bombarded during 

this period by southern friends who 

sought to have the federal govern­

ment refuse to participate in B ro w n 

I I . Gov. James Byrnes of South 

Carolina, a great Eisenhower sup­

porter in the 1952 election and Tru­

man’s secretary of state for a time,
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was especially active in this effort.138 

Others who had politically supported 

Eisenhower in the South during the 

1952 presidential campaign, such as 

Governors Allan Shivers of  Texas and 

Robert Kennon of Louisiana, both 

Democrats, wrote the president in the 

same vein. They predicted a complete 

shutdown of public education in the 

South if  segregation was outlawed.139

There is no indication that Eisenhower had to 

be persuaded again to participate, however. But 

he did have a hand in the preparation of the 

government’s brief. Since the previous argu­

ment, Simon Sobeloflfhad been appointed So­

licitor  General, and he was the primary drafts­

man.140 Before it was submitted to the Court, 

Brownell insisted that the brief be taken to the 

President: “ Brownell personally favored the 

view of  the Solicitor General and his staff that 

the Government should file a strong brief on 

relief. At  the same time, the Attorney General 

could not overrule the President of the United 

States,” Victor Kramer has written.141 So- 

beloff and Deputy Attorney General William  P. 

Rogers met with Eisenhower and the secretary 

of the cabinet, Maxwell Rabb, on November 

20, 1954.142 Brownell was in South America 

at the time.143 Eisenhower made handwritten 

changes that “ demonstrate a desire to soften 

or mute the enthusiasm of  the draft for deseg­

regation,”  according to Kramer. For instance, 

he changed a sentence that originally argued 

that racial segregation should be terminated 

“ as quickly as possible”  to “ as quickly as fea­

sible.” 144 He also added some language obvi­

ously meant as a salvo to the South:

Moreover, the Court’s finding that 

segregation is a denial of constitu­

tional rights is recognition of the im­

portance of emotional [factors]; it 

is recognition that the impact upon 

the emotions of children can so af­

fect their entire lives as to preclude 

their full  enjoyment of constitutional 

rights. In similar fashion, emotions

are involved in the alterations that 

must now take place in [difficult  

to read but looks like “ considering 

that” ] during the years [illegible] not 

only had the sanction of Supreme 

Court decisions but have been fer­

vently supported by great numbers of 

people as both legal and moral.145

It also appears that Eisenhower struck these 

strong words supporting social integration 

from the original draft: “ Experience has shown 

that normal contacts between people, in groups 

or as individuals, serve to diminish prejudice 

while enforced separation intensifies it. Race 

relations are improved when individuals with­

out distinction as to race or color, serve in the 

armed forces together, work together, and go 

to schools together.” 146

The final brief cautioned the Court against 

ordering desegregation “ forthwith”  on the ba­

sis of choice, but suggested that it be done 

gradually. No Master should be appointed, 

but the Court should remand the cases to 

the lower courts with general directions. The 

right of black children to be integrated “ is 

one which, if  not enforced while the child 

is of school age, loses its value. Hence, any 

delay in granting relief is ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAp ro ta n to an irre­

trievable loss of the right,”  noted the brief, 

filed under Brownell’s name. “ No unnecessary 

delay” should be countenanced. But taking 

Eisenhower’s advice, the brief recognized that 

“ practical difficulties”  should be taken into ac­

count. “ The Court’s decision in these cases has 

outlawed a social institution which has existed 

for a long time in many areas throughout the 

country.”  Although community hostility can­

not justify avoiding or postponing compliance, 

it must be determined locally how desegrega­

tion can best be achieved. Brownell’s team rec­

ommended remanding to the lower courts and 

directing them to order the schools to come 

up with plans for desegregation within ninety 

days. If  not, the district courts should order the 

admission of the plaintiff  children “ and other 

children similarly situated”  at the beginning of
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the following term. The courts should require 

periodic reports on the progress of desegrega­

tion until it  is finally  achieved, the government 

argued.147

Kramer posits that Brownell had scored 

another coup over Eisenhower’s reluctance in 

matters of civil  rights. He “ gambled that So­

licitor General Sobeloff would persuade the 

President to permit the brief to be filed with­

out changes that would radically alter its tone 

of strong support for court-ordered desegre­

gation. Brownell’s gamble paid off,”  Kramer 

has concluded. “ Thus, it appears that after 

the President made a few significant changes 

in the brief, combined with what must have 

been a soothing discussion with the Solic­

itor General, the brief survived presidential 

scrutiny relatively unscathed.” 148 Nonethe­

less, as would later turn out to be his habit 

in other matters, Eisenhower attempted pub­

licly  to distance himself from his own Justice 

Department’s brief.149

Brown II and  “D eliberate S peed”

In Conference, there was little sentiment 

among the Justices for firm deadlines. 

Caution seemed to be the word of the day. 

Justice Harold H. Burton wanted to enjoin seg­

regation as rapidly as possible, but even he did 

not want the Court to issue a decree that would 

turn out to be futile: “ It is better to get limited 

results which are ordered and let them serve as 

examples than to order something that will  not 

be carried out,”  he felt.150 Justices Black and 

Sherman Minton also cautioned against issu­

ing a decree that could not be enforced. “ Noth­

ing could hurt the Court more...,”  Black said. 

“ The less we say, the better.” Even Justice 

Douglas argued against setting a firm date 

for desegregation. Reed wanted no date and 

no requirement that districts submit plans, as 

the government had argued.151 Reed, Douglas, 

and Clark favored language like the Court had 

used in a previous case in which it “ remanded 

to the District Court to enter such orders and 

decrees as are necessary and proper... .” 152

It appears that Frankfurter, while indicating 

that the process of desegregation would be 

slow, did not renew his suggestion at this point 

that the Court use the expression “ with all de­

liberate speed.” 153 In a memo to Warren on 

April 14, 1955, Frankfurter, instead, used the 

words “ as soon as practicable” :

[I]t  would be desirable to charge the 

lower courts with the duty of assess­

ing local conditions so as to require 

desegregation as soon as practicable, 

and perhaps put a fair terminal date 

with the requirements of  progress re­

ports within that period (setting the 

first such report rather early).154

Warren adopted that construct in a handwrit­

ten draft of May 23, 1955.155 But Frankfurter 

apparently revived the “ deliberate speed”  idea 

in a conversation with the Chief a few days 

later. On May 27, 1955, he wrote Warren, “ In 

our talk the other day two suggestions seemed 

to commend themselves to you...,”  the first 

of which was to substitute “ with all deliberate 

speed”  for “ the earliest practicable date.”

I still strongly believe that “ with all 

deliberate speed” conveys more ef­

fectively the process of time for the 

effectuation of our decision. And the 

reference to ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAV irg in ia  v . W e st V irg in ia ,

I deem desirable in that it is the near­

est experience this Court has had in 

trying to get obedience from a state 

for a decision highly unpalatable to 

it. I think it is highly desirable to 

educate public opinion— the parties 

themselves and the general public—  

to an understanding that we are at the 

beginning of a process of enforce­

ment and not concluding it.156

By the time he received this memo, Warren 

had already made the change, apparently as a 

result of  their earlier conversation. On May 24, 

he changed the language but did not cite V ir ­

g in ia v . W e st V irg in ia )5 1 In the final version, 

the decision noted that implementation might 

require the solution of local problems and
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remanded the cases to the district courts “ to 

take such procedures and enter such orders and 

decrees consistent with this opinion as are nec­

essary and proper to admit to public schools 

on a racially nondiscriminatory basis with all 

deliberate speed the parties to these cases.” 158 

It did not require that plans for desegregation 

be submitted within ninety days, as Brownell’s 

brief had suggested. “ The Supreme Court 

adopted our first suggestion [that the cases be 

remanded to the district courts] but rejected 

our second one [requiring plans in 90 days],”  

Brownell later recalled. He saw the “ deliber­

ate speed”  language as problematic: “ Although 

the intent of this phrase may have been oth­

erwise for the members of the Court, it was 

interpreted by political leaders in the South as 

being so ambiguous as to mean ‘at some indef­

inite date in the future.’ No direct enforcement 

powers existed for the executive branch be­

cause no federal statute conferred such power 

and no congressional appropriation was avail­

able for enforcement.” 159 Brownell also came 

to feel that the Court’s reluctance to establish a 

deadline for desegregation “ unwittingly sowed 

the seeds for the violence that [later] ensued at 

Little Rock and the violence that occurred dur­

ing the administrations of Presidents Kennedy 

and Johnson.” 160

Eisenhower resisted entreaties to express 

his personal opinion about the ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n deci­

sions and to lend the weight of his office to 

their enforcement.161 At a press conference 

after B ro w n I I ,  he said only, “ The Supreme 

Court has spoken and I am sworn to uphold the 

constitutional processes in this country; and I
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will  obey.” 162 Even Brownell claimed that he 

never heard the President express an opinion. 

Eisenhower did believe that it would take a 

long time to change attitudes in the South, but 

he realized that, once the decision was made, 

it was his obligation to enforce the law.163 It 

disappointed Warren that the President never 

expressly endorsed the decision.164 

Eisenhower could have prevented much 

of the resistance to desegregation that fol­

lowed the decision. “ But he never stated 

that he thought the decision was right until 

after he left the White House,”  Warren later 

complained.165 Brownell also wished that 

Eisenhower had endorsed the decision, but 

the President didn’ t feel it was his job to tell 

the states how to run the schools. Had Dewey 

been President, “ it would have made a big 

difference because he was the leading civil  

rights advocate in the country of  either party,”  

Brownell said years later.166

Warren said in his memoirs that ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ro w n 

ended his cordial relations with the President. 

After the decision, they only exchanged a few 

polite words.167 Eisenhower has been widely 

quoted as saying that Warren’s appointment 

“ was the biggest damn fool mistake I ever 

made.” 168 Brownell gave slightly varying ac­

counts of his knowledge of such a remark. In 

1977, he denied ever hearing the President re­

fer to the appointment as a mistake. “ But I ’m 

sure that if  it had been anything but an off­

hand statement, that I would have heard about 

it because I was consulted regularly by him 

when it came to the question of judicial ap­

pointments or judicial conduct.” 169 But, in a 

1968 interview, Brownell was not so definite. 

Asked whether he had ever heard Eisenhower 

comment about his appointment of Warren, 

Brownell replied, “ Yes, I have, but I think I ’ ll  

leave those remarks to him.” 170 For Brownell, 

the crucial fact was that he and Eisenhower had 

put Warren on the Bench. Brownell was confi­

dent “ that the decision might have come down 

differently, perhaps as a divided vote, and that 

the struggle for civil rights might have taken

a different, more divisive course had Warren 

not taken his seat on the Court in October.” 171

In the words of Richard Kluger, who 

wrote an exhaustive study of the history of 

the B ro w n litigation, Warren was—wittingly  

or not— “ Eisenhower’s principal contribution 

to the civil rights of Americans... .” 172 

Herbert Brownell, Jr.—although not a hero 

of the civil rights movement—had played a 

pivotal role in placing Warren on the Court. 

He should also be lauded for persuading a re­

luctant President to file a brief in the second 

B ro w n I  oral argument and, for the first time, to 

take the position on behalf of  the United States 

government that the segregation of children in 

public schools was unconstitutional.
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